

NUREG/CR-7114 SAND2011-0027P

A Framework for Low Power/Shutdown Fire PRA

Final Report

Office of Nuclear Regulatory Research

AVAILABILITY OF REFERENCE MATERIALS IN NRC PUBLICATIONS

NRC Reference Material

As of November 1999, you may electronically access NUREG-series publications and other NRC records at NRC's Public Electronic Reading Room at <u>http://www.nrc.gov/reading-rm.html.</u> Publicly released records include, to name a few, NUREG-series publications; *Federal Register* notices; applicant, licensee, and vendor documents and correspondence; NRC correspondence and internal memoranda; bulletins and information notices; inspection and investigative reports; licensee event reports; and Commission papers and their attachments.

NRC publications in the NUREG series, NRC regulations, and Title 10, "Energy," in the *Code of Federal Regulations* may also be purchased from one of these two sources.

- The Superintendent of Documents

 U.S. Government Printing Office Mail Stop SSOP
 Washington, DC 20402–0001
 Internet: bookstore.gpo.gov
 Telephone: 202-512-1800
 Fax: 202-512-2250

 The National Technical Information Service
- 2. The National Technical Information Service Springfield, VA 22161–0002 www.ntis.gov 1–800–553–6847 or, locally, 703–605–6000

A single copy of each NRC draft report for comment is available free, to the extent of supply, upon written request as follows:

Address: U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission Office of Administration Publications Branch Washington, DC 20555-0001 E-mail: DISTRIBUTION.RESOURCE@NRC.GOV

Facsimile: 301-415-2289

Some publications in the NUREG series that are posted at NRC's Web site address

http://www.nrc.gov/reading-rm/doc-collections/nuregs are updated periodically and may differ from the last printed version. Although references to material found on a Web site bear the date the material was accessed, the material available on the date cited may subsequently be removed from the site.

Non-NRC Reference Material

Documents available from public and special technical libraries include all open literature items, such as books, journal articles, transactions, *Federal Register* notices, Federal and State legislation, and congressional reports. Such documents as theses, dissertations, foreign reports and translations, and non-NRC conference proceedings may be purchased from their sponsoring organization.

Copies of industry codes and standards used in a substantive manner in the NRC regulatory process are maintained at—

The NRC Technical Library Two White Flint North 11545 Rockville Pike Rockville, MD 20852–2738

These standards are available in the library for reference use by the public. Codes and standards are usually copyrighted and may be purchased from the originating organization or, if they are American National Standards, from—

American National Standards Institute 11 West 42nd Street New York, NY 10036–8002 www.ansi.org 212–642–4900

Legally binding regulatory requirements are stated only in laws; NRC regulations; licenses, including technical specifications; or orders, not in NUREGseries publications. The views expressed in contractor-prepared publications in this series are not necessarily those of the NRC.

The NUREG series comprises (1) technical and administrative reports and books prepared by the staff (NUREG–XXXX) or agency contractors (NUREG/CR–XXXX), (2) proceedings of conferences (NUREG/CP–XXXX), (3) reports resulting from international agreements (NUREG/IA–XXXX), (4) brochures (NUREG/BR– XXXX), and (5) compilations of legal decisions and orders of the Commission and Atomic and Safety Licensing Boards and of Directors' decisions under Section 2.206 of NRC's regulations (NUREG–0750).

DISCLAIMER: This report was prepared as an account of work sponsored by an agency of the U.S. Government. Neither the U.S. Government nor any agency thereof, nor any employee, makes any warranty, expressed or implied, or assumes any legal liability or responsibility for any third party's use, or the results of such use, of any information, apparatus, product, or process disclosed in this publication, or represents that its use by such third party would not infringe privately owned rights.



A Framework for Low Power/Shutdown Fire PRA

Final Report

Manuscript Completed: May 2013 Date Published: September 2013

Prepared by: Steven P. Nowlen, Tara Olivier, Jeff LaChance

Sandia National Laboratories Risk and Reliability Analysis Department P.O. Box 5800 Albuquerque, NM 87185

Felix Gonzalez, NRC Project Manager

NRC Job Code N6592

Office of Nuclear Regulatory Research

ABSTRACT

This document presents a probabilistic risk assessment (PRA) framework for quantitatively analyzing fire risk in commercial nuclear power plants during low power and shutdown (LPSD) conditions, including the determination of core damage frequency (CDF) and large early release frequency (LERF). It is expected that future updates will be made to this document as experience is gained with LPSD quantitative risk analyses of both internal events and fires.

This LPSD fire PRA framework is intended to be used in combination with an at-power fire PRA performed using the method documented in Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) Office of Nuclear Regulatory Research (RES) publication NUREG/CR-6850 and Electric Power Research Institute (EPRI) publication TR-1011989, "EPRI/NRC-RES Fire PRA Methodology for Nuclear Power Facilities." This LPSD fire PRA framework directly parallels that at-power fire PRA method with respect to the structure and objectives of its technical analysis tasks, addressing those aspects of the at-power fire PRA that require unique treatment in the context of low-power or shutdown conditions. This LPSD fire framework also requires a LPSD internal events PRA; that is, both the at-power fire PRA and the LPSD internal events PRA are needed as starting points for conducting a LPSD fire PRA using the framework described in this document.

The NRC developed this LPSD fire quantitative risk framework as a first step in providing analysts with the methods needed to support a quantitative approach for estimating fire risk during LPSD conditions. While current LPSD safety analyses for fires under National Fire Protection Association Standard 805 (NFPA 805) focus on qualitative, defense-in-depth methods, it is envisioned that applications in the future may evolve to be more quantitative. At present, this framework can provide an alternative for the analysis of LPSD fire risk in situations where qualitative methods are not appropriate, or where activities such as planning for an outage could benefit from risk reduction insights that could be gained from a quantitative analysis. It could also prove essential for the analysis of situations involving unusual, complex plant operating states (POSs). The framework has been exercised via a tabletop involving two volunteer power plants, but a full implementation of the methods described here has not yet been undertaken. The document also serves as a "gap analysis" highlighting areas of technical challenge that will likely be encountered in an actual implementation and identifying methodology development needs to fill out the framework into a full methodology.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	iii
LIST OF FIGURES	vii
LIST OF TABLES	vii
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	ix
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	xi
ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS	X111
	1
1. Introduction and Purpose	۱۱ 1
1.2 Scope	1 ງ
1.2 Scope	
2 OVEDVIEW OF LOSD FIDE DD A ED AMEWODV	
2 OVERVIEW OF LFSD FIRE FRA FRAME WORK	,
2.1 Structural Overview	
2.2 Regrand Observations from the Tablaton Everaise	0
2.5 General Observations from the Tabletop Exercise	
5. LPSD PRA CDF AND LEKF	
4.1 Task 1: Plant Boundary Definition and Partitioning	
4.2 Task 2: Fire PRA Component Selection	19
4.3 Task 3: Fire PRA Cable Selection	25
4.5 Task J: Qualitative Screening	
4.5 Task 5: Fire Induced Rick Model	
4.5 Task 5. Fire Ignition Frequencies	20
4.0 Task 0. File Ignition Frequencies	
4.7 Task 7. Quantitative Screening	
4.8 Task 8: Scoping Fire Modeling	
4.9 Task 9: Detailed Circuit Failure Analysis	
4.10 Task 10: Circuit Failure Mode Likelihood Analysis	
4.11 Task 11: Detailed Fire Modeling	
4.12 Task 12: Post-Fire Human Reliability Analysis	
4.13 Task 13: Seismic-Fire Interactions Assessment	
4.14 Task 14: Fire Risk Quantification	
4.15 Task 15: Uncertainty and Sensitivity Analyses	
4.16 Task 16: Fire PRA Documentation	
4.17 Task 17: Plant Walkdowns (Support Task A)	
4.18 Task 18: Fire PRA Database System (Support Task B)	
5. REFERENCES	
APPENDIX A: DETERMINATION OF LPSD GENERIC FIRE FREQUENCI	ES1
A.1 Screening Events for Inclusion in the Calculation of Generic Fire Freque	encies 1
A.2 Event Counting Method	
A.3 Uncertainty Analysis	
A.4 Event Counts and Generic Frequencies	
A.5 Fire Type Split Fraction	5

A.6	Fire Event Classification	5
A.7	References	5

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1:	Fire PRA Process and Module Structure	12
Figure 2:	General Analysis Flow Chart for Task 11 – Detailed Fire Modeling	50

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Fire Ignition Frequency Bins Specific to LPSD Conditions	
Table 2: Fire Frequency Bins and Generic Frequencies	
Table 3: Quantitative Screening Criteria for Single PAU Analysis	
Table 4: Quantitative Screening Criteria for All Screened PAUs	
Table A-1: Bins Considered for LPSD Data Analysis	A-2
Table A-2: Event Counts by Bin, Challenging Category and Operating Mode	A-6
Table A-3: Generic Fire Ignition Frequency Model for U.S. Nuclear Power Plants	A-8
Table A-4: Fire Type Split Fractions	A-9
Table A-5: Fire Event Classification	A-10

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Methods for the application of Probabilistic Risk Assessment (PRA) to internal fire events during atpower operation of Nuclear Power Plants (NPPs) have evolved based on an extensive development process that began in the 1970s. Recently, existing fire PRA methods and evolutionary advances were consolidated through a collaborative effort between the U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) Office of Nuclear Regulatory Research (RES) and the Electric Power Research Institute (EPRI). This work led to publication, in 2005, of the *EPRI/NRC-RES Fire PRA Methodology for Nuclear Power Facilities* [1]. Even these most recent fire PRA methods continue to evolve based on their application by industry and on the communication of lessons learned to both industry and the NRC.

In contrast, fire PRAs for Low Power and Shutdown (LPSD) conditions have been conducted in only a few cases and all of the known analyses were based on methods and data that pre-date the RES/EPRI atpower fire PRA method. Methods for conducting such studies have not previously seen the same level of development as have the at-power methods and no comprehensive source for analysis guidance compatible with the current state-of-the art fire risk methods (e.g., [1]) is known to exist prior to this document. The LPSD fire PRA framework presented here is presented as an extension of, or supplement to, the RES/EPRI at-power fire PRA method. That is, the LPSD framework relies extensively on the extension of at-power analysis methods and results to LPSD conditions. As a result, documentation of the methodology as presented here focuses on those elements where the at-power methods should be adapted or extended to address LPSD conditions.

What is documented here is referred to as an analysis *framework*, rather than a *methodology*, because the approaches described do not yet represent a full, complete and tested set of analysis tools. This document establishes an overall structure for the LPSD fire PRA analysis, describes areas where existing methods can be applied directly, and outlines suggested approaches to areas of the analysis that present new and unique challenges. The document also serves as a "gap analysis" highlighting areas of technical challenge that will likely be encountered in an actual implementation. It also identifies areas of analysis challenge where more development work will be needed to fill out the framework into a full methodology. As with any new method, pilot applications are also recommended to help prove, and improve, the viability of both the overall process and specific analysis approaches. With the support of the Nuclear Energy Institute (NEI) and EPRI the framework was exercised via a tabletop exercise involving two volunteer power plants; namely, Seabrook Nuclear Power Plant and Peach Bottom Atomic Power Station. However, to date, no complete pilot applications have been undertaken.

LPSD plant operating states (POSs) potentially include a broad range of conditions for power, temperature and pressure levels. This framework assumes that LPSD PRA might nominally include plant operations at roughly the 30% power level and lower; hence, the LPSD conditions encompass a very broad spectrum of potential operating conditions. As explained in the body of this report, the distinction between at-power, low power, and shutdown plant operating states is an area where methodological approaches are evolving.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The initial planning of this project was started in 2005 as the publication process for the joint RES/EPRI fire PRA methodology (NUREG/CR-6850, EPRI TR 1011989) was nearing completion. The next logical step was to extend fire risk methods to cover low power and shutdown conditions. Originally planned as a collaborative effort under the NRC/RES-EPRI Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) for Fire Research, much like the effort that produced the at-power consensus method, the project experienced repeated delays due to funding limitations and other research priorities. Efforts on the NRC portions of the project, which focused on primarily quantitative methods of analysis, began in earnest in 2008. The EPRI efforts, which were expected to focus on alternative qualitative or semi-quantitative approaches, were never initiated as a part of the joint MOU project. The first full version of this report was produced during the summer of 2009. A series of NRC staff reviews and one round of peer review comments by EPRI followed culminating in a draft for public comment issued in late 2011 (76 FR 81998). At the request of industry, the public comment period was extended into early 2012 and comments received were processed over the next few months. At the request of the Office of Nuclear Reactor Regulation (NRR), a public meeting to discuss those comments and responses was held at NRC RES Office in Rockville, MD on October 2012 (ML12310A418). During that public meeting, industry representatives suggested that a tabletop exercise be conducted in lieu of a full pilot application. The NRC agreed and a tabletop exercise was organized involving two volunteer plants, Seabrook and Peach Bottom. The tabletop exercise was conducted in March 2013 and this final version of the document incorporates the insights gained from that exercise.

The authors acknowledge the contributions of Dr. Mardy Kazarians of Kazarians and Associates to the development of this document. Mardy was a key contributor to the development of the initial drafts of this document. We also wish to thank Jeff Mitman of NRR for his support in developing this document. Jeff provided us with many background references relative to low power and shutdown risk analysis, the developing LPSD PRA standard, and plant operations. He supported us through the early development stages during a series of conversations on these subjects and during our tabletop exercise. In the same vein, we also thank Dr. Ray Gallucci of the NRR staff for his support during both the public comment period and the tabletop exercise. We also acknowledge Dr. Ron Boring of Idaho National Laboratory and Dr. Susan Cooper of the RES staff. Ron contributed to early drafts of the report in the area of human reliability analysis and Susan provided follow-up HRA support throughout the revision and publication process. We also acknowledge the contributions made by Ken Kiper, Rich Turcotte, Megan Woods, Hugh Hawkins and the staff at Seabrook Nuclear Power Station as well as Donald Vanovero, Kiang Zee (ERIN), Cliff Sinopoli, Josh Meisel and the staff at Peach Bottom Atomic Power Station who participated in the tabletop exercise and provided many substantial insights into the practical challenges associated with industries' efforts to implement and utilize PRA tools for LPSD plant operating modes. Rick Wachowiak of EPRI and Victoria Anderson of NEI were instrumental in setting up the tabletop exercise and recruiting the two volunteer plants, and for that support we are also grateful. We also offer our thanks to those individuals and organizations that commented on the draft report during the public comment period. These comments helped to improve the report and ultimately led to the tabletop exercise which also improved report quality. Finally, we gratefully acknowledge the support and patience of our original NRC technical monitor, Hugh 'Roy' Woods, and our more recent technical monitor, Felix Gonzalez, both of the NRC Office of Nuclear Regulatory Research.

ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS

Agency-wide Documents Access and Management System
American Nuclear Society
American National Standards Institute
American Society of Mechanical Engineers
Boiling Water Reactor
Conditional Core Damage Probability
Core Damage Frequency
Code of Federal Regulations
Conditional Large Early Release Probability
Direct current
Emergency Operating Procedure
Electric Power Research Institute
Frequently Asked Question
Fire Events Database
Fire Emergency Procedure
High Energy Arcing Fault
Human Error Probability
Human Failure Event
Human Reliability Analysis
Heat Release Rate
Incremental Core Damage Probability
Identifier
Incremental Large Early Release Probability
Ignition Source
Limiting Condition of Operation
Large Early Release Frequency
Loss of Coolant Accident
Low Power and Shutdown
Main Control Board
Main Control Room
Motor-Generator
Nuclear Energy Institute
National Fire Protection Association
Nuclear Power Plant
Nuclear Regulatory Commission
Physical Analysis Unit
Plant Operating State
Probabilistic Risk Assessment
Pressurized Water Reactor
Reactor Coolant Pump
The Office of Nuclear Regulatory Research (at NRC)
Regulatory Guide
Risk Informed Standards Committee
Reactor Protection System
Safety Relief Valve
Turbine/Generator

1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Introduction and Purpose

Methods for the application of Probabilistic Risk Assessment (PRA) to internal fire events during atpower operation of Nuclear Power Plants (NPPs) have evolved based on an extensive development process that began in the 1970s. Recently, existing fire PRA methods and evolutionary advances were consolidated through a collaborative effort between the U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) Office of Nuclear Regulatory Research (RES) and the Electric Power Research Institute (EPRI). This work led to publication, in 2005, of the *EPRI/NRC-RES Fire PRA Methodology for Nuclear Power Facilities* [1] (referred to in this document more simply as either "the RES/EPRI at-power fire PRA method" or "reference [1]"). Even these most recent fire PRA methods continue to evolve based on their application by industry and on the communication of lessons learned to both industry and the NRC. Many of the currently operating U.S. NPPs are actively engaged in the conduct of fire PRAs driven, in part, by licensee decisions to transition to the alternative risk-informed, performance-based fire protection rules as embodied in National Fire Protection Association (NFPA) Standard 805 [2] and the Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) Section 10CFR50.48(c) [3].

In contrast, fire PRAs for Low Power and Shutdown (LPSD) conditions have been conducted in only a few cases and all of the known analyses were based on methods and data that pre-date the RES/EPRI atpower fire PRA method. Methods for conducting such studies have not previously seen the same level of development as have the at-power methods and no comprehensive source for analysis guidance compatible with the current state-of-the art fire risk methods (e.g., [1]) is known to exist prior to this document. The framework presented here is presented as an extension of, or supplement to, the RES/EPRI at-power fire PRA method [1]. That is, the LPSD framework relies extensively on the extension of at-power analysis methods to LPSD conditions. As a result, documentation of the framework as presented here focuses on those elements where the at-power methods should be adapted or extended to address LPSD conditions.

What is documented here is referred to as an analysis *framework*, rather than a *methodology*, because the approaches described do not yet represent a full, complete and tested set of analysis tools. This document establishes an overall structure for the LPSD fire PRA analysis, describes areas where existing methods can be applied directly, and outlines suggested approaches to areas of the analysis that present new and unique challenges. The document also serves as a "gap analysis" highlighting areas of technical challenge that will likely be encountered in an actual implementation. It also identifies areas of analysis challenge where more development work will be needed to fill out the framework into a full methodology. As with any new method, pilot applications are also recommended to help prove, and improve, the viability of both the overall process and specific analysis approaches. With the support of the Nuclear Energy Institute (NEI) and EPRI the framework was exercised via a tabletop exercise involving two volunteer power plants; namely, Seabrook Nuclear Power Plant and Peach Bottom Atomic Power Station. However, to date, no complete pilot applications have been undertaken.

1.2 Scope

LPSD plant operating states (POSs) potentially include a broad range of conditions for power, temperature and pressure levels. For reference, the draft *American National Standard Low Power and Shutdown PRA Methodology*¹ [4] defines key terms relevant to LPSD PRAs as follows:

- "Low Power Power levels at which major secondary components are out of service as a plant shuts down or starts up. This is typically a transition mode to/from hot/cold shutdown. Designated as Startup in a boiling water reactor (BWR) when transitioning from cold shutdown to power operations."
- (2) "Low power: a POS (or set of POSs) during which the reactor is at reduced power, below atpower conditions. In this POS, the power level may be changed as the reactor is shutting down or starting up. The power level that distinguishes full power and low power is the power level below which major plant evolutions are required to reduce or increase power (e.g., taking manual control of feedwater level)."
- (3) "LPSD evolution: a series of connected or related activities, such as a reduction in power to a low level, or plant shutdown, followed by the return to at-power plant conditions. LPSD evolutions are modeled as a series of POSs. Outage types are a general type of a shutdown evolution, and a refueling outage is a specific example. Reducing power to 30% in order to conduct maintenance or an operational activity is another example of a low-power evolution. LPSD evolutions are characterized by a transition down to the POS where the activity is conducted, followed by a transition back to full power."

Note that even though these definitions all come from the same document, they are not entirely consistent. It is anticipated that the final revisions of the draft LPSD PRA standard will resolve the differences and settle on final definitions for these terms. Generally, the differences in phrasing are relatively minor and this framework adopts these definitions with the intent of maintaining consistency with this quality standard. Consistent with these excerpts and for general purposes, this framework nominally assumes that LPSD PRA might include plant operations at roughly the 30% power level and lower.

One insight gained from the tabletop exercise is that the 'line' between at-power and low power modes of operation is not clearly defined in current practice. A firm definition 'low power operations' in terms of a specific power level may not be forthcoming. To illustrate, the Seabrook internal events LPSD PRA defines 30 POSs ranging from de-fueled to at-power steady-state plant operations. Three POSs were defined to cover mode 1 and 2 plant operations at various power levels including startup and shutdown transition states as well as at-power steady state operations. In particular, they defined one POS for operations at greater than 70% power and two POSs to cover lower-power plant operation; one for operation below 30% and a second for operations between 30% and 70% power. The plant response models for these three POSs were quite similar but reflect differences in the availability of certain plant equipment (e.g., turbine driven pumps or low pressure systems). Both tabletop plants expressed the opinion that there is a much greater distinction relative to plant response modeling between low power POSs and at-power operations.

¹ The cited quotes are based on the joint American National Standards Institute (ANSI) and American Nuclear Society (ANS) standard ANSI/ANS-58.22-200x, DRAFT #8C, for the Risk Informed Standards Committee (RISC) Reballot & Public Review, June 2008. At the time the current document was prepared, this was the most recent version of the LPSD PRA standard available. The reader should be aware that the standard is a document in transition and should review updated versions, as available, for wording changes.

It was clear from these discussions that different approaches are being taken to defining POSs and that no single approach has yet emerged as "accepted practice." Further development in this area must be anticipated. In the long term, at-power operations may well be considered simply another POS, and one of the two tabletop plants strongly advocated for this position. In the context of this framework, the distinctions are relatively unimportant because the framework assumes that a POS set has been defined (e.g., by the LPSD internal event analysis) and that the task of the LPSD fire PRA is to analyze the impact of fires given that same set of POSs (see further discussion in Section 2.2 below). Note, however, that this document has adopted current common language which distinguishes at-power operations from LPSD operations.²

Regardless of the approach taken, one factor to be recognized is that LPSD conditions encompass a very broad spectrum of potential operating conditions. At one end of the POS spectrum, the reactor may be producing power with the control rods partly out, pressure and temperature of the main cooling loop very close to at-power conditions, and decay heat cooling systems not yet functioning (due to system pressures). At the other end of the POS spectrum, LPSD includes refueling outage conditions where all the rods are inserted, the main reactor vessel is open and flooded with refueling pool borated water, and the reactor is at near-ambient temperature. During refueling, depending on the maintenance needs, only one decay heat removal loop may be available for a limited time and plant modification activities could be underway.

1.3 Document Organization

An overview of the LPSD fire PRA framework is provided in Section 2 below. The overview defines the tasks of the framework. The selection of POSs and the equations for estimating overall plant core damage frequency (CDF) and large early release frequency (LERF) are discussed in Section 3. Section 4 provides a detailed discussion of each technical element of the analysis framework. Note that the subsections within Section 4 follow the same ordering as the chapters and technical tasks as defined in Volume 2 of the RES/EPRI at-power fire PRA methodology [1].

 $^{^{2}}$ The one exception to this observation is with regard to fire frequencies. That is, the fire frequencies presented in reference [1] are interpreted here as covering, at a minimum, both modes 1 and 2 (at-power and low power operations). A complementary set of shutdown fire frequencies has been calculated where needed. See Section 4.6 and Appendix A for further discussion.

2 OVERVIEW OF LPSD FIRE PRA FRAMEWORK

2.1 Structural Overview

An internal fire event during LPSD operations can occur from either an equipment item malfunction (e.g., a short in a switchgear may lead to arcing inside the device, rapid release of energy, and ignition of switchgear internals) or a transient combustible or activity (e.g., welding done for repair or plant upgrade). These are the same two types of fire events considered in at-power fire PRA. It is possible that the characteristics of a LPSD fire event (e.g., intensity or amount of fuel available) may be different from a similar class of events during at-power operation. However, the underlying fire behaviors of interest remain the same (e.g., ignition of combustible materials leading to plume formation, radiant heating, and other potentially damaging effects).

Furthermore, the nature and characteristics of many of the most common fire ignition sources (e.g., electrical cabinets and equipment) as well as the nature of the fire damage targets (e.g., electrical cables) will likely remain the same regardless of the plant operational state even though the specific targets of concern may be different (e.g., cables associated with RHR rather than cables associated with main feedwater). Therefore, in principle, the methodology, and indeed many of the analysis results, developed for at-power fire PRA [1] should be applicable to LPSD conditions. Clearly some of the parameters and conditions will need to be adjusted to reflect the special conditions of LPSD POSs (e.g., new fire ignition sources, equipment that is de-energized and out of service, breached fire barriers, and the POS-specific damage targets that are of primary interest) but the LPSD fire PRA should not be viewed as starting with a blank sheet of paper.

The framework presented in this document is structured to coincide with the RES/EPRI at-power fire PRA method [1]. Therefore, the discussions provided in this document assume that the reader is familiar with that method and the related data as presented in reference [1]. The task elements of the RES/EPRI at-power fire PRA method are each discussed. These discussions focus on the differences introduced by virtue of the LPSD perspective. Note that for some task elements the differences are quite minor or even nonexistent.

The RES/EPRI at-power fire PRA methodology defines 16 technical task elements and provides a detailed discussion, supporting data, and other information for each task. Figure 1 (presented at the end of Section 2) is the flow chart used in the RES/EPRI at-power fire PRA method to illustrate the interrelationship among the different tasks of the methodology. The same set of tasks and flow chart apply to LPSD fire PRA. Each task is discussed separately below in Section 3.

The RES/EPRI at-power fire PRA method assumes that certain information will be available based on prior completion of a corresponding plant internal events PRA. If an internal events analysis is not available, then the fire PRA analyst is responsible for developing and validating the required information. Similarly, the LPSD fire PRA framework assumes that certain information will be available based on prior completion of a LPSD internal events PRA. The information that is assumed to be available includes:

- Definition of LPSD POSs that will be addressed in terms of core power level, core cooling system pressure and temperature, equipment status (functional or under maintenance), special activities (e.g., maintenance and plant upgrade), status of barriers (e.g., doors propped open to allow certain activity, etc.);
- A list of initiating events for each POS as defined in the LPSD internal events PRA (e.g., loss of service water, loss of direct current (dc) power, etc.);

- A plant response model for each LPSD initiating event and for each relevant POS of interest (recognizing that POSs and initiators may be grouped for common treatment);
- A list of equipment and their failure modes of interest to the LPSD internal events PRA; and
- Human error scenarios integrated in the LPSD internal events plant response model.

It is also assumed that an at-power fire PRA has been completed and is available. Information assumed to be available based on the at-power fire PRA includes:

- Plant partitioning results which divide the plant into fire compartments or, equivalently, into physical analysis units (PAUs);³
- The listing of equipment included in the at-power fire PRA plant response model (i.e., selected equipment per Task 2 of the RES/EPRI at-power fire PRA method);
- The listing of cables associated with selected equipment;
- Any additional initiating events that are specific to the fire analysis;
- Equipment and ignition source counting/weighting results;
- Control circuit failure modes and effects analysis reports; and
- Component and cable mapping/routing results for the circuits in the circuit analysis report.

If any of this information is not available, the analyst should generate the needed information.

2.2 Key Assumptions and Potential Limitations

This framework is based on a number of key assumptions, and these key assumptions have implications for both the scope of the framework and for potential limitations to application of the framework. These key assumptions and the associated implications are summarized as follows.

• <u>Assumption 1:</u> The LPSD framework assumes that an at-power fire PRA has been completed consistent with the general approach defined by the RES/EPRI at-power fire PRA methodology.

• *Impact of this assumption on the framework:* The LPSD framework takes as given that certain analysis tasks have already been completed and will, at most, require review and updating to address the LPSD conditions. For example, it is assumed that the task of identifying and counting fixed fire ignition sources within the plant has been completed. Hence, the LPSD analysis should only consider changes that might be associated with LPSD conditions (e.g., changes in the operational status of equipment, changes in the nature and likelihood of transient fuel sources that might be introduced during an outage, etc.).

• *Implications:* This assumption is thought to carry few practical implications. An early conclusion reached by the authors was that it is wholly impractical to perform an analysis of LPSD fire risk without first completing an assessment of the at-power fire risk. An analyst attempting to conduct a LPSD fire analysis without first completing an at-power fire analysis would, in effect, be forced to do nearly all of the work associated with an at-power fire risk study simply to establish the required input for beginning the LPSD risk study.

³ NUREG/CR-6850, EPRI 1011989 [1] uses the phrase "fire compartments" and the American Society of Mechanical Engineers (ASME) PRA quality standard [11] uses the phrase "physical analysis units." The differences are largely semantic in nature and this method document has adopted the language of the PRA standard in this regard.

• <u>Assumption 2:</u> The LPSD fire PRA framework assumes that a LPSD PRA has already been completed for internal event accident initiators.

• Impact of this assumption on the framework: This parallels an equivalent assumption made in the RES/EPRI at-power fire PRA methodology; namely, that an at-power internal events PRA has been completed prior to conducting the at-power fire PRA. In general, the impact on the LPSD fire PRA framework is also the same; namely, the LPSD fire PRA framework calls for the analyst to build a fire plant response model beginning from the corresponding model developed for the LPSD internal events PRA. The fire framework thereby focuses on incorporating required changes and additions to address those aspects of plant response that are unique to fire (e.g., fireinduced spurious actuation of plant equipment, potential new initiators or sequences, and fire response procedures).

• *Implications:* The most significant implication of this assumption is that the LPSD fire PRA framework assumes that the relevant POSs to be evaluated will have been defined in the LPSD internal events PRA. This framework assumes that, at least nominally, the same set of POSs is then carried forward to the fire PRA. Based on this assumption, this document does not explicitly address the process or criteria by which the POSs will actually be defined. Defining LPSD POSs is an analytical challenge with far-reaching implications and is the focus of substantial debate in the more general PRA community.

The resolution of this challenge lies beyond the scope of this document. It is also acknowledged that the fire analysis will present unique challenges with respect to POS definition. This framework, for example, recommends that the LPSD fire PRA characterize and quantify the fire-specific plant configuration changes that occur with respect to each POS analyzed (e.g., breaching of fire barriers, staffing by plant personnel and contractors, introduction of new transient combustibles, increased hot work, fire protection system unavailability, maintenance activities, etc.). The implied work scope could become burdensome if a high level of detail for all possible POSs is sought. Methods for the management of the work scope challenge will likely develop through practical application, but cannot be defined a-priori. One general approach that might be especially helpful would be screening methods that would define the subset of POSs to be included in, or conversely excluded from, the quantitative fire analysis; but again, the more general state of POS definition guidance is not yet mature enough to support development of such screening approaches.

One concept for the treatment of LPSD POSs is for the analyst to define an "average" outage state or, more likely, a finite set of average states that collectively reflect the major phases of a typical outage. This type of approach would present additional challenges to the LPSD fire PRA. In particular, the analyst would need to define corresponding "average" conditions relative to the fire analysis. For example, fire suppression system availability would need to reflect, in aggregate at least, planned system outages. As a second example, the multi-compartment analysis will need to reflect any expectation that credited fire barriers might be removed (e.g., hatch covers) or compromised (e.g., breaching of penetration seals for maintenance) during the course of an "average" outage. To further complicate this problem, some of these factors may be correlated and that too would need to be accounted for. For example, a fire suppression system may be taken out of service during welding operations which is the exact time welding fires would be expected to occur.

Similar challenges will arise given that POSs are defined based on grouping similar outage states into a common POS treatment. This approach clearly has potential merit with respect to limiting analysis scope, but will also introduce similar challenges with respect to properly reflecting the fire defense in depth state given various potentially correlated changes to the fire protection program over the course of a given POS. Indeed regardless of the approach taken to POS definition, the analyst will have to reflect changes that will inevitably occur over the course of each POS relative to the introduction of unique fire sources or fuels, and the posture or status of fire protection systems and features.

Other challenges will also arise relative to walkdowns and the identification of LPSD systems and functions, as well as fire hazards and the status of fire protection systems and features. POSs defined on the basis of the internal events analysis should readily translate to the LPSD fire PRA, but in some cases the fire-relevant plant conditions may not change between POSs, and conversely, they may change over the course of a single POS. This implies that the fire analysis may introduce both unique challenges, and potentially, unique opportunities for grouping of POS's and the coordination of plant walkdowns.

• <u>Assumption 3:</u> Development of detailed human reliability analysis (HRA) quantification methods for application to the LPSD fire PRA lie beyond the scope of this document.

• *Impact of this assumption on the framework:* This parallels an equivalent assumption made in the RES/EPRI at-power fire PRA methodology; namely, that post-fire HRA methods will rely upon general practice for HRA in other contexts and that specific guidance for application to fire conditions will be developed by the HRA community. This document does not explicitly address HRA quantification methods.

• *Implications:* HRA is a unique area of methodology development whose implications extend well beyond the boundaries of a fire PRA. HRA quantification in the context of general LPSD plant operations is an active area of debate and development in the HRA technical community. A joint effort is already well underway between RES and EPRI to develop fire HRA quantification guidance for at-power fire PRA applications (see further discussion in Section 4.12). The LPSD fire PRA framework assumes that the HRA community will ultimately develop LPSD analysis guidance and will extend that guidance to include the treatment of fire conditions. Section 4.12 discusses prior LPSD HRA analyses and applications, the updated EPRI-RES fire HRA guidance and considerations relevant to the application of that guidance to LPSD applications. However, the resolution of the LPSD HRA challenge lies beyond the scope of this document.

• <u>Assumption 4:</u> LPSD Fire frequencies are estimated based on past plant experience in the same manner that fire frequencies were estimated for the RES/EPRI at-power fire PRA methodology and using the same root database (i.e., the EPRI fire event database (FEDB)).

• Impact of this assumption on the framework: The development of a new FEDB or the gathering of substantially new information for incorporation into the existing FEDB lie beyond the scope of this project. Hence, this framework followed the approach used in the RES/EPRI atpower fire PRA methodology. If the RES/EPRI at-power fire PRA methodology concluded that the frequency of fires for a given fire source was not dependent on the POS, this framework has made the same assumption (i.e., the fire frequency for many ignition source bins reflects fires occurring during all modes of plant operation). New fire frequencies are calculated only for those ignition source bins where the RES/EPRI at-power fire PRA methodology concluded that the LPSD fire frequency might vary substantially from the at-power fire frequency (e.g., transients and hot work fires).

• *Implications:* The existing FEDB has limitations that make it difficult to parse fire events to the extent that might be considered desirable. While this was also true for the RES/EPRI atpower fire PRA methodology, there are some unique implications in the context of LPSD conditions. In particular, while there are some exceptions, the fire event database does not generally identify the specific POS that a plant was in when a particular fire occurred. Rather, the

vast majority of records only classify the POS as either at-power or shutdown (or they fail to specify a plant state at all). As a result, it is not currently possible to provide estimates of fire frequency that are POS-specific. An RES/EPRI collaborative effort is underway to expand and improve the EPRI FEDB. The planned improvements should afford some opportunity to improve the ability to parse fire events.

Another implication of this assumption is that the fire frequencies presented in this report distinguish between power operations versus shutdown (i.e., rather than 100%-power versus LPSD). That is, the at-power fire frequencies provided in reference [1] are interpreted as being applicable to both mode 2, low power, and mode 1, 100% power, conditions. This is an artifact of how the original at-power fire frequencies were calculated. Fire events that occurred during plant start-up in particular were counted as contributors to at-power fire frequencies. Also note that both of the tabletop plants suggested that this approach was actually a more appropriate reflection of plant operations.

• <u>Assumption 5:</u> Consistent with the LPSD PRA standard [4]⁴, the LPSD fire PRA end states considered here are limited to CDF and LERF.

- *Impact of this assumption on the Framework:* While the framework presented here could be extended to include other end states, it should be emphasized that this document makes no attempt to address any end states other than CDF and LERF.
- *Implications:* During certain LPSD POSs, depending on the specific conditions, radionuclide release may occur from events other than core damage (the focus of at-power PRA). For example, during a refueling outage coolant boiling in the core, uncovering the core, or fuel bundle mishandling could be considered as possible end-states for a risk analysis. Consistent with the standard [4], these alternative end states lie outside the scope of this framework. Also consistent with the standard [4], this document excludes consideration of potential release scenarios associated with either the spent fuel pool or on-site dry cask storage of spent fuel.

2.3 General Observations from the Tabletop Exercise

The tabletop exercise resulted in many insights that have been incorporated into the general text of this document. In addition to specific text revisions and additions, several general observations regarding low power and shutdown fire PRA were also identified. This section briefly discusses these more general observations. Note that corresponding text changes related to these observations have also been made in relevant sections of the document.

Observation 1: An additional factor to be considered is that many of the plant analyses and procedures used to support an at-power PRA are aimed specifically mode 1 and 2 operations and may provide less detailed direction when it comes to shutdown operations (modes 3-5). With respect to fire, the at-power fire PRA benefits greatly from the post-fire safe shutdown analysis performed to assure regulatory fire protection program compliance. However, the goal of that analysis is to demonstrate the ability, given a fire, to achieve hot shutdown within 24 hours and cold shutdown within 72 hours. Fires occurring while the plant is already in a shutdown mode do not fall within the scope of this analysis. To carry this example further, some plants will designate one train as the protected Appendix R safe shutdown train for

⁴ At the time the current document was prepared, reference [4] was the most recent version of the LPSD PRA standard available. The reader should be aware that the standard is a document in transition and should review updated versions, as available, for wording or scope changes.

all fires and will protect that train from fire damage essentially throughout the plant.⁵ During an outage, the designated Appendix R train may be out of service for maintenance at the time of a fire. The potential vulnerability of the alternate in-service train to fire damage may not have been considered as a part of the safe shutdown analysis because the protected train is maintained as available during power operations (e.g., within the bounds of technical specification limits on equipment outages). Overall, the LPSD fire PRA cannot expect to reap similar benefits from the fire protection program safe shutdown analysis and operating procedures that are gained by at-power fire PRA.

Observation 2: There will be a greater reliance on operator recovery actions during LPSD operations given that there are fewer automatic plant response functions available. This, coupled with the fact that operating procedures will be less detailed, means that for LPSD PRA the ability to credit operator recovery actions beyond the plant procedures will be important to obtaining realistic risk insights. This will present analysis challenges because the current PRA Standard [5] and HRA common practice establish limits on what can be credited in the PRA. *Something* (e.g., a procedure, skill-of-the-craft) must exist in order for PRA to give credit to an operator manual action. That is, HRA only credits actions that are either proceduralized or that can be argued to fall within skill-of-the-craft operator capabilities. In the LPSD context, given less detailed procedural guidance, skill-of-the-craft actions will likely be more important and more challenging to assess.

Observation 3: Based on input from several participants in the tabletop exercise, it appears that common practice is to maintain fire protection program requirements during shutdown operations as they are for power operations. This includes fire brigade staffing, combustible controls and hot work permitting programs (although more such permits may be issued during shutdown operations), and the availability of fire protection systems. Further, it appears that most plants schedule routine fire protection maintenance and surveillance testing during power operations in order to ensure system availability during an outage and to avoid conflict with other scheduled outage activities. The implications of this insight are discussed in Section 4.11, but generally imply, for example, that the extension of at-power fire protection system availability/reliability factors to shutdown conditions would likely be appropriate if not conservative.

Observation 4: There are significant implications relative to the analysis goal of treating outage-specific versus average-outage plant risk that present unique challenges to the fire PRA that this framework does not fully address. In particular, if an average-outage approach is taken, then balancing fire protection posture changes over the course of an outage will present particular challenges. If specific posture changes (e.g., removal of floor hatches) can be tied to specific POSs and can be considered common practice for those POSs, then the analysis will be relatively straight-forward. However, challenges will arise when such ties cannot be made or are less clear-cut. The analysis may need to define fractions of time spent in a given fire protection posture and weigh risk implications across POSs accordingly. This framework has not delved very deeply into the issues of average outage approaches in the fire protection context. Rather, it tends towards treatments based on consideration of specific fire protection postures (and posture changes) in the context of a POS with the presumption that specific configuration results will be weighed by exposure time (or fraction of total POS time) when supporting an average-outage analysis.

Observation 5: Some participants in the tabletop exercise expressed the opinion that the possibility of POS grouping presents unique challenges, and opportunities, relative to the fire analysis. In particular, it may be possible to group POSs relative to fire protection posture and/or fire risk implications in ways that may be unique from those applied from an internal events perspective. This possibility has not been explored in this framework document. By the same token, some also observed that the POS set defined

⁵ Referring to 10CFR50.48 Appendix R - protection of one equipment train throughout the plant is a common Appendix R compliance strategy.

from the context of internal events should be reviewed to ensure that the same set does, in fact, cover the potential effects of fire induced damage to plant equipment and cables. This document generally assumes that this will be true, and that the internal events POS set can be used directly by the fire PRA. No specific examples to the contrary were offered.

Observation 6: As with the at-power fire PRA, spurious operation of plant equipment caused by fireinduced cable failures will need to be considered as a part of the LPSD fire PRA. One common practice for at-power analyses is the use of an industry expert panel approach to this analysis⁶. That is, generic lists of spurious operation events, including multiple spurious operations (MSO) have been developed based on generic plant characteristics. The generic lists are supplemented based on a plant specific review by knowledgeable experts. Currently, there is no complementary set of LPSD MSO combinations. Development of an expert panel approach to MSO analysis suitable to the LPSD fire PRA would likely be highly beneficial.

⁶ See, for example, NEI 00-01, *Guidance for Post Fire Safe Shutdown Circuit Analysis*.



Figure 1: Fire PRA Process and Module Structure (part 1 of 2).





3 LPSD PRA CDF AND LERF

A key challenge of LPSD PRA, both for internal events and fire, is the definition of the POSs to be analyzed. There are many possible solutions to this challenge. This document takes no position as to the 'correct' solution. Whatever approach is ultimately taken, this framework assumes that a POS set will be defined as a part of the plant's internal events LPSD PRA and that the defined POS set will be equally valid and inclusive so as to serve the needs of the LPSD fire PRA. It is therefore assumed that the analyst will have a set of POSs defined prior to attempting LPSD fire PRA effort. Two general approaches to defining the POSs are anticipated. The POS set could be "complete" so as to cover all possible POSs in substantive detail. The set could also be a limited, well defined grouping of POSs intended to represent a typical outage or for use in a focused-scope analysis. This framework is neutral to this aspect of the analysis, but will not alter the fundamental nature of the fire PRA framework. Instead, the choice of approach will be driven by the objectives and intended applications of the analysis.

An evaluation based on a more complete set of POSs will facilitate modeling of actual plant configurations and equipment status changes that could increase, or reduce, fire risk. For each POS that exists there may be special plant configurations that are unique to a specific outage (e.g., steam generator replacement, large transformer replacements, or diesel generator overhauls). These special plant configurations will require particular consideration since initiators and mitigating equipment may vary from the original POS. PRA models for each POS should also reflect each special configuration.

If the objective of the analysis is to estimate the total risk over the course of an outage sequence (e.g., from the beginning of plant shutdown from power to the point of restart), the CDF and LERF calculations should be repeated for each POS and combined according to the following equation:

 $CDF\Sigma POS = \Sigma_i CDFPOS(i) x ft_{POS(i)}$

Where:

CDF2POS: The total CDF of all POSs combined in number of events per reactor year

CDFPOS(i): The instantaneous⁷ CDF of specific POS(i)

ft_{POS(i)}: The fraction of time that each POS exists

If a specific one-time POS under a specific set of conditions is analyzed, the CDF and LERF should be estimated using the same equation, except that only one POS is considered. Therefore, we can write:

 $CDF_{POS(i)} = CDFPOS(i) \times ft_{POS(i)}$

Where:

CDF_{POS(i)}: The CDF of POS(i) in number of events per reactor year

CDFPOS(i): The instantaneous CDF of specific POS(i)

 $ft_{POS(i)}$: The fraction of time that POS *i* exists

The same set of equations applies to LERF calculations where CDF is simply replaced with LERF.

⁷ The instantaneous CDF is simply the CDF estimate at a given point in time considering the current status of the reactor and of plant equipment (e.g., including time-specific rather than generic equipment availability/outage configurations). The value is commonly expressed in terms of an annual frequency which effectively assumes that the existing configuration would continue for a whole year. The term "instantaneous risk" is synonymous with other terms such as "point-in-time risk" and "configuration specific risk."

4 DETAILED FRAMEWORK

4.1 Task 1: Plant Boundary Definition and Partitioning

The purpose and scope for this task remains the same as presented in reference [1]. This section provides supplemental guidance for conducting the plant boundary definition and partitioning tasks in support of the LPSD fire PRA. As in the at-power fire PRA, the plant is divided into a number of PAUs. The analysis then considers the impact of fires in a given PAU, and fires that might impact multiple PAUs. This practice supports both the organization of the PRA information and analysis, and provides a framework for reporting risk results.

Task 1 establishes the process for defining the overall plant boundary and partitioning of the plant into PAUs. The product of this task will be a list of PAUs that encompasses the nuclear power plant under analysis.

Analysts have two choices: (1) use the same set of PAUs as per the definitions established in the at-power fire PRA or (2) redefine the PAUs based on the barrier configurations and conditions specific to the POS. Both approaches have merits but this report advocates for maintaining the PAU definitions as per the at-power fire PRA with few exceptions. This approach ensures that plant locations are identified consistently among the analyses and will allow the results for the same plant location under different operating conditions to be quickly and easily identified. If the PAU boundaries are redefined, then tracking results becomes far more difficult and burdensome. The two significant exceptions to this recommendation are as follows:

- (4) The analysis should verify that the at-power fire PRA plant boundary encompasses all plant areas of potential interest to the LPSD fire PRA. If it does not, then the global analysis boundary is expanded and new PAUs are defined.
- (5) The analysis should consider the treatment afforded the containment structure in the at-power fire PRA and determine if an alternative treatment is appropriate. Containment fires are relatively rare while the plant is at at-power operation. For those BWRs with inerted containment, the guidance in reference [1] recommends that fires during at-power operation are not analyzed (no fire frequency is assigned to these containments per the guidance in reference [1]). During LPSD operations, these conditions can change and the changes could impact containment partitioning decisions.

The primary challenge to the LPSD fire PRA with respect to Task 1 is that the partitioning elements that defined the compartments in the at-power fire PRA (e.g., walls, ceilings/floors, spatial separation, etc.) are subject to modification during LPSD plant operations. For example, equipment hatches in ceilings/floors may be removed, normally closed doors may be propped opened, fire barrier penetrations may be breached (e.g., to support equipment or cable work), the containment structure may be open, and for BWRs, containment will no longer be inerted. The LPSD fire PRA will need to define and address such changes, but this need not force changes to previous (i.e., at power) partitioning decisions. Rather, changes in the status or integrity of a credited partitioning feature or element can be addressed during Task 11, and in particular Task 11c - the multi-compartment fire analysis (see Section 3.11 for additional discussion).

If the decision is made to alter the partitioning of any plant locations, the analysis should (1) define the partitioning changes and (2) provide a concise mapping between PAUs as defined in the at-power fire PRA and in the LPSD fire PRA. As in the at-power fire PRA, the LPSD PAUs should collectively encompass all locations within the global analysis boundary with no exclusions and no overlap between compartments (the set of PAUs is both complete and exclusive).

In Section 1.3.1 of reference [1]; the guidance cautions the analyst to avoid "excessive partitioning" and an over-reliance on multi-compartment fire scenarios as significant contributors to plant fire risk. If the recommendations discussed above are followed (i.e., the same PAU definitions are retained from the at-power analysis), then it is likely that there will be more contributing multi-compartment scenarios for LPSD than the at-power fire PRA. This is because normally closed fire barriers and other partitioning features may be opened during LPSD operations. This is inevitable, and is not considered to detract from the quality or validity of the LPSD fire PRA provided appropriate treatment is afforded to the relevant multi-compartment fire scenarios (i.e., in Task 11c).

The same procedure as that described in reference [1] for at-power fire PRA applies here as well with the following clarifications.

• Step 1: Selection of Global Plant Analysis Boundary:

This task begins with an assessment of the global plant analysis boundary definition established in the at-power fire PRA. The guidance provided in reference [1] seeks a liberal definition of the global plant analysis boundary. Hence, for most analyses it is considered unlikely that the boundary will need to be expanded to suit the LPSD fire PRA; however, the LPSD analysis should determine whether the global plant analysis boundary should be expanded to encompass new areas of the plant. The definition of the global plant analysis boundary may need to be expanded if any locations excluded from the at-power analysis are identified as potentially relevant to the LPSD analysis. For example, the unit under analysis may establish electrical ties via temporary cabling to a sister unit during shutdown that would not be present while at power (e.g., to make up for de-energized power supply busses undergoing maintenance during the shutdown). If these ties meet the criteria for equipment/cable selection and the corresponding areas of the sister unit were outside the global analysis boundary for the unit's at-power fire PRA, then the LPSD fire PRA global analysis boundary should expand accordingly.

As with the at-power fire PRA, the LPSD fire PRA global plant analysis boundary should encompass all areas of the plant associated with both normal and emergency reactor operating and support systems, and power production (e.g., the turbine building). The unique aspect of this assessment for the LPSD analysis is that the terms "normal and emergency reactor operating and support systems" should encompass all defined POSs to be considered in the analysis rather than just at-power conditions. This holds the potential to introduce plant locations that were deemed outside the scope of the at-power fire PRA.

Selection of the LPSD fire PRA global plant analysis boundary should begin with the at-power fire PRA global plant analysis boundary. A review should be performed to identify any locations excluded from the at-power global analysis boundary that might contribute to LPSD risk. In particular, the LPSD fire PRA plant analysis boundary should encompass all locations, including qualifying locations associated with a sister unit at a multi-unit site, that house any of the LPSD fire PRA components and cables identified in Tasks 2 and 3 (see next two sections).

• Step 2: Plant Partitioning:

The discussions provided in Section 1.5.2 of reference [1] apply in full to the LPSD fire PRA. As a general practice, this framework recommends that the PAUs (i.e., the plant partitioning results) as developed for the at-power fire PRA be applied without modification to the LPSD fire PRA with two specific exceptions:

- (1) For any new locations added to the global analysis boundary in Step 1, partition those locations into PAUs consistent with the guidance in Section 1.5.2 of reference [1].
- (2) It is recommended that a review of the containment structure be performed to assess whether or not additional partitioning is appropriate.

With respect to item (2) above, in a typical at-power fire PRA the containment structure is either not analyzed in detail (i.e., in the case of those plants whose containments are inerted during plant operations) or analyzed in limited detail (e.g., due to the relatively low frequency of fires inside containment during power operations that can affect core cooling). These conditions (inerting and low fire frequency) may not apply to LPSD operations and the analyst should anticipate that a more thorough examination of containment fires will be required. Hence, the purpose of item (2) above is to ensure that due consideration is given to the potential analytical needs of the containment fire analysis during the plant partitioning task. As always, partitioning decisions are ultimately up to the analyst but additional partitioning of the containment structure should be considered.

• Step 3: Compartment Information Gathering and Characterization:

The discussions provided in Section 1.5.3 of reference [1] apply in full to the LPSD fire PRA.

• Step 4: Documentation:

The discussions provided in Section 1.5.4 of reference [1] apply in full to the LPSD fire PRA. In addition, the analyst should take particular care to document any changes in plant partitioning made to support the LPSD fire PRA as compared to the at-power fire PRA. If any partitioning changes are made, task documentation should define those changes and provide a mapping of LPSD PAUs to at-power fire compartments.

4.2 Task 2: Fire PRA Component Selection

4.2.1 Background

The objective of Task 2 is to create the LPSD fire PRA component list⁸. This list identifies the plant components that will be modeled in the LPSD fire PRA. The component list also identifies plant equipment for which the corresponding cables (power, control and instrumentation – see Task 3) need to be identified and located.

This task builds upon foundations of equipment selection established by the at-power fire PRA. It also builds upon foundations established in a corresponding internal event LPSD PRA. Hence, as noted in Section 2, these two analyses are considered critical inputs to this task. If either analysis is not available, the analyst faces a substantial additional burden to generate the information that would normally be imported from these analyses and that effort lies outside the scope of this document.

Given the wide range of possible POS conditions, essentially all of the components selected for inclusion in the at-power fire PRA will also be relevant to the LPSD fire PRA and should be retained in the LPSD fire PRA component list. However, component selection will need to be augmented with additional components unique to the conditions posed by the specific POSs, or POS groups⁹, associated with shutdown and with equipment outages during LPSD conditions (e.g., loss of the redundant train of a system to a fire while the other train is out of service for maintenance).

The process for generating the LPSD fire PRA component list is fundamentally the same as the at-power analysis. The analyst, however, should consider each POS separately to ensure that potential accident initiators and mitigating equipment relevant to each POS are properly accounted for.

Overall and for each POS, or POS group, the component list needs to span:

⁸ As in the at-power procedure, the terms "equipment" and "component" as used here are considered synonymous and are meant to include plant components such as valves, fans, pumps, indicators, alarms and other electrical, electronic, and mechanical devices as appropriate. The terms generally exclude electrical cables as these are dealt with explicitly (see Task 3, Section 4.3).

⁹ The potential for grouping POSs is discussed in Section 4.5 below.

- (1) equipment that, if affected by a fire, will cause an initiating event such that the appropriate fireinduced initiators can be defined;
- (2) all equipment necessary to support those mitigating functions and operator actions that are credited in the analysis in response to any initiator; and
- (3) equipment that can be a source of undesirable responses adverse to safety during a fire-induced accident sequence, (e.g., fire-induced spurious operations).

The considerations cited for the selection of equipment in Section 2.2 of reference [1] are fully applicable to the LPSD fire PRA. In addition, it is recommended that the LPSD fire component list include the following:

- (1) all components included in the at-power fire PRA, and
- (2) all components credited in the Internal Events LPSD PRA, and in particular, equipment associated with electrically diverse systems.

The input to Task 2 is much the same as those identified in Section 2.4.1 of reference [1] with the following additions:

- (1) Task 2 includes the mapping of identified components to plant locations (e.g., fire areas and/or PAUs). It is strongly recommended that the LPSD fire PRA use the same plant boundary and compartment definitions and location identification nomenclature as established in the corresponding at-power fire PRA. If the global analysis boundary is expanded to accommodate the needs of the LPSD fire PRA, then the additions should be clearly documented (e.g., identify locations that were deemed outside the scope of the at-power fire PRA but are included in the LPSD fire PRA). This approach will greatly simplify the process of component tracing and location documentation.
- (2) The internal events LPSD PRA model for the specific POSs under consideration and the corresponding equipment lists are a required input.
- (3) Plant procedures applicable to the POSs being considered (e.g., emergency operating procedures, fire procedures, annunciator response procedures) are required in addition to at-power operating procedures.
- (4) The analysis will need to review plant Technical Specifications to determine possible limiting conditions of operation (LCOs) applicable to each defined POS (see Task 2 Step 3).

4.2.2 Procedure

The steps that follow provide a method to create the LPSD fire PRA component list. The step structure is identical to that provided in Section 2.5 of reference [1]. As with the at-power fire PRA, as a practical matter, the LPSD fire PRA component selection task is an iterative process. Hence, as other tasks are performed, there may be reason to revisit and redo portions of Task 2 during the development, screening, and eventual quantification of the LPSD fire PRA.

• Step 1: Identify Internal Events LPSD PRA Sequences to be included (and those to be excluded) in the LPSD fire PRA Model.

This step for the fire LPSD task is identical to the corresponding step as described in Section 2.5.1 of reference [1] with one modification. For the purposes of the LPSD fire PRA, Step 1 reviews accident sequences from the *at-power fire PRA and the internal events LPSD PRA* (rather than only the internal events *at-power PRA*.)
<u>Possible Elimination of Sequences and Equipment</u> - The identification of sequences that could generally be eliminated from the LPSD fire PRA is similar to the corresponding analysis element in reference [1] with the following additions:

- (1) In determining which sequences and equipment to include, or potentially exclude, from the LPSD fire PRA, consider all sequences included in the at-power fire PRA and those included in the internal events LPSD PRA.
- (2) It is recommended that all components included in the at-power fire PRA be retained for (i.e., not eliminated from) the LPSD fire PRA with few exceptions. In essence, the at-power fire PRA will already have established component locations and will have identified and traced related cables. Hence, there is likely little benefit to be gained by excluding such components from the fire LPSD analysis especially given that the LPSD fire PRA will include low-power (e.g., startup) POSs that will be quite similar in nature to the at-power plant configuration. If any components that were included in the at-power fire PRA are excluded from the LPSD fire PRA, the exclusion should be noted and explained, including a discussion of the potential impact of these exclusions on the risk results.
- (3) As in the at-power fire PRA, justification for the exclusion of any sequences or equipment and the resulting impact on the "reduced" PRA model should be noted. In particular, the analyst should take care not to eliminate sequences or equipment that could adversely affect equipment credited in the LPSD fire PRA. For example, elements of an electric power distribution system may be considered for elimination (e.g., dc power distribution system elements). However, the analyst should be careful not to eliminate those parts of the system that may be needed for proper functioning of credited equipment items (e.g., instrumentation loops).

<u>Possible Additions of Sequences and Equipment</u> - Considerations relative to the addition of sequences and equipment are essentially the same as for the corresponding analysis element in the at-power fire PRA with the following clarifications:

(1) As was the case for the at-power fire PRA as compared to the at-power internal events PRA, some sequences that were screened out of the internal events LPSD PRA based on low frequency of occurrence may need to be retained in the LPSD fire PRA. The bases for such additions would be similar to those leading to additions to the at-power fire PRA. Specifically, a search should be conducted, in concert with carrying out all the steps of this procedure, for new functional challenges in the plant not otherwise accounted for especially because of fire-induced spurious actuation considerations.

• For example, spurious actuation of a high pressure pump while the reactor vessel is closed but in cold shutdown may lead to pressurizer safety relief valve (SRV) lift for some PWRs. If the valve were to stick open, recovery actions may be needed to prevent a LOCA (i.e., isolation of the SRV). Spurious actuation of the pump may have been deemed of sufficiently low probability in the internal events LPSD PRA that the sequence may have been screened out. However, fire-induced spurious actuation of the same pump (e.g., due to control cable failures) might be likely enough to warrant retention of the sequence (e.g., pursuant to a detailed HRA for the potential recovery actions).

• As a second example, the potential for reactivity insertion may have been screened from the internal events analysis but may need to be reconsidered for fire events given the potential for fire-induced spurious operations.

A review should be conducted for such scenarios originally eliminated from the internal events LPSD PRA to determine if new components should be added to the LPSD fire PRA component list implying that those components, their failure modes, and the associated sequences would be

included in the LPSD fire PRA plant risk model (see Task 5). Particularly when considering the possible effects of spurious operations, new accident sequences and associated components of interest beyond those considered in the Internal Events LPSD PRA may be identified that should be addressed in the LPSD fire PRA. Each POS should be considered individually to determine applicability. Typically, new sequences might arise as a result of spurious events that:

- cause a loss of coolant accident (LOCA), e.g., drain down events;
- adversely affect plant pressure control, e.g., letdown or safety relief valve events;
- cause loss of cooling to core; or
- introduce other "new" scenarios that may not be addressed in the internal events LPSD PRA.
- (2) As with the at-power fire PRA, a review of the fire emergency procedures (FEPs) or similar fire-related instructions as such instructions apply to various LPSD POSs should be conducted (see also Task 12). In particular, fire-specific manual actions designed to preclude or overcome spurious operations will likely not have been addressed in the Internal Events LPSD PRA. For example:

• An FEP may require shutdown of a pump from the switchgear to avoid spurious actuation of the pump and pump damage due to cavitation. This may cause demands on the pressurizer SRV and lead to sequences not modeled in the Internal Events LPSD PRA.

• Fire specific manual actions may cause an unintentional failure of a safety function or a subset of that functional response. For example, a proceduralized action may be to trip a power supply thereby disabling ("failing") certain equipment in the plant.

- As with at-power considerations, the likely timing of the operator action as compared to when the affected component is needed should also be considered.
- Step 2: Review the Internal Events LPSD PRA Model Against the Fire Safe Shutdown Analysis:

The impact of Step 2 on the LPSD fire PRA is likely to be more limited than the impact of this step on the at-power fire PRA. However, this step does retain some relevance to the LPSD fire PRA and should not be neglected.

The fire safe shutdown analysis addresses regulatory requirements to demonstrate that, in the event of a plant fire, the plant will retain the ability to achieve hot-shutdown (or hot-standby) and ultimately to achieve and maintain cold shutdown. Hence, the safe shutdown procedures will overlap some of the POSs that will likely be defined in the LPSD fire PRA. To the extent that this overlap exists, Step 2 should be completed.

The underlying steps (i.e., steps 2.1 through 2.5) are executed largely consistent with the treatment afforded in the at-power fire PRA. The most significant difference is that the review compares the fire safe shutdown analysis to the plant risk model developed for the internal events *LPSD* PRA rather than the treatment provided in the internal events *at-power* PRA. The reconciliation effort in steps 2.1 through 2.4 compares the fire safe shutdown analysis to the internal events *LPSD* PRA rather than to the internal events *at-power* PRA. When reconciling system or equipment differences due to end-state and mission considerations, the fire safe shutdown analysis will likely not deal at all with various POSs associated with the LPSD fire PRA. In particular, the fire safe shutdown analysis will typically not address any aspects of plant operations during refueling stages of a plant shutdown. When considering specific review of manual actions, the reconciliation effort should compare the fire safe shutdown analysis to the internal events at-power the fire safe shutdown.

PRA. Also, with respect to manual actions to be credited in the LPSD fire PRA, considerations should include both the need to achieve and maintain safe shutdown (e.g., given an automatic or manual trip from a low-power POS) and the need to maintain safe and stable conditions during other non-power POSs (e.g., refueling evolutions).

• Step 3: Identify Fire-Induced Initiating Events Based on Equipment Affected:

The role of this step in the analysis is essentially identical for the LPSD fire PRA as for the at-power fire PRA. That is, to the extent the above steps have not already done so, this step addresses that equipment which, if affected by a fire, could cause an initiating event (e.g., forced shutdown of the plant from a low power state or a drain down event for other shutdown evolutions). As in the at-power analysis, the goal of Step 3 is to identify what initiator(s) will likely occur if a fire in any given compartment affects equipment identified on the LPSD fire PRA component list. For guidance, see Section 2.5.3 of reference [1] with the following clarification: In addition to the considerations applicable to the at-power fire PRA, for the LPSD fire PRA, consideration also extends to equipment whose failure would compromise the ability to maintain a safe and stable condition for each POS being considered. It is anticipated that new initiating events may need to be identified stemming from the specific conditions imposed by the POS. It must be noted here again that this guidance is focused on CDF and LERF. Other radionuclide release possibilities are not considered as part of the scope of this document.

• Step 4: Identify Equipment with Potential Spurious Actuations that may Challenge the Ability to Safely Maintain the Plant During Each POS:

The role of this step in the analysis is essentially identical for the LPSD fire PRA as for the at-power fire PRA. This step is aimed at further expanding the LPSD fire PRA component list, and thus potentially the LPSD fire PRA plant risk model (Task 5), to include adequate consideration of the potential for harmful fire-induced spurious actuations. For guidance, see Section 2.5.4 of reference [1] with the following clarifications:

- (1) In addition to the considerations applicable in the at-power fire PRA, for the LPSD fire PRA it also extends to equipment whose spurious actuation would compromise the ability to maintain a safe and stable condition for each POS being considered.
- (2) The systematic review of potential spurious actuation concerns is conducted on the basis of accident sequence types and related mitigation system functions included in the internal events LPSD PRA plant risk model rather than the internal events at-power PRA plant risk model.
- (3) Table 2-2 of reference [1] presents (illustrative only) examples of how single and multiple spurious actuation failures might be important for some accident sequences. In addition to those examples provided for at-power conditions, the LPSD PRA should include consideration of spurious actuations impacting secondary-side cooling functions because these either may not have been considered, or may have been considered and screened out, during the at-power fire PRA.

• Step 5: Identify Additional Mitigating, Instrumentation, and Diagnostic Equipment Important to Human Response:

The goal of this step in the LPSD fire PRA is identical to that of the corresponding step in the atpower fire PRA [1]. Namely, the goal is to expand the LPSD fire PRA component list, and thus potentially the LPSD fire PRA plant risk model (Task 5) to include other mitigating equipment, instrumentation, and diagnostic equipment necessary for human actions if not already addressed in previous steps for each POS. The structure and role of the underlying steps (5.1 and 5.2) remains unchanged. • Step 5.1: Identify Human Actions of Interest: See Section 2.5.5.1 of reference [1] for guidance with the following clarifications:

- (1) The identification of human actions gives consideration to those human actions credited in the internal events *LPSD* PRA rather than those actions credited in the internal events *atpower* PRA.
- (2) The review of human actions should consider all relevant plant procedures for all POSs being considered. This should include both general plant operations and any fire-specific procedures as available.

• Step 5.2: Identify Instrumentation and Diagnostic Equipment Associated with both Credited and Potentially Harmful Human Actions: See Section 2.5.5.2 of reference [1] for guidance. The following is an alternative example to those offered in reference [1] that should be included during the performance of Step 5.2:

- (1) The LPSD fire PRA will need to consider the potential role of the plant's alternate shutdown panel in LPSD operations. If, for example, a main control room (MCR) fire were to occur during a shutdown evolution, the analysis will need to assess what benefit could be gained through use of the alternate shutdown panel(s) to control some of the plant systems.
- Step 6: Include "Potentially High Consequence" Related Equipment:

As the final analysis step in performing Task 2, consideration is given to equipment associated with potentially high consequence events. The goal is to ensure that such events are not be prematurely screened, but are analyzed in more detail to determine their risk significance.

High consequence events for at-power conditions are potentially relevant to low-power operations as well. These are defined per Section 2.5.6 of reference [1] (list items (a) and (b) in that section). To the extent that such events are relevant to low-power operations they should be considered consistent with the at-power fire PRA guidance. In addition to (a) and (b) in reference [1], for the purposes of the LPSD fire PRA, consideration of potentially high consequence events should be extended to include events where:

- (c) one or more related component failures, including spurious operations, where at least one failure/spurious operation is induced by a fire, and that by themselves result in core damage when the reactor vessel and secondary containment structure are open (i.e., no primary or secondary containment). An example might include a fire-induced spurious operations (e.g., spurious opening of a valve draining to the suppression pool or spurious start-up of a high capacity pumping system) resulting in a rapid drain-down of the refueling cavity while containment is open.
- Step 7: Assemble LPSD fire PRA component list:

As in the at-power fire PRA, the final step is to assemble the LPSD fire PRA component list. This list is generally maintained in a supporting database. The most important elements of the database will be the component identifiers and the location of the component. This effectively defines the PRA damage targets within each PAU in terms of components. Section 2.5.7 of reference [1] provides recommendations relative to the type of information that should be recorded for each item on the component list. Similar information will be needed to support the LPSD fire PRA, but this information will also need to extend to all POSs being considered. Some component characteristics (e.g., equipment identifier (ID), description, locations, system designation, and type) will remain the same regardless of the plant operating state. However, others (e.g., the normal position/status, desired position/status, failed electrical position, and failed air position) will change depending on the POS. It is recommended that the database structure be expanded to capture, as relevant, variable aspects of

each component identified and the relevant entries as applicable to each identified POS. Additionally, there could be temporarily-staged equipment (e.g., auxiliary diesel), which may be a part of the safe plant operation during a POS. These new equipment items would need to be added to the list.

The general expectation is that the component list will be developed at the level of major plant components (e.g., motors, valves, pumps, etc.). It is not expected that the list would be developed at a sub-component or relay level. Under Task 3 the cables and power supplies associated with these components will also be identified. This will effectively extend the available information to include, in a general sense, sub-component locations and functions (e.g., supporting control circuitry, power supply chains, and routing information).

4.3 Task 3: Fire PRA Cable Selection

The approach and process for identifying cables of potential interest to the LPSD fire PRA is essentially identical to that applied to the at-power fire PRA as documented in Section 3 of reference [1]. However, the following clarifications should be noted:

• Any and all cables selected for inclusion in the at-power fire PRA will likely be included in the LPSD fire PRA. Any exceptions to this general practice should be identified and justified.

• The cable identification process considers the equipment and components identified in Task 2 of the LPSD fire PRA rather than the set of equipment identified in the corresponding at-power fire PRA. The LPSD fire PRA equipment list may contain new components not included in the at-power fire PRA and the cable selection process should be repeated for these new components. If, as part of maintenance activities during a POS, for equipment on the component list, temporary cables are installed or existing cables are re-routed, those cables should be added to the list.

• It is recommended that the analyst review past practice regarding the use of temporary cables to determine if: (1) there are common practices in this regard, (2) if temporary cable use is tied to specific POSs, (3) if temporary cable use results in any degradation of fire protection features (e.g., opened doorways or hatches), and (4) if any compensatory measures are implemented to compensate for fire protection degradations. This aspect of the review will likely require input from the plant fire protection program staff.

• The at-power cable selection results should also be reviewed to ensure that component failure modes that may not have been of interest to the at-power fire PRA but that have unique implications to the LPSD POSs are identified and addressed. This might, for example, include the re-introduction of cables leading to spurious equipment actuations that were considered benign in the at-power analysis but which might not be benign in the context of one or more LPSD POSs. For example, the spurious operation of valves associated only with shutdown cooling systems might have little or no impact on at-power operations, but might compromise core cooling during one or more LPSD POS. Hence, it is possible that components, and their associated cables, that were properly screened out from the at-power fire PRA would need to be added to the LPSD fire PRA equipment and cable lists.

• Cable selection considers the potential impact of cable failures in the context of each POS being considered in the LPSD fire PRA.

• Power supply coordination may not be assured during shutdown operations based on coordination studies performed based on the at-power plant configuration if the configuration of the power supply chain is modified. For example, temporary power supplies or power feed cables used to provide alternative power sources to plant equipment were likely not considered in at-power electrical coordination studies. A coordination review for temporary power supply arrangements should be completed for equipment credited for post-fire plant response during shutdown.

The final outcome of this task is a set of entries in the fire PRA Database identifying the cables of interest in terms of associated component serviced by the cable, cable function, and cable locations (see Section 3.5.6.1 of reference [1] for further detail). This information establishes the PRA damage targets in each PAU in terms of cables.

It is common practice in fire PRA for at-power applications that Tasks 6 and 9 are performed in concert. That is, the cable selection and tracing efforts often are performed concurrent with a look forward to the deterministic cable failure modes and effects analysis. This practice will likely continue in the context of the LPSD fire PRA.

4.4 Task 4: Qualitative Screening

The purpose of this task is to qualitatively screen PAUs before the quantitative analysis is initiated. Since CDF and LERF are the focus of the LPSD fire PRA, the method and criterion provided in Chapter 4 of reference [1] are applicable to the LPSD fire PRA. The criterion provided in reference [1] is repeated here:

- Screen a PAU if the compartment does not contain any of the equipment (including circuits and cables) identified in Tasks 2 and 3, and
- In concert with Section 2.5.3 of the Task 2 procedure, the compartment is such that fires in the compartment will not impact plant status. For example, there would not be a reactor trip if the reactor is critical or loss of decay heat cooling if the reactor is in cold shutdown.

It was suggested during the tabletop exercise that an inclusionary approach be taken for shutdown operations in particular as an alternative to the exclusionary approach applied to at-power fire PRA. That is, following the at-power approach would require systematically reviewing all fire locations within the global analysis boundary and excluding (screening out) locations that do not contain any components or cables relevant to a given POS. As an alternative, it was suggested that identifying those locations that do contain potentially relevant cables and equipment might be more effective and more efficient in the LPSD context. The objective would generally be the same regardless of approach; namely, to identify locations where fires might either compromise or create a demand for plant systems important to maintaining plant nuclear safety. The at-power analysis recommends use of an exclusionary approach because relatively few locations are expected to meet the exclusionary criteria and those locations are likely to be somewhat obvious to identify (e.g., office buildings, security access areas, parking lots, warehouses, etc.). For shutdown conditions in particular, a more limited subset of the global analysis boundary may be of interest, especially for some specific POSs. Hence, an inclusionary approach to identifying the locations that contain relevant equipment and cables might prove more effective at reaching the same goal. This approach has not yet been tested.

As in the case of at-power fire PRA, these criteria are specifically intended to allow the qualitative screening of PAUs that do not contain any of the equipment or cables identified in Tasks 2 and 3, but where a prolonged fire might lead operators to implement alternative or preemptive measures to maintain the POS or to place the plant in a more stable condition. That is, the at-power methodology assumes that a PAU where a fire cannot directly threaten any of the fire PRA equipment or cables will not represent a substantive contributor to fire risk even if operators might take preemptive actions to, for example, trip the plant. For this case the fire represents just one more potential source of a plant trip with no loss of mitigating equipment, scenarios already captured in the internal events PRA. Analogous situations are likely for LPSD conditions. For example, if a fire were to occur during plant startup, operators might choose to initiate a preemptive trip even though no important plant systems or equipment have been lost or are threatened. The criteria above would allow for the screening of such PAUs so long as there is no direct threat to the LPSD fire PRA equipment or cables identified as important to the POS(s) associated with plant startup.

Other analogous situations are likely to occur for other modes of shutdown plant operations. For example, if a fire were to occur in an unimportant plant location while the plant was engaged in Mode 6 fuel movement, operators might choose to temporarily suspend fuel movement but would likely not transition from Mode 6 to some other operating mode. If a temporary suspension of work activities is the only potential impact of a fire in a given plant location, then the intent of the framework would allow for the qualitative screening of that location in the context of that particular POS. Said another way, the framework is intended to allow for qualitative screening of plant locations in the context of a given POS provided there is no potential impact to plant equipment (including spurious operations) relied on to maintain safe operations within that POS and where a fire would not force an unplanned POS transition (e.g., a trip from low power conditions).

It should be noted that compartments qualitatively screened in this task will be reexamined in Task 11 for the potential for affecting adjacent compartments in the multi-compartment fire analysis.

Compartments that would be qualitatively screened out in this task and later in Task 11 as part of the multi-compartment analysis are concluded to be of little risk significance to be tracked for risk contribution.

4.5 Task 5: Fire-Induced Risk Model

In this task the plant model is put together using event trees and fault trees for calculating the CDF and LERF of LPSD fire PRA. The same procedure as for at-power fire PRA applies here. The same modeling approaches (i.e., either fault tree linking or event trees with boundaries [1]) can be used for LPSD conditions. It is considered unlikely that, in practicality, a single plant response model can be developed with sufficient flexibility to encompass all LPSD POSs. Instead, the expectation is that some finite number of plant response models will be needed. The actual number would depend on how the POSs are defined and if the defined POSs can be grouped in the context of plant response modeling. The intent for the LPSD fire PRA would be to follow the approach taken to, and precedents set in, the internal events LPSD analysis; that is, it is generally expected that a complementary *fire* plant response model will be needed for each POS plant response model developed in the internal events LPSD analysis. In other words, this task may need to be repeated for each internal events POS plant response model separately. If the *complete* set of LPSD POSs (i.e., the average or typical outages as discussed in Section 3.0 above) is of interest, a separate model should be developed for each POS of the set. Similarly, if a one-of-a-kind outage is under consideration, the model should reflect the specific conditions of that outage and corresponding POSs.

One challenge for LPSD modeling is that only one train of plant equipment may available at any given time with the other train (or trains) out of service for maintenance. Further, the available train may switch (e.g., from train A to train B) either from outage to outage or over the course of a single outage. The plant response model will need to reflect such subtleties because fires may present unique challenges depending on which train(s) are available. Cable and equipment locations *will* vary by train, and fire protection features *may* vary by train. For example, one train may be designated at the "Appendix R" train with higher levels of passive and active fire protection throughout the plant or train protection may be location dependent. Support system dependencies (e.g., electrical power) will also likely be train-dependent.

For the at-power PRA model, in addition to emergency operating procedures (EOPs), the analysts may use FEPs to establish the chain of events in response to an initiating event. In the case of LPSD, practices will vary from plant to plant. Some plants may develop specialized EOPs and FEPs to address specific conditions of the POS or a one-of-a-kind outage. Those EOPs and FEPs should be consulted when developing the plant model for LPSD fire PRA (see Section 4.2.2 for further detail). If MCR evacuation is part of a fire scenario, the specific conditions of the LPSD POS should be considered when using the FEP for such events. Plant management may need to be consulted to ensure that POS specific procedures and guidelines are incorporated in the development of the LPSD fire PRA model.

Similar to at-power fire PRA, an internal events model serves as the starting point for this purpose. That is, this framework assumes that an internal events LPSD PRA model for the specific POS of the study does exist. The same approach can be used as in the at-power case defined in reference [1] to arrive at the LPSD fire PRA plant model. A set of initiating events applicable to the fire analysis should be identified first and then the internal events analysis event trees and fault trees are modified as necessary to establish the set of fire-induced failures and operator errors that could lead to core damage or large early release. Similar to the at-power case, the process may include temporary changes to the Internal Events LPSD PRA that are later modified as PAUs and fire scenarios are screened from further analysis. In the temporary models, conservative measures are incorporated to expedite the analysis, which are later refined and applied to risk significant scenarios.

As noted above, the same procedure described in reference [1] applies here. The assumptions, input from other tasks and output to other tasks remain the same. When analyzing a specific POS, especially in the case of one-of-a-kind outage, it is possible that only a small part of the plant could be affected. For those cases, the analyst may elect to limit the analysis only to those parts of the plant. The same procedure should apply regardless of the scope of the analysis with the following clarifications:

• Step 1–Develop the Fire PRA CDF/CCDP Model:

In this case the model is focused on specific LPSD POS conditions. The conditional core damage probability (CCDP) and CDF models are the same. To obtain the CCDP, the model is quantified using 1.0 for the initiating event frequency. Step 1 is divided into three sub-steps as follows:

• Step 1.1: Select Appropriate Fire-Induced Initiating Events and Sequences and Verify Against the Component List and Failure Modes: The initiating events identified in Step 3 of Task 2 are reviewed and verified in this step. It should be noted that new initiating events (i.e., other than those adopted from the at-power fire PRA and internal events LPSD analyses) may be identified here based on the special conditions created by a specific POS.

Step 1.2: Incorporate Fire-Induced Equipment Failures: Equipment failure due to fire impact is carefully studied in the at-power fire PRA. The same information should apply to LPSD conditions. The LPSD analysis will need to (1) capture fire-induced failure of new plant equipment and cables identified as important to the LPSD POSs that were not included in the atpower fire PRA, and (2) identify and capture potential new failure modes for previously modeled equipment and cables that may present unique challenges for LPSD operations. As an example of the second element, for a particular valve the at-power fire PRA may have modeled loss of function failure modes but might not have included spurious operation if that failure mode did not impact the at-power analysis. If that same valve has a unique LPSD role where spurious operation is a factor, then the spurious operation failure mode would need to be added to the LPSD plant response model. The converse could also apply: that is, a valve included in the atpower fire PRA might only have been a concern given spurious opening (i.e., a potential diversion path) whereas in the LPSD analysis, the ability to operate the valve may be a factor. Step1.3: Incorporate Fire-Induced Human Failures: The manual actions credited in the at-power fire PRA model should be reviewed and modified to reflect the special conditions that may exist during the postulated POS. If POS specific FEPs are developed, the manual actions credited in those procedures should also be reviewed carefully and incorporated in the model.

• Step 2–Develop the Fire PRA LERF/CLERP Model:

The same discussions apply to the LERF and conditional large early release probability (CLERP) model as in Step 1 above. Under certain POS conditions, the containment may be open to the atmosphere. In that case, the LERF model could be very simple compared to the at-power containment failure models. The model complexity would depend mainly on the extent to which potential recovery actions are modeled. If, for example, the analysis includes the potential for

isolating containment then the time available, required support systems, environment inside containment, evacuation times for plant personnel, and other factors would need to be considered and many of these may be POS-specific. This would, of course, provide a more realistic analysis result, but would also represent a higher analysis burden. The expectation of this framework is that the decision to pursue higher levels of detail would be left to the analyst and would be based on the goals of the analysis and, at least in part, on the risk results given a more simplistic model (e.g., the burden might not be warranted for very low risk POSs). If the containment is closed, the analyst should develop a LERF model based on the internal events LPSD model and review and verify the applicability of equipment failures and operator actions as in the case of the CDF model.

4.6 Task 6: Fire Ignition Frequencies

4.6.1 Background Information

Similar to Task 6 of reference [1], the LPSD fire PRA should estimate fire-ignition frequencies and their respective uncertainties for ignition sources and compartments. The ignition frequency task represents the first step in quantifying fire scenarios as they are defined and analyzed in later tasks. A generic set of fire-ignition frequencies for various generic equipment types (ignition sources) typically found in certain plant locations was developed as a starting point for the at-power analysis. The same analysis approach described in Task 6 of reference [1] applies to LPSD conditions with a few exceptions as discussed below.

The frequencies provided in reference [1] were based on events that either occurred during all operating modes or just during power operation <u>including startup</u>. That is, as a part of the at-power methodology development, each of the identified fire ignition source bins was reviewed. Judgment was applied to assess whether or not the frequency of fire events would be substantially dependent on the plant operating mode. Two fire frequency cases resulted as follows:

• Case 1: If the fire ignition frequency of an ignition source bin was judged to be independent of the operating mode, then the fire frequency analysis considered all fire events occurring over all plant operating states and the corresponding years of reactor experience. For these fire frequency bins, no changes are needed and the at-power fire frequency values apply to the LPSD fire PRA unchanged.

• Case 2: If the fire ignition frequency for a fire ignition source bin was judged to be dependent on the plant operating mode, then only those fire events occurring during plant power operations, *including startup operations (mode 2)*, were considered along with the corresponding at-power reactor experience (i.e., excluding the fraction of the time that the plants were not in power mode) in developing the at-power fire frequency estimates.

Ignition source bins falling into Case 2 require re-analysis to estimate fire frequency for plant shutdown modes only. These results are provided in Table 2 and include both the shutdown fire frequencies and, as applicable, split fractions by fire type.

Details relating to the decision as to which case the various fire ignition source bins were assigned are provided in reference [1] and have not been repeated here. In general terms those decisions were based on several factors summarized as follows:

- Location: Some locations were expected to have higher fire frequencies given LPSD conditions so frequency bins associated with those locations were assigned to case 2. The most obvious example here is containment.
- Activity-related fires: Both transient fires and hot work related fires are associated with maintenance activities and, given an increase in the level of related activities during LPSD conditions as compared to at-power, all related fire frequency bins were assigned to case 2.

• Equipment operating state: Some equipment is operated only during start-up or at-power conditions and would not be expected to see fires during other LPSD modes (e.g., the main generator set). Frequency bins associated with these items were assigned to Case 2. In contrast, some equipment such as electrical cabinets were assumed to be either energized at essentially all times or rotated in and out of service at various times independent of the operating mode. Frequency bins associated with these items were assigned to Case 1.

Table 1 provides the list of bins that fell into the second case. For these bins, a reanalysis of the fire frequency has been performed and shutdown-specific fire frequency values and, as applicable, fire type split fractions determined. Note the following:

• The analysis presented here is based on the same fire event database and the same fire event set as was used in the original development work for the at-power methodology [1]. A collaborative effort is currently underway involving both RES and EPRI to develop a more comprehensive and current fire event database that will include fire events during shutdown. It is expected that a re-analysis of all of the shutdown fire frequency bins will be undertaken once the database has been completed. Hence, the fire frequencies presented here should be considered illustrative interim values.

• One event involving a gas-turbine was observed during LPSD operation that was not considered in the at-power analysis. Since the number of gas-turbines and corresponding experience base (i.e., total number of operating years) is not readily available, an ignition frequency for this bin is not estimated.

• Fires are not considered plausible inside inerted BWR containments in the at-power fire PRA. In contrast, several transient and hot work events have taken place inside BWR containments during shutdown, events not considered in the at-power analysis. Since BWR and pressurized water reactor (PWR) containments are quite different, a new bin is defined specifically for transient and hot-work fires in BWR containments (bin 3B) and the PWR containment transient and hot-work fire bin has been renamed (bin 3P rather than simply bin 3 as in the at-power set).

• Note that there is a short period of time during which BWRs, while still at-power, will typically begin containment de-inerting in advance of a planned outage.¹⁰ The corresponding time window is short (on the order of 24 hours) over which time the plant remains in mode 1 and the level of inerting (i.e., nitrogen concentration) is slowly reduced. There was no intent in the at-power fire PRA methodology to treat this unique transitional time period and no fire frequencies were calculated to support such analysis. However, it would be appropriate for BWRs to consider this transitional state as a part of a LPSD analysis. It is expected that insights from the shutdown mode containment fire analysis could be extrapolated to this transitional period just as at-power fire analysis results (e.g., fire growth, damage and suppression results) are extrapolated to LPSD conditions. Because entry into containment is still prohibited, any such analysis should consider the potential for fires involving cables, oil, and electrical equipment only (e.g., not hot work or transient fires).

• The shutdown frequencies are considered applicable to operation in modes 3-5. The power operation values are applicable to modes 1 and 2 (i.e., to start up, intermediate transitional power levels, operation at 100% power transitions, and the transition from at-power to shutdown prior to entering mode 3).

¹⁰ Based on insights from the tabletop exercise, typical BWR outage schedules call for initiation of containment deinerting efforts prior to the plant being taken off-line so that the inerted atmosphere does not become an obstacle to containment entry once the other environmental factors (e.g., temperature and radiation conditions) become amenable for entry. A 24 hour transition window was cited as typical.

Bin #	Location	Ignition Source (Equipment Type)
2	Containment (PWR)	Reactor Coolant Pump (RCP)
3P	Containment (PWR)	Transients and Hotwork
3B	Containment (BWR)	Transients and Hotwork
5	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Cable fires caused by welding and cutting
6	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting
7	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Transients
11	Plant-Wide Components	Cable fires caused by welding and cutting
20	Plant-Wide Components	Off-gas/Hydrogen Recombiner (BWR)
22	Plant-Wide Components	Reactor protection system (RPS) motor-generator (MG) Sets
24	Plant-Wide Components	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting
25	Plant-Wide Components	Transients
27	Transformer Yard	Transformer – Catastrophic
28	Transformer Yard	Transformer - Non Catastrophic
29	Transformer Yard	Yard transformers (Others)
31	Turbine Building	Cable fires caused by welding and cutting
32	Turbine Building	Main Feedwater Pumps
33*	Turbine Building	Turbine Generator (T/G) Exciter*
34	Turbine Building	T/G Hydrogen
35	Turbine Building	T/G Oil
36	Turbine Building	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting
37	Turbine Building	Transients

Table 1: Fire Ignition Frequency Bins Specific to LPSD Conditions.

* Bin #33 frequency was not quantified assuming that under all POS conditions, the main generator would not be generating power.

As in reference [1], the combination of locations and equipment types (ignition source) are referred to here as ignition frequency bins. Table 2 provides the list of these bins and their respective generic mean frequencies (i.e., the mean value of the uncertainty distribution) in terms of the number of events per year assuming that the plant is in the specific operating mode the entire year. Table 2 is the LPSD version of the original study (i.e., Table 6-1 of reference [1]). Most of the values presented in Table 2 are identical to those presented in reference [1]. New shutdown frequencies have been calculated here but only for those ignition frequency bins identified in Table 1. All of the other ignition source bins (i.e., those not in

Table 1) have simply been reproduced here directly from Table 6-1 of reference [1] with no change in value.

Appendix A describes the frequency analysis approach, assumptions and derivation method. The general approach is the same as that applied to the at-power fire frequency analysis. It should be noted that proposed modifications to various ignition source bins for at-power conditions have been put forth via the NFPA-805 Frequently Asked Questions (FAQ) process (see FAQ08-0048 in the NRC Agency-wide Documents Access and Management System (ADAMS) accession number ML092190457). The FAQ proposes that a change (reduction) in fire frequencies was observed after 1990 and recalculates fire frequencies on that basis. The analysis presented in this document (i.e., in Appendix A) uses the complete set of fire event data consistent with the original treatment in NUREG/CR-6850. That is, the analysis performed here does assume that general fire frequencies dropped beginning in 1990. This approach preserves a larger event set for the LPSD-specific fire frequency bins.

There is an ongoing effort between NRC/RES and EPRI to develop an enhanced fire event database that should resolve this frequency trend issue. The analyst should be aware that a new set of fire frequencies for both at-power and LPSD conditions will likely be developed in the near future.

As with the at-power analysis, a two-stage Bayesian update method [6] was used to account for plant-toplant variability. The 5th, 50th and 95th percentiles of the uncertainty distributions are also provided in Appendix A. As in at-power fire PRA, single stage Bayesian update methods can be used to modify the generic frequencies to reflect the influence of plant specific fire event experience.

As in reference [1], different fire types can be postulated for some of the ignition sources. For example, the bin "plant-wide components/pumps" can refer to both electric and oil fires. In those cases, Table 2 provides a split fraction for each fire type. The split fraction was determined according to fire events in the FEDB. Continuing with the plant-wide-components/pumps example, the pump fire events in the database were reviewed and classified as oil or electrical fires. This classification serves as the basis for the split fraction.

If the quantification process needs the fire frequency associated with a compartment, the following equation remains valid for the LPSD operating modes:

$$\lambda_{\rm J,L} = \Sigma \ \lambda_{\rm IS} \ {\rm W}_{\rm L} \ {\rm W}_{\rm IS,J,L}$$

where the right-hand side is summed over all ignition sources (IS) in compartment J of location L and where:

 $\lambda_{J,L}$ = Compartment (J) level fire frequency

 λ_{IS} = Plant-level fire frequency associated with ignition source IS

- W_L = Location weighting factor associated with the ignition source
- $W_{IS,J,L}$ = Ignition source weighting factor reflecting the quantity of the ignition source type present in compartment J of location L.

Note that the frequencies presented in Table 2 are instantaneous values that are assumed to remain constant over the POS. As presented in Section 3.0 above, the CDF calculated based on these frequencies should be adjusted for the fraction of the time that the plant is in the specific operating mode.

Plant-level fire frequencies (i.e., λ_{IS}) are either taken directly from Table 2 or can be updated using plantspecific fire experience. The location weighting factor, W_L , adjusts the frequencies for those situations where a common location (e.g. turbine building) or set of equipment types are shared between multiple units. The ignition source weighting factor, in general terms, is the fraction of an ignition source type found in a specific compartment. The discussions provided in reference [1] for these parameters apply to LPSD conditions as well.

4.6.2 Assumptions

The same set of assumptions as in reference [1] applies to LPSD fire ignition frequencies. Because of their importance, they are repeated below with specific comments relative to the LPSD fire PRA:

- Fire ignition frequencies remain constant over time.
- Among the plants, total ignition frequency is the same for the same equipment type, regardless of differences in the quantity and characteristics of the equipment type that may exist among the plants.

• Within each plant, the likelihood of fire ignition is the same across an equipment type. For example, pumps are assumed to have the same fire ignition frequency regardless of size, usage level, working environment, etc.

• The ignition frequency is the same among all POSs covered by a specific frequency value.

• The POSs covered by a frequency value are indicated in Table 2 under the column labeled "mode basis." For some fire ignition source bins, the fire frequencies are assumed to be the same for all modes of operation (modes 1-5) and in the table this is indicated as "Mode basis: All." For other cases, the frequencies are split between power operation POSs including low-power (i.e., modes 1 and 2) and shutdown POSs (modes 3-5) as indicated in Table 2 by "Mode Basis : Split."

• Clearly there are marked differences among the POSs that might influence the ignition frequencies. The level of detail provided in FEDB could not support a meaningful resolution among POSs. Therefore, one set of frequencies were estimated for all the SD POSs and, as noted above, in some cases these values are also the same for at-power conditions.

With respect to the last two assumptions in particular, these are based largely on (1) the manner in which fire events were binned for the at-power methodology (i.e., having included fire events occurring during plant start-up in particular) and (2) limitations to the current FEDB which contains insufficient detail to allow for a division of fire frequencies among various LPSD POSs. It may be possible to relax these assumptions in the future and the authors are aware of current efforts to update the EPRI FEDB. However, pending the outcome of the update effort, these assumptions are considered undesirable but necessary.

4.6.3 Procedure

The same procedure as in reference [1] applies to LPSD conditions. The following general conditions apply as in the at-power case:

• This task needs the list of unscreened PAUs generated in Task 4, Qualitative Screening, to establish fire frequencies by compartment. There is one aspect of this effort that is unique for the LPSD context as compared to the at-power context, and that has to do with where fires are assumed to occur. The general intent of the approach is to maintain a consistent set of potentially risk-relevant plant fire locations across all modes of plant operation.

• For the at-power analysis, fixed fire ignition sources are not counted in plant locations that fall within the global analysis boundary but are screened out qualitatively. This reflects the fact that fire events occurring in such areas (e.g., office buildings, security access areas, parking lots) are screened out of the fire frequency calculation. Similarly, transient and hot work fire frequencies are not allocated to these locations during the at-power analysis.

• For the LPSD analysis the decision to count or not count a location will not be made *on a POS basis*. As a result, in the LPSD analysis locations where fixed ignition sources *are* counted *may screen out qualitatively* for one or more LPSD POSs. The general expectation is that, unless new unscreened locations have been added during Task 1, the locations where fixed ignition sources are counted for the at-power fire PRA should match those counted for the LPSD fire PRA; that is, the

location set should be the same for all POSs. This approach will also maintain consistent fixed fire ignition source counts for all POSs.

• The numerical values assigned to location specific transients and hot work weighting factors will likely change depending on POS conditions (as discussed further below) but, in the same context, transient and hot work fires are apportioned plant-wide to the same set of fire locations for which fixed ignition source counts are obtained. Again, some of these locations may not contribute to risk for a given POS and may be screened out qualitatively.

• Fire event records available at the plant applicable to the bins defined in Table 1 may be used to update ignition frequencies of those bins using plant-specific data. (Note that it is assumed that the frequencies of the bins not included in Table 1 are already examined for plant specific fire experience and other conditions as part of the at-power fire PRA.)

• For consistency, all fire frequencies are reported on, in effect, a per-mode-year basis (i.e., as if the plant would operate in the given mode for a full year). No adjustments have been made for the *fraction* of time spent in any given operating mode. Rather, the frequencies use the total number of years logged by the U.S. reactor fleet either in all modes of plant operation (i.e., for bins that are assumed to be the same for at-power and SD conditions) or total years spent in SD operating modes (for bins where a unique SD value is given) as the basis for calculation.

• At least one plant or unit walkdown is recommended to identify ignition sources. The impact of the insights gained would be enhanced if multiple walkdowns are performed over the course of different outages and encompassing different POSs with those insights incorporated over time as a part of PRA maintenance efforts. In the case of LPSD, it is expected that transient and hot work related fire frequencies would be different from at-power conditions. Those parts of the plant where maintenance activities are planned may need to be examined carefully. Plant personnel involved in planning the outage may need to be consulted to establish the type and range of transient activities to establish the types of ignition sources that may be introduced in certain compartments. It is recommended that the analyst consult with outage planes and maintenance supervisors as a part of this effort. Consulting records from previous outages may also provide insights relative to both hot work activities and the introduction of transient combustibles.

Table 2: Fire frequency bins, generic frequencies and fire type split fractions for use in the analysis of shutdown modes of all the section for at moves and low nonzerian modes 1 and 2 for affection (for at nonzerial low nonzerial modes 1 and 2 for affection (1))

		High energy arc fault (HEAF)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	ype	Hydrogen	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	for Fire T	Ноtwork	0	0	0.61	0.71	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0
	it Fraction	Transient	0	0	0.39	0.29	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
([1] a)	Spl	liO	0	0.75	0	0	0	0	0	0	0.84	0.17	0	0	0	0	0	0
releren		Electrical	1	0.25	0	0	1	0	0	0	0.16	0.83	1	0	1	0	1	1
s 1 and 2 see		Generic Freq (per yr)	7.5E-04	6.6E-03	3.1E-02	3.5E-02	2.5E-03	1.2E-03	9.3E-03	4.7E-03	2.1E-02	2.4E-03	1.8E-03	8.8E-04	4.4E-03	2.6E-03	4.6E-03	4.5E-02
wer operation mode		Mode Basis for Frequency Calculations (All Modes or Split – see text)	All	Split	Split	Split / Shutdown modes only	All	Split	Split	Split	All	All	All	Split	All	All	All	All
on (Ior at-power and low-pov		Ignition Source (Equipment Type)	Batteries	Reactor Coolant Pump	Transients and Hotwork	Transients and Hotwork	Main Control Board (MCB)	Cable fires caused by welding and cutting	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transients	Diesel Generators	Air Compressor	Battery Chargers	Cable fires caused by welding and cutting	Cable Run (Self-ignited cable fires)	Dryers	Electric Motors	Electrical Cabinets
plant operati		Location	Battery Room	Containment (PWR)	Containment (PWR)	Containment (BWR)	MCR	Control/Auxiliary/Reac tor Building	Control/Auxiliary/Reac tor Building	Control/Auxiliary/Reac tor Building	Diesel Generator Room	Plant-Wide Components	Plant-Wide Components	Plant-Wide Components	Plant-Wide Components	Plant-Wide Components	Plant-Wide Components	Plant-Wide Components
		#	1	2	3P	3B	4	5	6	7	8	6	10	11	12	13	14	15

se in the analysis of shutdown modes of	reletence [1]) (continueu)	Culit Fraction for Fire Tyme
for us	n 7 966	
ictions	2 T AII	
lit fra	anom	
pe spl ±Ωn :	IIIOI	
re tyl	pera	
nd fi	wer u	
cies a	nd-w	
dueno		
ic fre	VEL A	
eneri	nd-1	
ins, g	(IUI a	
ncy b	IIIIII	
anba.	opera	
ire fi	liant	
e 2: F	4	
Lable		

-																		
		High energy arc fault (HEAF)	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	ype	Hydrogen	0	1	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
(na)	for Fire T	Ноtwork	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0
Continua	it Fraction	Transient	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0
cf l l an	Spl	liO	0	0	0	0	0	0.46	0	1	0	0	0	0.05	1	0	0	1
		Electrical	0	0	1	0	0	0.54	1	0	1	0	0	0.95	0	1	1	0
s 1 ann 7 see		Generic Freq (per yr)	1.5E-03	1.7E-03	1.9E-03	2.5E-03	2.0E-02	2.1E-02	3.2E-03	0.015.02	сп-дғ. <i>е</i>	1.1E-02	5.8E-03	7.4E-03	7.2E-03	3.8E-03	2.0E-03	1.1E-03
ver operation mou		Mode Basis for Frequency Calculations (All Modes or Split – see text)	All	All	All	All	Split	All	Split	Ţ	III	Split	Split	All	Split	Split	Split	All
oll (101 at-power allu 10w-po		Ignition Source (Equipment Type)	High Energy Arcing Faults ¹	Hydrogen Tanks	Junction Boxes	Misc. Hydrogen Fires	Off-gas/Hydrogen recombiner (BWR)	Pumps	RPS MG sets	Transformers (Oil filled)	Transformers (Dry)	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transients	Ventilation Subsystems	Transformer - catastrophic	Transformer - noncatastrophic	Yard Transformers (others)	Boiler
prant oper au		Location	Plant-Wide Components	Plant-Wide Components	Plant-Wide Components	Plant-Wide Components	Plant-Wide Components	Plant-Wide Components	Plant-Wide Components	Plant-Wide Components	Plant-Wide Components	Plant-Wide Components	Plant-Wide Components	Plant-Wide Components	Transformer Yard	Transformer Yard	Transformer Yard	Turbine Building
		Bin #	16	17	18	19	20	21	22	23a	23b	24	25	26	27	28	29	30

			High energy arc fault (HEAF)	0	0	0	0	0	0
odes of		ype	Нуdrogen	0	0	0	1	0	0
down m	(pa)	for Fire T	Ноtwork	1	0	0	0	0	0
of shut	(continu	it Fraction	Transient	0	0	0	0	0	1
analysis	ce [1]) (Spl	liO	0	1	0	0	1	0
se in the	referen		Electrical	0	0	1	0	0	0
actions for us	es 1 and 2 see		Generic Freq (per yr)	1.3E-03	1.9E-03	6.2E-04	3.0E-03	2.5E-03	2.2E-02
nd fire type split fr	v bins, generic frequencies and fire type split fra on (for at-power and low-power operation mode		Mode Basis for Frequency Calculations (All Modes or Split – see text)	Split	Split	Power modes only	Split	Split	Split
y bins, generic frequencies a			Ignition Source (Equipment Type)	Cable fires caused by welding and cutting	Main feedwater pumps	T/G exciter	T/G hydrogen	T/G oil	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting
able 2: Fire frequenc	plant operati		Location	Turbine Building	Turbine Building	Turbine Building	Turbine Building	Turbine Building	Turbine Building
L			Bin #	31	32	33	34	35	36

nalysis of shutdown modes	:[1]) (continued)
he a	ence
in t	efer
use	see r
for	d 2 s
ions	lan
ract	des
plit 1	mo
Table 2: Fire frequency bins, generic frequencies and fire type sp	plant operation (for at-power and low-power operation

37

0

0

0

-

0

0

1.0E-02

Split

Transients

Turbine Building

As in reference [1], this task is organized around the following eight steps:

- Step 1 Mapping plant ignition sources to generic sources,
- Step 2 Plant fire event data collection and review,
- Step 3 Plant specific updates of generic ignition frequencies,
- Step 4 Mapping plant-specific locations to generic locations,
- Step 5 Location weighting factors,
- Step 6 Fixed fire ignition source counts,
- Step 7 Ignition source weighting factors, and
- Step 8 Ignition source and compartment fire frequency evaluation.

These steps are further discussed below:

• Step 1: Mapping Plant Ignition Sources to Generic Sources

This step should already be completed as part of the at-power fire PRA. That is, the characteristics of fixed ignition sources in the plant should not change based on POS in the context of this step. If any new plant locations have been added to the LPSD study, then some additional mapping may be required.

Note that some consideration will be needed for temporary equipment brought in to support a planned outage (e.g., compressors, generators, welding sets, pumps, etc.). It is possible, but not recommended, to establish a revised ignition source count for each such class of equipment whenever substantial temporary equipment is brought into the plant. This would reduce the individual fire source frequency values by a very modest amount in most cases (i.e., the population of temporary equipment will likely be small compared to the normal population of equivalent items). There is a substantial advantage to maintaining consistent fixed ignition source counts across all POSs and from outage to outage. As an alternative to updating the fixed source counts to include temporary equipment, it is recommended that temporary equipment be assigned a fire frequency equal to that applied to any single item of a similar type that is fixed in the plant without altering the based equipment count. This approach will result in a very modest conservatism relative to fire frequency.

Also note that some smaller items that may be introduced into the plant would fall under the umbrella of potential transient ignition sources rather than fixed equipment items. This would include items such as a small hand-portable compressor. It is recommended that only larger equipment items (e.g., skid-mounted equipment or equipment that requires mechanized handling equipment such as a fork-lift, crane or pallet jack) be treated as if they were fixed ignition sources. The smaller hand-portable equipment items should be classified as potential transient ignition sources.

• Step 2: Plant Fire Event Data Collection and Review

For fire event data collection and review, the same approach as that presented in reference [1] can be followed for LPSD operating modes. In this case the fire events that had occurred during LPSD operating modes are collected and analyzed. The same two questions, as in at-power case apply here:

- (1) Are there any unusual fire occurrence patterns in the plant?
- (2) Is plant-specific fire frequency evaluation warranted?

Guidance provided in reference [1] on determining the response to these two questions applies to LPSD operating modes as well. Recall that in performing the event review, the POS at the time of the fire is of interest and currently would be either power operations (modes 1 and 2) or shutdown operations (all other modes).

• Step 3: Plant Specific Updates of Generic Ignition Frequencies

As in reference [1], this step should be followed for those frequencies that will be updated based on plant-specific fire event data. The approach described in reference [1] applies here with the exception of one minor difference. The generic bin frequencies can be updated using a Bayesian approach [6] that includes Poisson distribution for the likelihood function of plant specific fire events. The Poisson distribution requires number of reactor years (T). In the case of LPSD operating modes, this should be the total time that the affected unit has been in LPSD operating modes since commercial operation (i.e., "reactor-in-LPSD-years" rather than "reactor-at-at-power-years.").

• Step 4: Mapping Plant-Specific Locations to Generic Locations

The location mapping of the at-power fire PRA should be validated for LPSD specific conditions. For example, in the case of the BWRs, the containment may need to be added to the list because maintenance work may be scheduled inside the containment.

Step 5: Location Weighting Factor

Plant configuration may be reviewed to verify that changes planned for LPSD conditions do not affect W_L . For example, if Unit 1 is shutdown with several systems under maintenance and part of Unit 2 systems are used to provide the necessary functions, the fire PRA analyst may need to include parts of Unit 2 in the Unit 1 analysis. In such a case, the analyst should define the method for counting ignition sources carefully so that relevant compartments and ignition sources from Unit 2 can be correctly included in the Unit 1 LPSD fire PRA. To further expand this example, consider 10 pumps in Units 1 and 2 each and two of the Unit 2 pumps are being used for Unit 1 service during a specific LPSD operating mode. Also, consider that those two pumps are located in the same compartment, J, with 3 other Unit 2 pumps (total of 5 pumps). The fire ignition frequency in that compartment associated with pump operation would then be calculated by the following equation:

$$\lambda_{J, pump} = \lambda_{bin \ 21} \ x \ W_{IS, J, L} \ x \ W_{L}$$

where:

- $\lambda_{bin 21} = 2.1 \times 10^{-2}$ per reactor year, frequency of a fire from any one of the pumps in one of the two units.
- $W_{IS, J, L} = 5/20$ Fraction of the pumps present in this room with respect to all the pumps in the two units
- $W_L = 2$ The correction factor for counting both units in the total pump count
- Step 6: Fixed Fire Ignition Source Counts:

To estimate the frequency of fire occurrence per ignition source or per compartment, it is necessary to obtain the total number of items within a unit that belong to each bin. The counting approaches recommended in reference [1] augmented by responses to the FAQs generated after the publication of reference [1] should apply to LPSD operating modes. Generally, the number of countable items (e.g. pumps and electrical cabinets) should remain the same between at-power and LPSD conditions. However, for those bins for which LPSD specific ignition frequencies are established, the analyst should review the equipment configurations during LPSD conditions to verify that at-power counts remain valid. Transients and hot work related ignition source weighting factors could be different during LPSD operating modes, which is discussed as part of Step 7 below.

It is expected that various temporary components may be introduce in the plant site. This would typically include air compressors, ventilation fans, electric generators, and other similar equipment that would normally fall under the umbrella of various fixed ignition source bins. The treatment of these items for fire frequency needs some consideration. It is expected that relatively few such items

will be introduced so that revising the plant-wide component counts would yield minimal changes. As an alternative, it is recommended that temporary items of this type simply be assigned a frequency consistent with one such item based on the nominal population count obtained for the at-power analysis. This would result in a very modestly conservative frequency value for such items, but would substantially reduce the work burden.

• Step 7: Ignition Source Weighting Factors:

The Ignition source weighting factor, $W_{IS,J,L}$, is the fraction of ignition source (IS) that is present in compartment J. The $W_{IS,J,L}$ are evaluated for all the ignition sources identified in Step 1 of this task and all the compartments identified in Task 1. The bins listed in the preceding section can be classified in three categories: countable items, transients, and large systems. The procedure presented in reference [1] for all three types of items should apply to LPSD operating modes.

It is anticipated that the relative likelihood of transient and hot-work related fires in various plant locations will shift during LPSD operations as compared to at-power operation and the analysis should account for these differences. Transient combustible controls programs are expected to be maintained during shutdown much as they are during power operations, although the restrictions (e.g., combustible material limits) may be relaxed in specific locations and a larger number of combustible material permits are likely to be issued. Transient materials not expected to be found during at-power operations (e.g., larger quantities of grease or oil and various equipment packing materials) may be introduced into the plant given that a range of longer-term maintenance activities will be undertaken. Hot work (e.g., welding and cutting) may be allowed in locations where that type of work would normally be disallowed during power operations. Plant traffic and occupancy factors would also be different.

It is in practice possible that plant practices relative to allowing hot work and transients in specific locations may shift from outage to outage or even within an outage. For example, the practices may be different for locations associated with the available or operating equipment train(s) as compared to locations associated with an out-of-service train. Given that the status of equipment trains may change from outage to outage or within an outage, the potential for hot work and transient fires might also change. One suggestion arising from the tabletop exercise was to allow for a matrix approach to transient and hot work ranking that would equate the ranking factors to POSs or to train availability/outage status. This would substantially complicate the weighting factor approach, but may be appropriate especially given plant practices that would tie the hot work and transient permitting system to equipment status (e.g., protected train type approaches). No development work on this concept has yet been undertaken.

As a result, for the ignition source bins related to "general transients" (i.e., bins 3A, 3B, 7, 25 and 37), "transient fires caused by welding and cutting" (i.e., bins 6, 24, and 36) and "cable fires caused by welding and cutting" (i.e., bins 5, 11 and 31) the influencing factors assigned to each compartment should be adjusted to reflect the specific LPSD conditions. This will require updating of the location-specific frequencies accordingly. For example, for those compartments where maintenance work is planned, "very high" may be assigned to the maintenance factor. For the passageways that lead to that compartment, the occupancy factor could be "high" as well.

The recommended approach to assigning activity-related weighting factors is to begin with the atpower designations for each location and to adjust those factors to reflect the outage conditions. If the general trend is towards a greater level of such activities, this would imply that the "typical" ranking value, which for at-power conditions was expected to be "3", might be higher when analyzing shutdown conditions (e.g., an assigned value of 10 or 50 would likely be more common). The weighting factor approach self-corrects to maintain the overall plant-wide fire frequency, but the assigned ranking factors would also reflect activity levels for specific locations under at-power versus shutdown conditions. One final correction factor should be applied for activity-related fires that may be plausible only during a specific fraction of an outage. There is no intent to force an analysis of activity related fires for POSs where the corresponding activities are precluded by the plant conditions. In particular, transient and hot work fires inside containment should only be postulated during POSs where the containment is accessible to plant personnel doing maintenance work (i.e., hot work or work involving introduction of transient combustibles). However, if this approach is taken, then the fire frequencies would need correction in order to preserve the total fire frequency. This correction would be a simple multiplier based on the fraction of the total outage duration that the fire source is considered plausible. To illustrate, if transient and hot work fires inside containment are only postulated when the containment is open and accessible, and that condition is active for 90% of an outage, then the corresponding hot work and transient fire frequencies would be multiplied by (1.0/0.9 = 1.1) to correct for the shortened time window.

• Step 8: Ignition Source and Compartment Fire Frequency

Fire frequencies (generic or plant-specific) for a single fire ignition source, λ_{IS-J} , and fire frequencies for an entire PAU (i.e., considering the combined frequency for all ignition sources in the PAU) are calculated using the same process as was described in reference [1].

4.7 Task 7: Quantitative Screening

The objective of this task is to apply quantitative screening criteria to reduce the list of PAUs and fire scenarios carried forward for detailed analysis. This is an important task used commonly in fire PRA to limit the level of effort and yet maintain the integrity of the analysis. Screening does not imply *removing* a PAU or fire scenario from the analysis. Rather screening simply implies that no further analysis effort (e.g., to increase the level of analysis detail) will be expended on that scenario or PAU. The CDF and LERF of the screened PAU or scenario would be based on the existing level of detail (a screening result) and the risk contribution would be ranked among all other PAUs and fire scenarios on that basis.

For at-power PRA, screening criteria are defined in reference [1] for CDF, LERF, incremental core damage probability (ICDP) and incremental large early release probability (ILERP). The same criteria may be used for LPSD fire PRA. For ease of reference, the criteria presented in reference [1] are repeated here in Tables 3 and 4. Note that the quantitative measures (e.g., CDF) are expressed in reactor years, which means that they *include the fraction of time that the plant is in the postulated POS*.

Also note that screening based on ICDP and ILERP are considered *optional* in the at-power methodology and are also considered optional for the LPSD fire PRA. These concepts generally derive from certain risk applications, such as an on-line risk monitor, and involve screening that is based on the sensitivity of the risk results (CDF and LERF) to the availability of credited mitigating equipment on a train or system level.¹¹ For such applications, there may be unique perceptions of risk importance for a PAU that would be captured by the optional screening criteria.

The criteria presented in Tables 3 and 4 may be met by reducing the duration of a POS. One then may argue that defense in depth can be reduced significantly while meeting the screening criteria. Defense in depth related and all other regulatory requirements remain in effect during a POS. The PRA provides a measure to establish the overall risk and relative ranking of various contributors that can be used to determine if added risk reduction measures are necessary and where those measures can be most effective.

¹¹ The ICDP and ILERP screening approaches are explained more fully in NUREG/CR-5593, *Risk Comparisons of Scheduling Preventive Maintenance for Boiling Water Reactors During Shutdown and Power Operations*, U.S. NRC, April 1999.

Quantification Type	CDF and LERF Compartment Screening Criteria	ICDP and ILERP Compartment Screening Criteria (Optional)
	CDF < 1.0E-07/year*	
PAU CDF	Note: This criterion should be reduced, as necessary, to ensure that the CDF criterion in Table 4 is met.	
DALLODE with Integet		ICDP < 1.0E-7
Trains/Systems Unavailable		Note: This criterion should be reduced, as necessary, to ensure that the ICDP criterion in Table 4 is met
	LERF < 1.0E-08/year*	
PAU LERF	Note: This criterion should be reduced, as necessary, to ensure that the LERF criterion in Table 4 is met	
PAU LERF with Intact Trains/Systems Unavailable		ILERP < 1.0E-8 Note: This criterion should be reduced, as necessary, to ensure that the ILERP criterion in Table 4 is met

 Table 3: Quantitative Screening Criteria for Single PAU Analysis.

* All quantitative measures include the fraction of time that the plant is in the postulated POS.

Table 4: Quantitative Screening Criteria for All Screened PAUs (cumulative).

Quantification Type	Screening Criteria
Sum of CDFs for all screened out PAUs for each POS (or POS group) analyzed	< 0.1 * [Internal Event CDF for the same POS (or POS group)]
Sum of LERFs for all screened out PAUs for each POS (or POS group) analyzed	< 0.1 * [Internal Event LERF for the same POS (or POS group)]
Sum of ICDPs for all screened out PAUs for each POS (or POS group) analyzed	< 1.0E-06
Sum of ILERPs for all screened out PAUs for each POS (or POS group) analyzed	< 1.0E-07

It should be noted that these are suggested screening criteria. The question of LPSD quantitative screening criteria is expected to evolve as the analysis methods mature. Hence, the recommended screening criteria presented here are largely illustrative in nature but parallel those commonly uses in at-power analyses. Also note that the cumulative screening criteria presented in Table 4 compare the LPSD fire PRA to the corresponding internal events LPSD analysis results on a POS by POS basis. The intent of the criteria in Table 4 is to ensure that the total risk contribution for PAUs screened out from the fire PRA analysis (i.e., for all screened PAUs combined) does not exceed certain limits that are set based on the internal events LPSD risk results. This approach is intended, in part, to maintain consistency with this document's neutrality relative to how the POSs to be analyzed are defined, and in particular, with how complete the POS set is. This screening approach works equally well whether the analysis quantifies a complete set of very specific POSs, quantifies a smaller set of grouped POSs, quantifies a generally

defined set of average outage conditions, or quantifies just one POS. Moreover, if a large number of PAUs meet the criteria in Table 3, it may not be possible to meet the criteria presented in Table 4. The analyst may encounter this situation after a few screening phases. To meet Table 4 criteria, the analyst may need to adjust Table 3 criteria downward (make the criteria more stringent).

As in reference [1], it should be emphasized that the screening criteria are meant to be applied as part of the fire PRA Model building and quantifying process. The screening criteria are not the same, nor should they be confused with the acceptance criteria for applications of PRA. For example, the screening criteria herein are not directly correlated to the delta-CDF and delta-LERF criteria used in Regulatory Guide 1.174 [7] for the acceptability of making permanent changes to the plant. The screening criteria <u>are</u> intended to complement the Regulatory Guide (RG) 1.174 criteria and to allow for the use of fire PRA results in a RG 1.174 application, but they are also intended to serve the broader objectives of a typical fire PRA.

The overall approach described in reference [1] is applicable to LPSD conditions. The same assumptions and input and output discussions apply here as well. Several stages of quantitative screening are expected to be necessary to identify plant areas that need detailed analysis and establish risk ranking of PAUs and fire scenarios. Four phases of quantitative screening are identified in reference [1] (Tasks 7A through 7D) based on implementation of Tasks 8 through 10 of the methodology. The same phases may be used in LPSD fire PRA. Clearly, conducting a screening phase would depend on the analyst's preferences and the results of each task (i.e., Tasks 8 through 10).

• Step 1–Quantify CDF Model:

The model developed in Task 5 is quantified in this step. The CCDP is quantified first followed by CDF. This step involves 3 sub-steps as follows.

• Step 1.1: Quantify CCDP Model: The CCDP is calculated by setting the fire scenario frequency as 1.0 per reactor year. Event trees and fault trees are quantified using internal events failure probabilities and human error probabilities (HEPs) estimated in Task 12. In the initial stages of screening, the circuit failure probabilities may be set at 1.0 and screening HEPs may be used (see Task 12). In later stages of screening, more refined values may be used. The outcome of this step is a list of PAUs and fire scenarios organized by CCDP. This result provides an important insight into fire risk significance of a PAU or scenario.

• Step 1.2: Quantify CDFs: CDF results can be calculated for a single fire scenario, for a group of fire scenarios (e.g., a group of electrical cabinets), for a PAU, or for the entire plant. Quantitative screening is generally based at the fire scenarios and/or PAU level. For quantification, the fire frequency is matched to the screening level applied (e.g., fire frequency might reflect a single fire source, a group of fire sources, or an entire PAU). The CDF of a specific POS is calculated using the following equation (from Section 3.0 above):

 $CDF_{POS(i)} = CDFPOS(i) \times ft_{POS(i)}$

Where:

 $CDF_{POS(i)} = \lambda_{fire} x CCDP_{POS(i)}$

 λ_{fire} = The fire frequency of the PAU or fire scenario (depending on screening level being applied) from Task 6 or Task 11 per reactor year.

 $CCDP_{POS(i)}$ = The CCDP of POS(i) calculated in Step 1.1 above.

The fraction of time that POS(i) is in effect (i.e., $ft_{POS(i)}$) is estimated in this step and used in CDF calculation.

In the first quantitative screening stage, the frequency (i.e., λ_{fire}) would be gleaned from Task 6 where fire frequencies are estimated at the PAU level. At later stages of analysis, the refined fire

frequency calculated in Task 11 is used. By applying the screening criteria discussed above, PAUs or fire scenarios are set aside from further analysis.

• Step 1.3: Quantify ICDP Values (Optional): This is an optional task that may not be applicable to LPSD conditions since Limiting Conditions of Operation (LCOs) may not be applicable. The same approach may be used as in reference [1] to define and calculate ICDP values.

• Step 2–Quantify LERF Model:

The same formulations and process as for CDF can be used to establish the LERF for each PAU or fire scenario. Similar to Step 1, this step is defined in three substeps where CLERP is calculated first. Similar to CDF, LERF is calculated as the product of CLERP, fire frequency (i.e., λ_{fire}) and fraction of time POS is in effect (i.e., ft_{POS(i)}).

• Step 3–Quantitative Screening:

In this step, the CDF, LERF, ICDP (optional), and ILERP (optional) values are compared against the quantitative screening criteria provided in Tables 3 and 4. PAUs and fire scenarios that fall below the screening criteria are screened out from further analysis but retained for overall risk quantification and risk ranking of significant contributors. As this screening task progresses, the analyst may have to reduce the criteria presented in Table 3 to allow the results to meet Table 4 criteria.

4.8 Task 8: Scoping Fire Modeling

4.8.1 General Discussion

Scoping fire modeling is the first task where computational fire modeling tools are used to identify those fixed ignition sources that may impact the fire risk of the plant. Note that transient related ignition sources are not examined in this task. Screening some of the fixed ignition sources, along with the application of severity factors to the unscreened ones, may reduce the compartment fire frequency previously calculated in Task 6.

The process for completing the LPSD fire PRA Scoping Fire Modeling Task is fundamentally the same as the at-power analysis described in reference [1]. The analysis considers the potential for each fire ignition source to induce either fire spread to secondary combustibles or damage to PRA targets (equipment and cables) without fire spread.

For this task, the analyst may, in fact, be able to draw upon results obtained in the at-power fire PRA to a large extent. The nature of the fires associated with fixed fire sources may be independent of the plant operating mode. The nature and proximity of fixed secondary combustibles are also unlikely to change. The primary challenge may lie in two areas; namely, changes to the nature or location of PRA targets and potential changes to the configuration or characteristics of certain types of fixed fire ignition sources.

In the case of PRA targets, several factors could change the relationship between ignition source and target. LPSD fire PRA targets may exist in locations that do not contain at-power fire PRA targets. The damage targets of concern may also change depending on the POS being analyzed, so the analysis needs to either bound all POSs or consider each POS separately. Damage targets may also be of a different type than were considered in the at-power analysis (e.g., a different type of cable or presence of electronic equipment rather than cables as the most easily damaged target).

The second factor that should be considered is the possibility of altered conditions of a fixed ignition source. Altered conditions may lead to a fire more severe than the most severe conditions postulated in at-power analysis for a given ignition source. For example, an electrical cabinet that is normally fully enclosed during at-power operations may be operated with the doors open during a specific POS (e.g., to allow for maintenance or monitoring activities). Opening the cabinet door increases the potential fire

intensity and the potential for fire spread outside the cabinet. This could, in turn, affect other aspects of the fire scenario including time to detection and time to fire damage.

4.8.2 Crediting Equipment Operational Status

Altered equipment conditions might also effectively preclude specific types of fires with certain types of ignition sources. For example, a bus duct that has been de-energized during a particular POS cannot act as a source of a high energy arc fault (HEAF) and fire. Other types of equipment that are fully shut down during specific POSs might also preclude, or sharply limit, certain types of fires. For example, an electrical motor fire would not be considered plausible for a motor that is never energized during a particular POS because it is the electric potential that creates the fire hazard.

Whether or not special treatment is warranted for de-energized or non-operating equipment should be determined on a case-specific basis. That is, the analyst should make the argument for elimination or modification of a specific fire ignition source (or a specific type of fire for a given fire ignition source; e.g., electrical fires for a pump) based on the plant configuration and equipment status. The results could then be factored into the scoping fire modeling analysis by incorporating the modified fire characteristics or by screening out the fire source.

There is a substantive difference between at-power and LPSD conditions that impacts the viability of this approach. For the at-power fire PRA, de-energizing plant equipment is not considered as a mitigating factor in the potential for fires to occur [1] largely because the analysis should span all potential operating configurations which could include swapping of active and standby equipment trains. Demonstrating that a specific set of equipment would never be operated or energized during power operations is quite difficult for most of the equipment of interest. The approach is more viable for LPSD plant operations because a broader range of plant equipment will be deenergized and non-operational during certain POSs. For example, unless the plant is actively generating electric power, the turbine generator exciter will not be active, the turbine lube oil system will not be pressurized, and the iso-phase bus duct will be deenergized. For various LPSD POSs, a broad range of reactor systems will be shut down and non-operational (e.g., high pressure flow and inventory control systems during refueling).

As a result, LPSD conditions present a greater opportunity to credit equipment status as a factor in fire likelihood because it will be easier to demonstrate that certain equipment will, in fact, be non-operational and/or deenergized. This is especially true and potentially advantageous for analyses built on a foundation of specific POSs able to deal with specific equipment line-ups. For a detailed outage-specific approach, the analysis could include consideration of the fire potential of equipment based on whether or not that equipment is energized and/or operating (e.g., whether or not electrical potentials are present or whether or not oil systems are pressurized). If the analysis is based on an *average POS* approach, it will be more difficult to argue that certain types of equipment will never be energized. In particular, the analysis would likely not be able to take advantage of train outages for LPSD equipment, but might still take advantage of the shutdown of other equipment exclusively associated with power operations (e.g., BOP equipment).

This concept does, however, introduce complications that cannot currently be fully treated. For example, the approach described above is <u>not</u> equivalent to simply not counting a particular component when developing fire frequencies. Instead, the recommended approach is to count the equipment but to make case- and POS-specific arguments to reduce fire frequencies or to eliminate fire scenarios for specific items under certain conditions. This does introduce an inconsistency in the analysis in that the total plant wide fire frequency for a given class of equipment may not be preserved. The alternative would be to develop unique equipment counts for each POS or even for each phase of a given POS (e.g., with phases associated with periods of specific equipment outages within a POS). This type of approach is not considered practical. In contrast, to ignore equipment operational status entirely would likely mean that unrealistic fire scenarios are carried forward as contributors to fire risk. The recommended approach is a compromise that allows for equipment operating mode to be incorporated into the analysis on a case-

specific basis without over-complicating the problem. The results are expected to more accurately reflect real-world plant conditions and risk, albeit at the cost of minor fire frequency accounting errors.

Specific potential considerations in this regard are as follows:

• Portions of a circuit that are isolated from electric power during a particular POS would not be subject to electrical fires. Note that consideration should be given to both power circuits and control circuits. As an example, even if a switchgear breaker is "racked out," if control power remains available, a potential for electrical fires also remains.¹² However, a switchgear breaker that is "racked out" would deenergize the power circuits and cables fed by that breaker eliminating the potential for electrical fires in the downstream power circuits.

Some lubrication systems may be depressurized during various LPSD POSs. No specific analysis of oil fires in pressurized versus non-pressurized systems has been conducted so it is not possible to speculate on the impact of system pressurization on fire frequencies. Note that for some specific cases LPSD specific fire frequencies have been calculated (i.e., main feedwater pump oil fires and turbine generator lube oil fires) while other cases assume the same fire frequency for all modes of plant operation. In general, two types of oil fires are possible; namely, oil spills burning as a pool fire and pressure-driven oil spray fires. For a normally pressurized oil system that is de-pressurized during LPSD conditions, the potential for an oil spray fire becomes localized to system elements subject to a static pressure head (e.g., leaks at a low-elevation outlet valve on a storage tank). For locations not subject to a static pressure head, a spill consistent with leakage from a non-pressurized system should be assumed. It is common practice to locate oil reservoirs at a relatively low point in the system so much of the system piping for a normally pressurized system will likely be at or near atmospheric conditions when the system is de-pressurized. Some system elements may also be drained of oil. For locations that retain oil, a reduced pressure would also impact potential leak rates. A review of any oil fire scenarios postulated in the at-power fire PRA is recommended to ensure that the assumed fire conditions and characteristics are consistent with the actual status of the lubricating system.

In general, most aspects of the ignition frequency analysis need not be revisited. In particular, deenergized equipment would not need to be removed from the equipment type counts in Task 6 in order to take advantage of these approaches. This recommendation is based on the notion that the Task 6 approach to estimating ignition frequencies inherently reflects the fact that any given piece of equipment will cycle through periods of both in and out of service times. The method does not attempt to estimate, for example, pump operating years but rather uses reactor years as the frequency basis. In the specific case of the LPSD analysis, specific equipment line-ups are likely based on the POS definition, and it would be appropriate to reflect a known line-up to the extent feasible in the risk evaluation.

Beyond these possible modifications, the general task objectives and approach for Task 8 remain the same for LPSD fire PRA. The only differences are that in the application of Table 8-1 of reference [1] where one new bin is introduced; namely, Bin 3B, Containment BWR - transients and hot work. Like other transient and hot work fire frequency bins, these ignition sources cannot be screened out in this task. Note again that this task focuses only on fixed ignition sources.

¹² Note that non-operational equipment might still be vulnerable to fire-induced spurious actuation, but this would be a potential consequence of a fire involving some other fire ignition source and not a factor that would contribute to the potential for fire ignition.

4.9 Task 9: Detailed Circuit Failure Analysis

This is the second phase of circuit analysis where circuit operation and functionality are examined to determine equipment responses to specific cable failure modes. These relationships are then used to further refine the original cable selection by screening out cables that cannot prevent a component from completing its credited function. The approach presented in reference [1] should also apply to LPSD conditions. Since control circuits are not generally altered during any LPSD POS, it is anticipated that the analysis done and information generated as part of at-power fire PRA would also be applicable to LPSD conditions. However, it is recommended that as in Task 3, the information obtained from at-power fire PRA be reviewed carefully to verify that it is applicable to the specific conditions imposed by the postulated LPSD POS(s).

In a LPSD fire PRA additional circuits may be identified needing a detailed analysis. The same methodology as that described in Chapter 9 of reference [1] can be applied here to conduct that analysis. This includes adding the new information to the circuit failure data base created as part of at-power fire PRA.

As in at-power fire PRA, the output of this task supports the quantitative screening process under Task 7.

4.10 Task 10: Circuit Failure Mode Likelihood Analysis

The purpose of this task is to estimate the failure mode probabilities of circuits that are identified in the previous tasks for further analysis. As noted in reference [1], the methods and data for deriving circuit failure probabilities are based on limited information and the field continues to evolve. The analyst is encouraged to use the latest information, if this task is included in a LPSD fire PRA.

There is no reason to conclude that the methods and underlying test data used for estimating circuit failure probabilities should be different between at-power and LPSD POS conditions. Therefore, the discussions provided in Chapter 10 of reference [1] should apply to LPSD conditions as well. The assumptions provided in Section 10.3.2 of reference [1] are also applicable to LPSD conditions, except that some of the circuits may be de-energized during a specific POS.

It is anticipated that the majority of circuits that would be identified in Task 9 of LPSD fire PRA for further analysis would have already been addressed in the at-power fire PRA. It is recommended that the existing analyses be reviewed to ensure that all underlying assumptions remain valid under the specific conditions of the LPSD POS. For example, if the analyst adjusted a probability value because of special conditions affecting a cable, the LPSD analysis should confirm that those special conditions remain valid during the postulated POS.

4.11 Task 11: Detailed Fire Modeling

4.11.1 Purpose and Scope

Detailed fire modeling provides the final estimates for the frequency of occurrence of fire scenarios involving a specific fire ignition source failing a predefined target set before fire protection succeeds in protecting this target set. This result is combined in the final quantification steps that follow this task, with the CCDP/CLERP given failure of the target set to estimate the CDF/LERF contribution for each fire scenario. The CCDP/CLERP may include modified human error probabilities based on fire scenario specifics.

The detailed fire modeling process generally follows a common structure, but the details of the analyses often vary depending on the specifics of the postulated fire scenario. This chapter addresses three general categories of fire scenarios: fires affecting target sets located inside one compartment; fires affecting the

main control room (MCR); and fires affecting target sets located in more than one PAU (multi-compartment fire analysis).

For LPSD fire PRA, the detailed fire modeling process is generally the same as the RES/EPRI at-power fire PRA methodology in reference [1]. The same input and output information applies. Focused walkdowns are an important part of this task. The supporting information provided in the Appendices of reference [1] is also applicable¹³. Clearly, the analyst should use the latest information applicable to each scenario analysis. Though the general fire modeling approach and process is essentially unchanged between LPSD and at-power, the plant configuration will impact the choice of fire scenario damage targets, and may alter the relationship between fire source and damage targets (e.g., relative locations, damage thresholds, and intervening combustibles). These changes could in turn alter the objectives and results of the detailed fire modeling task. Therefore, to the extent that fire source and target relationships change, fire modeling analyses may need to be repeated for different POSs to ensure that all POS specific factors are incorporated and evaluated.

The ultimate output of Task 11 is a set of fire scenarios, each including:

- a defined fire ignition source;
- a defined target set consisting of those LPSD fire PRA components and cables that are subject to fire-induced damage given ignition of the fire ignition source;
- an estimate of the frequency of fires involving the defined fire ignition source leading to loss of the defined target set (including the fire ignition frequency, applicable severity factors, and corresponding non-suppression probability values); and
- an examination of forced abandonment scenarios involving fire in the MCR or in other plant areas that could lead to MCR abandonment (i.e., due to loss of MCR functions).

4.11.2 General Approach.

The general approach to fire scenario modeling remains the same for the LPSD fire PRA as in the atpower fire PRA [1]. Figure 2 provides a block diagram of the overall process. Note that the step definitions are the same as those cited in reference [1]. Clearly, the special conditions of each POS should be taken into account when conducting each step, but the nature and objectives of each step remain unchanged.

One approach that might work for plant fire protection posture/status changes would be to adopt a binary state analysis approach to specific posture changes. For example, plant practice may require that a fire barrier be breached during certain POSs (e.g., a fire door is opened to allow for routing of temporary cables). For this case, the analysis could consider fire behavior given an intact barrier and given the breached barrier (open doorway) as a binary set. The intact barrier case is essentially the at-power condition and should generally require only limited updating to reflect outage conditions. The second analysis state (e.g., the door has been blocked open) also mirrors the at-power fire PRA to the extent that the multi-compartment scenarios should have included random failure of the same barrier element. The LPSD analysis would likely seek a more detailed analysis of this multi-compartment scenario than was required to meet at-power analysis objectives given, in effect, a barrier failure probability of 1.0. Additional factors specific to the outage conditions might also come into play such as posting of a fire watch and whether or not the barrier can be quickly restored (e.g., the cables removed and the door closed). In the end, the two possible fire barrier states (intact versus breached) could each be addressed

¹³ Note that some aspects of various fire modeling approaches have been modified or amended based on feedback from the NFPA-805 pilot plant applications. Modifications documented via the NFPA implementation FAQ process are considered equally applicable to the LPSD fire PRA.

analytically and the results then treated as a binary "pick-list" from which either a generic or outage specific plant status model is developed. This mirrors the approach to POS definition used by one of the two tabletop plants where outage-specific risk profiles were developed by picking POSs from their predefined list of 30 POSs. The approach has not yet been fully explored in the fire context.

As in the at-power fire PRA, a detailed fire modeling analysis may be performed for each fire scenario in each unscreened PAU. For the LPSD fire PRA, the focus would be placed on those fire scenarios with the highest contribution to the CDF/LERF and on those fire scenarios where conditions have substantially changed given the LPSD plant conditions. As with the at-power fire PRA, it may be appropriate to develop several fire scenarios for a single PAU in order to appropriately represent the range of unscreeened fire ignition sources (i.e., ignition sources that were not screened in Task 8). Here again, most of the likely fire sources, including both fixed and transient ignition sources, will already have been identified and analyzed in the at-power fire PRA. The expectation is that the LPSD fire PRA would focus on scenario changes that are tied to the POS and that substantively impact scenario analysis. Scenario changes of interest could be relatively simple such as the application of LPSD-specific fire frequencies or suppression curves (see discussion below). Other changes could be more complex such as changes in transient fire characteristics (e.g., if larger fuel packages are allowed during an outage than would be allowed at-power) and fire damage target locations relative to the fire source (e.g., given POS specific cable and equipment). The tools available to support the analysis include all those available to the at-power fire PRA such as computational fire models, statistical models, and empirical models.

The factors that may require special consideration for the LPSD fire PRA include the following:

• For certain POSs, the status of compartment boundaries could be significantly different from atpower conditions. For example, during a maintenance outage certain doors that are normally closed may be propped open by temporary piping and cables passing through the doorway, penetrations may be un-sealed to allow for cable or piping work, equipment hatches may be removed, and/or the containment structure may be open. In such cases, the potential for recovery of barrier integrity would also vary widely but should be considered. For example, an open doorway might be easily closed if the obstructions are readily removed, but an open floor-hatch likely could not be replaced quickly.

• As noted with regard to scoping fire modeling (Task 8), the characteristics of an ignition source may be altered. For example, cabinet doors may be opened whereas they are normally closed. (Note that based on Table G-1 of reference [1], open versus closed doors only impacts cabinets containing more than one bundle of un-qualified cables).

• The status of fire detection and suppression systems could be altered. For example, fire protection systems may be unavailable due to maintenance or may be intentionally disabled due to other maintenance activities under way in the protected space (e.g., to prevent spurious actuation).

• Note that both of the plants participating in the tabletop exercise cited that their practice was to maintain fire protection systems in active/available status during planned outages. Both plants recognized a greater potential for fire ignition events during an outage due to the heightened levels of activity and maintenance. Hence, primary fire protection systems (e.g., fire pumps and the fire water system) are maintained fully available and local systems (e.g., local detection or an automatic suppression capability) are only disabled on a case-specific basis and under a strict permitting system with time windows limited as tightly as possible. Both plants cited that routine fire protection system availability and potential conflicts with other maintenance activities during an outage. This was cited as common industry practice as understood by tabletop participants.



Figure 2: General Analysis Flow Chart for Task 11 – Detailed Fire Modeling.

• Fire brigade access paths may be altered because of maintenance or plant upgrade activities. Fire brigade staffing may, however, increase during an outage given that plants typically shift from three-shifts to two-shifts per day (e.g., splitting the swing shift) so that more staff are on site at any given time including a larger compliment of fire brigade trained staff and operators.

• New transient combustibles may be present in a compartment. For example, packing materials for new or replacement equipment may be introduced, combustible controls restrictions for specific areas may be relaxed, pump oils may be changed out so that a larger quantity of oil than might normally be present is introduced into an area (e.g., both the old oil and new replacement oil loads may be present and exposed), and/or combustible cutting oil may be brought into a compartment for certain repair or modification work.

• Welding and cutting operations may be undertaken in areas where such activities would be either prohibited or very unlikely during at-power operations (e.g., the MCR, cable spreading room, cable vault and tunnel areas, emergency switchgear rooms, etc.).

• Staffing changes could alter fire watches and other general personnel traffic and occupancy patterns. For example, compensatory measure fire watches may be suspended or a space that is not routinely manned during power operations may be manned during a specific POS.

• The containment structure may be open with substantive work activities underway. In particular, for BWRs with inerted containment, de-inerting of the containment introduces a potential for fires in areas never considered in the at-power fire PRA.

The approach for addressing these issues is exactly the same as that described in Table 11-1 of reference [1]. The analyst should simply gather and apply the appropriate data to support the analysis for the POS of interest. There are only two clarifications relative to the application of Table 11-1 in the LPSD context as follows:

- Bin 3 has been split into two bins (3P and 3B) for BWR and PRW containments respectively. Note that in reference [1] Bin 3 applies to PWRs only (given that nearly all BWRs have inerted containments during power operations). Bin 3B is added to deal with BWR containment fires during shutdown and the treatment for both 3P and 3B is consistent with that shown for Bin 3 in Table 11-1.
- Bin 33, turbine generator exciter fires, are cited as not considered for non-power operating modes. That is, potentially consequential exciter fires are only postulated for modes where the exciter is in operation.

Note that certain types of fires inherent in the various frequency bins would be adjusted or even eliminated for LPSD conditions although they are not explicitly called out here. For example, catastrophic turbine generator set failure (covered in reference [1] appendix O) would not be considered for POSs where the generator is not spinning. It is expected that common-sense arguments for these cases will be readily made by the analyst and no attempt has been made to call out all such cases here.

It should be noted that, as discussed below, the manual suppression curves may need to be adjusted to reflect either general shutdown conditions and/or the specific conditions of a POS. The available LPSD suppression data were not sufficient to support a statistical analysis of the LPSD versus at-power suppression timing. Hence, it is recommended that a judgment-based adjustment be applied to address the specific plant conditions and changes as compared to at-power conditions pending completion of ongoing fire event database update and analysis efforts. Even given shutdown-specific fire suppression curves, it may not be possible to fully characterize those aspects of the fire scenarios that would impact manual firefighting and suppression reliability. The characteristics of interest (e.g., fire watches, location accessibility, firefighting system outages, staffing levels, etc.) might vary over the course of a given POS, from POS to POS, or from outage to outage. Hence, the recommended approach would be to apply judgment based adjustments to, for example, reflect the possibility that an area might be manned at the time of the fire increasing the likelihood of rapid detection and suppression or, conversely, that ongoing work may interfere with fire fighters reaching the scene and thereby delay the response.

4.11.3 Assumptions

The same assumptions apply to LPSD fire scenario analyses as in the at-power fire PRA [1]. The key assumptions are repeated below:

• The analysis is limited to considering a single fire occurring at any given time.

• If a fixed, water-based fire suppression system is available, actuation of that system is assumed to disrupt the process of fire growth and spread sufficient to achieve and maintain effective control of the fire so that additional damage to potential fire PRA targets will not occur.

• If a fixed, gaseous fire suppression system is available, actuation of that system is assumed to disrupt the process of fire growth and spread sufficient to achieve effective control of the fire. However, the duration of control is assumed to be the time period over which it has been demonstrated, by test or analysis, that a sufficient suppressant concentration, per applicable standards, can be maintained. The potential for a breached fire barrier (e.g., an open doorway) to compromise the ability to maintain suppressant concentration should also be considered.

• Core damage would occur if the MCR operators are unable to use the main control board (MCB) and no actions are taken from outside the MCR.

4.11.4 Single Compartment Fire Scenarios

The overall process for analyzing single compartment fire scenarios for LPSD fire PRA, regardless of the POS, remains the same as what is presented in reference [1] for at-power fire PRA. For LPSD fire PRA, the analyst should ensure that the following issues are addressed:

• The heat release rate (HRR) of the ignition sources and other combustibles reflect the conditions of the POS. For example, if the doors of an electrical cabinet with multiple bundles of unqualified cable are opened during a specific POS, the heat release rate of that cabinet should be modified to reflect the POS-specific condition as applicable. (Note that most cases do not distinguish between open and closed cabinets.)

• Status of protective barriers should be verified. For example, heat shields may be removed temporarily for maintenance work while the ignition sources remain operational.

• Status of detection and suppression systems should be verified. For example, parts of an automatic suppression system may be valved off for repair or modification work.

• As noted above, common practice appears to be to maintain fire protection systems in an active/available status as much as possible during outages. The plant-specific practice in this regard should be defined and reflected in the analysis. Localized system outages (e.g., isolation of an automatic suppression system to allow for hot work) may still occur and should also be considered.

• If the fire brigade is credited, the path between fire brigade equipment and the PAU should be reviewed and the response time adjusted. Longer response times should be used if there is a possibility of maintenance or other activities in the PAUs along the fire brigade's path.

• Transient ignition sources should be characterized carefully to reflect the additional items that may be brought into the PAU. Under certain POS that include maintenance activity or plant modification, the quantity and type of transient materials may be different.

• Secondary combustibles should be specifically characterized in case of POS that include maintenance activities and plant upgrade. Quantity, type and position of potential combustible materials should be identified.

• If there is a potential for erecting scaffolding or other structures to be used as a temporary platform for staging maintenance work, the analyst should postulate secondary combustibles accordingly using conservative assumptions where the specifics of the activity may not be completely defined.

4.11.5 Analysis of Fire Scenarios in the MCR

The MCR analysis framework remains the same as in reference [1]. The conditions within the MCR, and especially the alternate shutdown system, may be markedly different under certain POS. However, the same key concerns apply to LPSD conditions. The MCB should be examined for specific areas where fire damage can lead to a significant CCDP. All other control boards and electrical cabinets should be examined for potential risk impact. Finally, the possibility and likelihood of MCR abandonment should be examined.

For LPSD fire PRA, the analyst should ensure that the following issues are addressed:

• Activities within the MCR should be characterized and changes that can impact the fire risk profile identified. For example, the number of personnel within the MCR may increase. Multiple parallel activities may be taking place. Electricians could be working inside the MCB.

• When analyzing the MCB, the analyst should understand which controls will be tagged and the position of the control device while tagged.

• The MCB fire propagation and suppression curve presented in Appendix S of reference [1] can be used for all POS cases except those that include a maintenance activity behind the main face of the board. If such an activity is planned, the specifics of those tasks should be identified and evaluated. A set of fire scenarios may need to be identified to address those specific activities. Those scenarios should cover new ignition sources introduced inside the MCB and fire growth starting with that source and propagating to secondary combustibles (i.e., vertical and horizontal wire bundles and electrical and electronic devices). The target sets should be identified carefully in terms of the circuits present in the affected wire bundles and controls on the control board. The detection and suppression curves for MCR fires may still be used for these cases.

• Operating procedures for LPSD conditions will need to be reviewed and assessed. Substantial changes to fire-related operator manual actions may occur when the plant transitions to LPSD operations.

• Both remote and alternate shutdown capabilities should be re-examined using the specific condition imposed by the POS to assess their role in, and relevance to, LPSD operations. Access to the remote/alternate shutdown location(s) could be different during LPSD. The alternate shutdown circuits could also be altered or may be out of service and unavailable (without repair/restoration work) if the alternate shutdown train has been designated for service during part or all of a planned outage. These issues should be identified and taken into account when analyzing operator error using the alternate shutdown capability.

• MCR abandonment calculations (i.e., the fire environment modeling analysis) may need to be reviewed and verified for applicability to the specific POS conditions. If the transient combustibles profile or electrical cabinet characteristics are altered, the calculations for MCR abandonment should be verified. Also note that MCR abandonment scenarios will present HRA challenges given that plant procedures may provide little guidance relative to operator actions for a forced abandonment during shutdown (see 4.12 for further discussion).

4.11.6 Analysis of Fire Scenarios Initiated Outside the MCR that May Impact MCR Functions or Habitability

The possibility of adversely impacting the MCR function by a fire outside the room, as in at-power fire PRA, should also be examined. As discussed in reference [1], there could be other compartments where a fire may damage sufficient control circuits rendering a part of the MCR function inoperable or affect the information displayed for the operators. For example, a fire may cause a loss of RHR or a reactor cavity drain-down event that also renders MCR controls or indications inoperable. Also, there could be

locations where a fire may adversely impact the MCR environment forcing abandonment. It is very possible that these compartments are the same as those identified in the at-power fire PRA. However, it is recommended that the analyst revisit this task and re-examine the underlying assumptions and information. Conditions associated with a specific POS may lead to areas within the plant or fire scenarios other than those identified in the at-power analysis that can adversely affect the MCR. Two specific areas of consideration should be included as follows:

- The locations that might lead to functional degradation of the MCR control and indication systems could change based on the POS and plant status. This is because the systems and indications which are most important to maintaining core integrity will change depending on the POS, which means the location of equipment and cables of potential concern could also change.
- The status of fire barrier elements (e.g., opened doors or breached barriers) could create smoke, heat, and fire spread paths that were not considered plausible in the at-power fire PRA.

4.11.7 Analysis of Fire Scenarios Impacting Multiple Compartments

Multi-compartment fire propagation and damage analysis as presented in reference [1] uses four screening steps to arrive at fire scenarios that could be risk significant and that thereby may warrant a more detailed analysis. The detailed analysis uses the same general approach as does the single-compartment fire analysis. The same screening steps can be used for LPSD conditions as those described in reference [1]; however, the conditions relevant to screening could be markedly different under certain POSs.

For LPSD fire PRA, the analyst should ensure that the following issues are addressed:

• The exposing and exposed compartment matrix should be reviewed and updated to reflect the POS-specific status of PAU partitioning elements (e.g., breached barriers or open hatches and doorways). The at-power multi-compartment analysis limits scenarios to the fire location plus one adjacent compartment. LPSD conditions may allow smoke and heat to spread to more than one adjacent compartment if multiple fire barrier elements are breached. For example, removal of a series of floor/ceiling hatches would allow smoke to rise beyond the first level above. Multiple open doorways may also allow additional smoke spread horizontally. A second difference is that the atpower analysis generally assumes that a non-recoverable random failure of a barrier element is the cause of multi-compartment effects. In contrast, the LPSD analysis will face purposeful barrier breaches that may be recoverable. For example, the analysis may be able to credit compensatory measures (e.g., if a fire watch is posted at an open doorway and has the ability to close that door in the event of a fire) or other mitigating actions (e.g., plant responders may be able to close an open doorway so long as no cables are routed through the door that cannot be easily and quickly removed). The exact means for quantifying compensatory measures in the at-power analysis remain an area of HRA challenge and the same will be true for LPSD.

• Multi-compartment fire damage target sets will need to be re-defined to reflect the equipment and cables important to maintaining core integrity for each identified POS.

• Once the compartment relationships have been re-defined, the same screening assumptions and criteria can be used to identify compartment combinations that warrant more detailed analysis. However, depending on plant practices relative to maintaining fire protection system availability, the screening analysis may need to consider that fire protection features and systems that were credited in the at-power fire PRA may be unavailable or degraded under LPSD conditions. Screening should be performed accordingly.

• For barriers whose status and integrity are not changed, the failure probabilities and guidance provided in reference [1] can be used.

• If a particular barrier element will be breached during a specific POS (e.g., hatch removal or a specific outage plan that involves breaching of fire barrier elements) it is recommended that the analysis should treat the breached barrier as a non-confining partitioning element relative to the spread of fire or fire products (e.g., smoke, heat and toxic gas). The importance of breaching such barriers can be assessed in a sensitivity study if necessary. In some cases, the consideration of barrier restoration may be appropriate if the actions required are simple and easily implements (e.g., closing a door given a posted fire watch and provisions for removal of temporary obstructions).

4.12 Task 12: Post-Fire Human Reliability Analysis

4.12.1 Background

One insight made clear during the tabletop exercise is that LPSD PRA in general will face a significant challenge when it comes to crediting operator actions. For most plants the available operating procedures focus mainly on at-power operations with a more limited set of operating procedures available to support, in particular, shutdown operating modes (e.g., loss of shutdown cooling procedures). This is especially true in the area of fire safety where the regulations focus on the ability to achieve safe shutdown given a fire that starts while the plant is operating at nominal full power. The LPSD fire PRA will instead be considering fires that occur while the plant is in a transitional state or a relatively stable shutdown mode. Both of the tabletop plants emphasized that including consideration of operator recovery actions beyond the plant procedures will be important to gaining an accurate representation of plant risk especially for POSs where a much longer time frame for action may be available (e.g., many hours).

While considerable effort has been directed toward the development of human reliability analysis (HRA) methods and approaches, historically, most of these efforts have resulted in methods and approaches that are intended to apply to at-power internal events PRA applications.

One exception is the recent joint development of fire HRA guidance by EPRI and NRC-RES [8] which supersedes that given in NUREG/CR-6850, EPRI TR-1011989. Consequently, it is recommended that for the purposes of LPSD fire PRA, the updated joint RES-EPRI fire HRA guidance be used, in combination with the special considerations for LPSD conditions given below. As with other elements of the LPSD fire PRA framework, Task 12 also assumes the existence of a LPSD, internal events PRA that includes corresponding HRA elements.

It is also recommended that only the detailed HRA analysis approaches as described in the joint RES-EPRI fire HRA guidance be used. No specific development effort for LPSD Fire HRA guidance has been undertaken so it is not known how relevant the screening and scoping HRA approaches from the joint guidance document would be to LPSD conditions. Finally, consistent with overall fire PRA guidance and standards, the fire HRA guidance does not address pre-initiator human failure events (HFEs) (or latent human failures). Pre-initiator HFEs will need to be addressed using typical at-power, PRA approaches, supplemented by any special considerations for LPSD conditions.

At present, no specific HRA guidance has been developed for LPSD PRA, paralleling that for at-power fire HRA/PRA. However, a variety of applications of HRA for LPSD internal events PRA have been performed, including two PRAs sponsored by the NRC [9,10]. Also, preliminary development work to support a LPSD HRA method was performed in the early 1990s [11,12]. Consequently, there is some basis for performing LPDS HRA/PRA even in absence of a comprehensive LPSD-specific approach.

4.12.2 Special Considerations Related to LPSD

Since, as discussed above, no comprehensive LPSD-specific HRA method has been developed, the recommended approach, at present, is to combine some known, LPSD-specific considerations with the joint RES-EPRI guidance developed for at-power fire HRA.

The following are examples of such considerations (but should not be considered a complete list):

• Plant conditions or configurations typically are different for LPSD than for at-power (potentially resulting in function, system, equipment, instrumentation and control, as well as indication and alarm, unavailability). HRA analysts should be aware that some of these condition or configuration differences may matter only to the operators (i.e., there may be no impact on plant equipment as in the case, for example, of control room indication unavailability). For fires during LPSD, indications needed to identify the fire location may be effected. Also, the HRA analyst should collect information on how control room operators maintain an awareness of plant conditions and configurations (e.g., log books, shift turnover briefings, schematics, risk monitors).

• Success criteria for plant functions are likely to be different during LPSD conditions, changing operator actions (e.g., number of pumps that need to be started, manual action required for initial response rather than backup/recovery of automatic actuation) and changing the required timing for response.

• Different and additional human failure events should be addressed in LPSD HRA, largely because of the two preceding items. In particular:

• A general issue related to LPSD HRA is the question of human-induced initiating events (e.g., human initiated drain-down events). As noted in NRC's Good Practices Guidance [13], if there are important dependencies between operator actions that cause an initiating event and the actions required for accident response, then the human-induced initiator should be addressed explicitly. In the fire context, this would not mean human caused fires. The fire PRA analyzes fires that may cause of an initiating event, but the fire is not in and of itself the initiating event. Further, human caused fires are already inherently captured by the fire event data used to estimate fire frequencies (e.g., hot work fires and fires associated with tests and maintenance activities). For the LPSD fire PRA these types of human action dependencies are considered unlikely. However, the possibility cannot be ruled out entirely so that some consideration would be appropriate.

• Because of the increased number of maintenance, testing, and other outage activities during shutdown, the number of potential pre-initiator HFEs or latent failures also increases. The HRA analyst should review relevant information to identify such opportunities and realistically provide credit for recovery of such failures (i.e., do not credit multiple, independent verifications).

• Which procedures are used for accident mitigation, how they are used, and how they are entered can be different for LPSD than for at-power (e.g., there is no equivalent of "E-O" in EOPs for LPSD, operators may be required to do more diagnosis when using AOPs for LPSD than when using EOPs in at-power events). The HRA analyst should review all of these aspects with respect to procedure usage.

• Operator training for response to LPDS accidents is likely to be different, in frequency and depth, from that for at-power. Similarly, training for LPDS fire events may be even less than that for general LPSD plant operations.

• Staffing of the control room during LPSD is likely to be different than that for at-power and should be reviewed by the HRA analyst. In addition, as in the at-power fire HRA guidance, the HRA analyst should determine if some control room staff will be required to serve roles on the fire brigade, making them unavailable for control room actions.

• There can be concerns related to staffing, procedures, and training in combination for fire HRA/PRA for both at-power and LPSD. In particular, the HRA analyst should identify situations in which the following occurs:

• Fewer operators are in the control room for a fire event than for an internal events accident, and/or
• multiple procedures (e.g., emergency operating procedures and fire response procedures) are being used with individual operators assigned to independently implement one of the two or more procedures (i.e., the control room operators are no longer operating as a normal crew), and

• use of multiple procedures (especially, use of fire response procedures) is not normal operating practice and there is infrequent training on the use of multiple procedures that require coordination.

There are other considerations that can be important in performing LPSD HRA such as:

- ex-control room or local actions (with, for example, different human-machine interface issues than the control room),
- accessibility of equipment,
- environmental factors (such as habitability),
- special fitness needs, and
- needs for special equipment or tools.

These issues (and others) are explicitly addressed in the joint RES-EPRI fire HRA guidance and, therefore, are not discussed here. The same approaches for dealing with such factors as are outlined for at-power conditions are expected to apply to LPSD conditions.

4.13 Task 13: Seismic-Fire Interactions Assessment

A qualitative approach is used in reference [1] to address potential seismic-fire interaction cases using the approach recommended in the Fire Risk Scoping Study [14]. That approach identified the following four seismic-fire interaction issues:

- Seismically induced fires,
- Degradation of fire suppression systems and features,
- Spurious actuation of suppression and/or detection systems, and
- Degradation of manual firefighting effectiveness.

All four issues are applicable to plant conditions during LPSD POS(s). The main assumption about low risk of seismically induced fire events can be extrapolated to LPSD conditions. However, during LPSD conditions, many activities will occur in the plant that would not be observed, or will be undertaken in areas where they would be disallowed, during at-power operation. For example, welding and cutting operations could introduce portable compressed gas cylinders in unexpected locations, transient combustible control restrictions may be relaxed, maintenance activities may introduce a range of temporary storage items in various plant locations, and operations involving temporary hoisting or rigging equipment may be undertaken. These factors would tend to indicate that the probability of a seismic-fire interaction event *given an earthquake* (i.e., an event that can be attributed to one of the four issues listed above) is expected to be higher during a LPSD condition than at-power. Nonetheless, the overall risk is deemed to remain low largely because of the short duration of LPSD conditions.

The following assumptions are made relative to the seismic-fire analysis:

- An at-power Seismic-Fire Interaction Assessment exists.
- A post-earthquake plant response analysis exists for the specific POS being considered.
- An assessment should nominally be conducted for each postulated POS, although a combined effort is expected for many activities such as walkdowns and procedure reviews. That is, the intent is

that the seismic/fire interaction analysis include consideration of all applicable POSs, but not necessarily through separate reviews.

• The assessment should be walkdown-based and may be qualitative.

The same seven step approach applied to the at-power fire PRA can be used for LPSD. As a point of clarification, there is no expectation that this seven step review would be repeated for every defined LPSD POS. Rather, the expectation is that the review would be performed once encompassing all of the defined LPSD POSs. The main focus of the review would be to identify, assess (qualitatively), and potentially mitigate seismic fire interaction items that may be unique to LPSD plant conditions. The LPSD fire PRA should review seismic fire interaction items considered during the at-power fire PRA, but those items would not require re-assessment unless the relevant conditions are substantively different given LPSD conditions. Because all POSs are to be encompassed, the review should consider how plant conditions will change over the course of an outage and how those changes might impact the four seismic fire interaction issues identified above.

The following notes summarize the key issues of seismic-fire interaction assessment related to LPSD:

• Step 1: Identify key seismic-fire interaction analysis PAU:

The PAUs that contain post-earthquake response components and circuits are identified in this step. Component and circuit conditions may be altered during LPSD conditions. Those PAUs where altered components and circuits are located should specifically be identified in this task. Similarly, those PAUs where a manual action is credited should be included in the analysis.

• Step 2: Assess potential impact of seismically induced fires:

The special conditions during a POS should be taken into account to assess the potential impact of seismically induced fires. As in the at-power case, the assessment should be focused on the PAUs that were identified in Step 1. A plant walkdown and a review of potential special conditions during a POS are essential in this step.

• Step 3: Assess seismic degradation of fire suppression systems and features:

The analysis conducted for at-power conditions can be reviewed and modified if any part of the fire suppression systems and features will be modified during the postulated POS.

• Step 4: Assess the potential impact of spurious fire detection signals:

Spurious fire detection signal as a result of dust or steam (caused by equipment shaking or pipe break) could be more likely because of maintenance activities. The at-power analysis can be reviewed and modified to reflect the special conditions of postulated maintenance activities.

• Step 5: Assess the potential impact of spurious fire suppression system actuations:

The at-power analysis can be used to establish the cases where spurious fire suppression actuations are possible. The impact of such events should be reviewed against the conditions postulated for each POS and modified accordingly.

• Step 6: Assess the potential impact of a seismic event on manual firefighting:

For each compartment identified in Step 1, the manual firefighting possibility should be reviewed in the same way as for at-power analysis by taking into account the LPSD conditions.

• Step 7: Complete documentation:

Apply the same guidelines as provided for the at-power analysis.

4.14 Task 14: Fire Risk Quantification

The objectives and overall approach for risk quantification is the same as in at-power fire PRA as described in reference [1]. However, the basis of quantification may vary depending on the intended objectives and applications. In this task, the final LPSD fire PRA model is quantified to obtain the final fire risk results in terms of CDF and LERF for each fire scenario defined in Task 11. The scope of this task will depend on the scope of the LPSD analysis. If an overall or average outage analysis is the main objective, the CDF and LERF calculations should be repeated for each POS and combined according to the equations in Section 3 above. If a specific POS (or subset of POSs) is analyzed, the CDF and LERF should be estimated using the same equation, except that only one POS (or a specific group of POSs) is considered.

Similar to at-power PRA, it is expected that the nature (e.g., type of sequences) of the screened out compartments/scenarios is at least identified. As a check of the cumulative screening criteria discussed in Task 7, it is recommended that the screened CDFs and LERFs also be summed separately to provide a perspective on the total residual risk from the screened compartments/scenarios. It should be emphasized that these screened portions of the results represent various levels of analysis (for instance, some may only involve fire scoping modeling; others may involve both detailed fire modeling and some detailed circuit analysis, etc.).

This task uses the LPSD fire PRA Model to quantify CDF and LERF. The model is initially developed in Task 5 (Fire Induced Risk Model), and modified in the quantitative screening performed in Task 7. This task also requires input from Task 10 (Circuit Failure Mode Likelihood Analysis), Task 11 (Detailed Fire Modeling), and Task 12 (Post-Fire Human Reliability Analysis).

The fire PRA analysts will need basic event occurrence probabilities from the Internal Events LPSD PRA Model to be able to quantify accident sequence frequencies where the fire scenario does not affect all basic events of the sequence. Also, the analyst should have access to the software tools required to quantify the PRA Model.

As noted above, the procedure in this task is the same as the RES/EPRI at-power fire PRA methodology. With the exception of fire-specific elements of the quantification process, this procedure relies heavily on the approach provided in the ASME/ANS PRA Standard [5]. The LPSD fire PRA Model developed in previous tasks is used to quantify CDFs and LERFs for each fire ignition event.

4.15 Task 15: Uncertainty and Sensitivity Analyses

This procedure provides an overall approach to all the other tasks on suggested ways to address the uncertainties associated with each task in the LPSD fire PRA process. In addition to uncertainty analysis, the identification of possible sensitivity analysis cases is addressed in this procedure. The discussions provided in Chapter 15 of reference [1] on uncertainty and sensitivity analyses and the guidance provided in reference [1] apply to LPSD cases as well. This task describes the approach for identifying and treating uncertainties and identifying sensitivity analysis cases. It also prescribes a review for the identified uncertainties among the fire PRA analysts to establish an integrated approach for addressing the effects of these uncertainties on the final results.

Many of the inputs that make up the LPSD CDF and LERF estimates, as in at-power fire PRA, are uncertain (e.g., fire frequencies, extent of fire growth, equipment failure probabilities, operator action probabilities, etc.). Additionally, there may be uncertainty in the fraction of the time that the plant could be in a specific POS. See Section 3 above for a brief discussion on the use of these fractions. Uncertainties in the input parameters lead to epistemic uncertainties in the LPSD Fire CDF and LERF. The same methods as for at-power fire PRA can be used to estimate the uncertainty distributions for the LPSD PRA analysis.

Similar to at-power fire PRA, it is important that users of the results of the LPSD fire PRA understand the fundamental modeling assumptions underlying the analysis and the sources of uncertainty associated with the results. Some uncertainties may be specifically included in the quantification of the results; others may only be qualitatively addressed or not addressed at all.

The analysts for Tasks 1 through 13 are expected to follow the overall approach provided in this procedure to articulate and quantify, when necessary, the uncertainties in their numerical results. For each affected task, the following information will be needed for uncertainty analysis:

- Sources of uncertainties, and
- Proposed approach for addressing each of the identified uncertainties.

It is expected that specific parameters and assumptions for which uncertainty or sensitivity analyses can provide valuable insights on the LPSD Fire CDF and LERF will be identified during the performance of a LPSD fire PRA. To that extent, the issues addressed here should be modified to reflect the key uncertainties identified on a plant-specific basis.

The same procedure as that described in reference [1] for at-power fire PRA applies here as well.

• Step 1: Identify Uncertainties Associated with Each Task:

Where applicable, the outcome of each preceding task should include a discussion on the uncertainties in the results of the task. That information is collected and reviewed in this step. The uncertainties in the fraction of the time that the plant could be in a specific POS should also be addressed in this step. A determination should be made about the extent of those uncertainties and including them in the uncertainty analysis process.

• Step 2: Develop Strategies for Addressing the Uncertainties:

Analysis strategies developed for the at-power fire PRA or LPSD internal events PRA could be applicable to LPSD conditions as well. Those strategies may be reviewed and adopted as appropriate.

• Step 3: Perform Review of Uncertainties to Make Final Decisions as to Which Uncertainties Will Be Addressed and How:

A review of the parameters to identify those that will be included in the uncertainty analysis is conducted in this step. Another important result of this step is a set of sensitivity analysis cases.

• Step 4: Perform the Uncertainty and Sensitivity Analyses:

Uncertainties are propagated through the model and sensitivity cases are performed. The same methods as in the at-power fire PRA or LPSD internal events PRA can be used to propagate the uncertainties. Sensitivity analyses may require their own unique approach depending on the sensitivity case, but should not be different from the methods used for at-power fire or LPSD internal events cases.

• Step 5: Include the Results of the Uncertainty and Sensitivity Analyses in the fire PRA Documentation:

The same documentation approach can be used as in at-power case.

4.16 Task 16: Fire PRA Documentation

As in the case in the at-power fire PRA, the objective of this task is to ensure there is adequate documentation of the LPSD fire PRA to allow review of the PRA development and its results, as well as to provide a written basis for any future uses of that PRA. The recommended documentation in reference [1] applies to LPSD fire PRA as well. A recommended outline of the report and a list of supporting

documents are provided in Tables 16-1 and 16-2 of reference [1]. That outline and recommended supporting documents apply to LPSD fire PRA as well.

It is recommended that the structure of the LPSD fire PRA documentation parallel closely that of the corresponding at-power fire PRA even if that structure differs from the recommendations of reference [1]. Maintaining a parallel structure for the two analyses has many advantages. In many areas the at-power PRA will already document most of the information used in the LPSD analysis. One example is the plant partitioning analysis. Recall that this framework recommends that the at-power partitioning decisions be transferred directly to the LPSD study with minimal changes. Hence, documentation of the LPSD fire PRA could be limited to a discussion of the partitioning analysis review with particular emphasis on any changes made to suit the LPSD analysis. In cases like this it is not expected that the detailed information provided in the at-power documentation would be repeated in the LPSD documentation. Rather, those aspects that remain unchanged should be identified but may be documented by reference.

Certainly the LPSD fire PRA report should have a clear discussion of the POSs analyzed and the assumptions made to define and model the POSs. This discussion should emphasize differences relative to the LPSD internal events PRA (e.g., new equipment modeled, new failure modes considered, etc.). As noted in reference [1], the documentation should provide an adequate summary of the development of the LPSD fire PRA, including the performance and results of all the previous tasks in this document and the results of the LPSD fire PRA itself (with uncertainties, sensitivities, observations, etc.). Here again, the emphasis should be on differences relative to the at-power fire PRA and LPSD internal events PRA including considerations that were unique to the LPSD fire PRA.

In summary, the goals of the LPSD fire PRA documentations are to:

- (1) highlight differences between the at-power and LPSD fire PRAs,
- (2) highlight differences between the LPSD internal events and fire PRAs,
- (3) describe those elements that are unique to the LPSD fire analysis, and
- (4) present the results and conclusions of the LPSD fire PRA.

4.17 Task 17: Plant Walkdowns (Support Task A)

Plant walkdown is defined in reference [1] as an inspection of local areas in an NPP where systems and components are physically located to ensure accuracy of procedures and drawings, equipment location, operating status of equipment, and environmental or system interaction effects on equipment during accident conditions. As noted in reference [1] and for LPSD conditions, paper and electronic documents are not sufficient to provide all the information needed for a proper fire PRA. Therefore, plant walkdowns are critically important when conducting a LPSD fire PRA.

The guidance provided in reference [1] applies to LPSD conditions as well. The walkdowns already conducted in support of at-power fire PRA should provide the baseline information that will be modified according to the special conditions imposed by the LPSD POS. It is anticipated that, at least nominally, a separate set of walkdowns might be necessary in support of each POS. However, some grouping of these activities is likely possible. For example, where POS's are reliant on the same set of PRA functions, they will also likely find that the fire PRA will focus on the same set of critical plant equipment and associated locations (including cables). Similarly, the plant fire protection posture (i.e., the nature of fire hazards present and the status of fire protection systems and features) may not vary significantly, may vary only in specific locations, or may vary only in certain specific details (e.g., where hot work or transients might be located, what equipment will be out of service, etc.) between otherwise similar POSs. Opportunities will likely focus on anticipated fire protection posture changes from POS to POS (and location to location). It is recommended that these types of opportunities be identified and explored via pilot applications if possible.

The pattern of the walkdowns (i.e., those defined in Table 17-1 of reference [1]) is expected to remain the same. However, not all walkdown types may be necessary. In addition to the guidance provided in Chapter 17 of reference [1], the following notes are provided for LPSD fire PRA related walkdowns:

• A separate set of walkdowns and especially walkdown notes should be created for each POS. This is intended to allow for combined walkdowns to cover multiple POSs but walkdowns during an actual outage for key POSs is recommended either as a part of PRA planning or as a part of PRA maintenance efforts.

• As part of the initial walkdown, a separate meeting with plant management should be requested. In this meeting the specific conditions of the POS being studied should be reviewed and verified.

• Engineering documents (e.g., plant layout drawings) may need to be taken to the plant and marked up to reflect the anticipated changes during a specific POS.

• An effort should be made to discuss anticipated POS related transient combustibles and hot work with plant personnel to establish the changes to the extent possible.

• Plant areas where changes may take place should be visited and the walkdown notes updated or new ones created for the affected compartments.

• A walkdown may be planned during the plant shutdown to confirm the information that was gathered prior to the shutdown. In practice, this walkdown may take place after LPSD fire PRA is completed. That is, as a practical matter, the LPSD fire PRA may be performed while the plant is in an operational state rather than during a shutdown. In this case it is recommended that efforts be made to observe plant conditions during a prior outage (i.e., advance planning) and/or that other alternative strategies (as described above) be employed to gain the needed insights. In such cases, post-analysis walkdowns would be confirmatory in nature. If marked differences are noted, management should be notified to make a determination about updating the PRA. As a general practice it is also recommended that additional walkdowns be performed periodically during future outages and that insights gained be addressed as a part of general PRA maintenance efforts.

4.18 Task 18: Fire PRA Database System (Support Task B)

The fire PRA Database System is a relational database of equipment, circuits and plant locations. It may also include cable raceway information and equipment failure modes. The main purpose of the database is to assist in fire scenario development, establishing the target set of each scenario and equipment failure modes given fire damage. The database developed for at-power fire PRA can be used in LPSD fire PRA as a starting point. The same assumptions apply to LPSD. Tasks 2 and 3 related information should be reviewed to identify components, circuits and cables other than those included in the at-power PRA. The database should be updated to include the new information. All other features of the database remain the same as those discussed in reference [1].

5 REFERENCES

[1] NUREG/CR-6850, EPRI TR #1011989, EPRI/NRC-RES Fire PRA Methodology for Nuclear Power Facilities, a joint publication of the U.S. NRC and EPRI, Volume 2, September 2005.

[2] NFPA Standard 805, Performance-Based Standard for Fire Protection for Light Water Reactor Electric Generating Plants, 2001 Edition.

[3] *Code of Federal Regulations*: Section 10CFR50.48, "Fire Protection," subsection (c), "National Fire Protection Association Standard NFPA 805."

[4] ANSI/ANS-58.22-200x, "American National Standard, Low Power and Shutdown PRA Methodology", DRAFT #8C, for RISC Rebalot & Public Review, June 2008.

[5] ASME/ANS RA-Sa-2009, Standard for Probabilistic Risk Assessment for Nuclear Power Plant Applications, a joint ASME-ANS publication, the American Society of Mechanical Engineers, Three Park Avenue, New York, NY 10016-5990, 2009.

[6] Kaplan, "On a 'Two-Stage' Bayesian Procedure for Determining Failure Rates from Experiential Data," *IEEE Transactions on Power Apparatus and Systems*, Volume PAS-102, 1983, pp. 195-202.

[7] Regulatory Guide 1.174, An Approach for Using Probabilistic Risk Assessment In Risk-Informed Decisions on Plant-Specific Changes to the Licensing Basis, U.S. NRC, Revision 1, November 2002.

[8] NUREG-1921, EPRI TR-1023001, EPRI/NRC-RES Fire Human Reliability Analysis Guidelines – Final Report, a joint publication of the U.S. NRC and EPRI, Washington DC, July 2012.

[9] NUREG-1150, Severe Accident Risks: An Assessment for Five U.S. Nuclear Power Plants, U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission, Washington, DC, December 1990.

[10] NUREG-1449, Shutdown and Low-Power Operation at Commercial Nuclear Power Plants in the United States, U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission, Washington, DC, September 1993.

[11] NUREG-1624, "Technical Basis and Implementation Guidelines for A Technique for Human Event Analysis (ATHEANA)," Rev. 1, U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission, Washington, DC, May 2000.

[12] NUREG/CR-6093, An Analysis of Operational Experience During Low Power and Shutdown and a Plan for Addressing Human Reliability Assessment Issues, U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission, Washington, DC, June 1994.

[13] NUREG-1792, Good Practices for Implementing Human Reliability Analysis (HRA), U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission, Washington, DC, April 2005.

[14] NUREG/CR-5088, Fire Risk Scoping Study: Investigation of Nuclear Power Plant Fire Risk, Including Previously Unaddressed Issues, U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission, Washington, DC, January 1989.

APPENDIX A: DETERMINATION OF LPSD GENERIC FIRE FREQUENCIES

A generic set of fire frequency distributions were developed to support at-power Fire PRA (see Table 6-1 of reference A-1). Those frequencies were based on EPRI Fire Events Database (FEDB) ending at January 1, 2000. A part of those frequencies that cover all operating states (i.e., at-power and shutdown phases) can be directly used in LPSD Fire PRA. These are bins in Table 6-1 of reference A-1 that are noted with "All" under the Mode column. The frequencies for the bins that are noted with "Power" had to be estimated for shutdown conditions. This Appendix is intended to describe the fire event data analysis and methodology used to estimate the fire frequencies to be applied in the LPSD Fire PRA.

Note that the original fire frequency analysis from reference A-1 included fires that occurred during plant startup and other low power operating states in the "power operation" fire frequency event set (i.e., that set used to count at-power fire events). This was confirmed by reviewing the original EPRI fire event database against table C-4 of Reference [1]. It is clear that fires occurring while a plant was operating at less than 100% power or that were identified as occurring during "startup" were included in the "power operations" event set. The events that are labeled as "low power operation" events in Table C-4 are actually fires that occurred in various plant shutdown modes. These modes are typically identified in rather general terms such as "shutdown," "outage," or "refueling outage" but also include a range of specific operational state descriptors associated with shutdown. Hence, the analysis here assumes that frequencies for all ignition source bins marked "power" under the "mode" column of Table 6-1 are actually applicable to operation at all power levels including low power operations (i.e., to plant operating modes 1 and 2). For these bins a complementary frequency has been calculated based on events occurring during shutdown operations (modes 3-5) based on the complimentary set of events from the EPRI database.

Also note that all frequencies as presented here are based on an "events per mode-year" basis.

A.1 Screening Events for Inclusion in the Calculation of Generic Fire Frequencies

There are 1,405 event records in FEDB that had been reviewed as part of the at-power frequency analysis for reference A-1. Events contained in the FEDB were screened for inclusion into (or exclusion from) the fire event frequency calculation based on two general considerations. The first consideration is when and where the fire occurred. The second consideration is whether or not a given event either did or could have become a potentially challenging fire (see the definition below).

A.1.1 Where and When a Fire Occurred

The FEDB was filtered to include only those events that were not assigned in the original study (i.e., the study supporting reference A-1) to "power" mode bins (which included low-power operations as noted above). Table A-1 provides the list of bins that were considered for shutdown specific fire frequency evaluation. Of the 1,405 events, 431^{14} event records were assigned to a bin that needed a shutdown specific frequency analysis. The following notes are in order:

• Bin assignment was reviewed and one additional bin had to be defined to capture events in BWR containments. During power operation, BWR containments are inerted precluding the possibility of a fire event in that POS. Since BWR and PWR containments are quite different, a new bin is defined specifically for transient and hot-work fires in BWR containments (bin 3B) and the PWR containment

¹⁴ One of the 431 events involved a gas-turbine based emergency generator. That event was not included in the frequency analyses.

transient and hot-work fire bin has been renamed (bin 3P rather than simply bin 3 as in the at-power set in reference A-1).

• Similar to the at-power case, although there were fire events associated with gas turbine-driven emergency generators, they are not included in this analysis because the number of emergency generators in nuclear power plants using gas turbines is not known.

Bin #	Location	Ignition Source (Equipment Type)
2	Containment (PWR)	Reactor Coolant Pump
3B	Containment (BWR)	Transients and Hotwork
3P	Containment (PWR)	Transients and Hotwork
5	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Cable fires caused by welding and cutting
6	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting
7	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Transients
11	Plant-Wide Components	Cable fires caused by welding and cutting
20	Plant-Wide Components	Off-gas/Hydrogen Recombiner (BWR)
22	Plant-Wide Components	RPS MG Sets
24	Plant-Wide Components	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting
25	Plant-Wide Components	Transients
27	Transformer Yard	Transformer – Catastrophic
28	Transformer Yard	Transformer - Non Catastrophic
29	Transformer Yard	Yard transformers (Others)
31	Turbine Building	Cable fires caused by welding and cutting
32	Turbine Building	Main Feedwater Pumps
34	Turbine Building	Turbine Generator Hydrogen
35	Turbine Building	Turbine Generator Oil
36	Turbine Building	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting
37	Turbine Building	Transients

Table A-1: Bins Considered for LPSD Data Analysis.

A.1.2 Potentially Challenging Events

The second stage of event screening considered whether or not a particular event did, or had the potential to become challenging. The intent of this step is to identify reported events involving an incipient fire, fire ignition event, or explosion event that had the potential to develop into a self-sustaining fire. Events that lack this potential were screened out from the fire frequency calculation as "not-challenging". A detailed discussion of the screening process can be found in Appendix C of reference A-1. Although the FEDB events associated with the bins in Table A-1 were already screened for challenging fire, the entire

set was reviewed anew to verify the original assignments. Since this screening process is one of the important steps of data analysis, the criteria are repeated below.

The criteria for identifying potentially challenging events include objective and subjective elements. The objective criteria are based on reportable facts related to the means of fire suppression, the extent of fire growth and/or damage, fire duration, and other indicators. The objective criteria are applied in a mechanical manner–i.e., yes/no checkboxes. The subjective criteria involve the application of judgment. Factual information related to the objective criteria is often lacking in the event reports. Hence, the analysts had to use judgment to determine whether or not the event was potentially challenging, typically based on a review of the descriptive text provided for the event.

Per the objective classification criteria, a fire event was classified as potentially challenging if any one of the following is true.

• A hose stream, multiple portable fire extinguishers, and/or a fixed fire suppression system (either manually or automatically actuated) were used to suppress the fire.

• One or more components outside the boundaries of the fire ignition source were affected where the term "outside the boundaries of the fire ignition source" will depend to some degree on the specific ignition source (see further discussions below).

• Combustible materials outside the boundaries of the fire ignition source were ignited (with a similar use of the term "outside the fire ignition source" implied).

A fire event was also classified as potentially challenging if two or more of the following features are cited in an event report:

- Actuation of an automatic detection system,
- A plant trip was experienced,
- A reported loss of greater than \$5,000 (not including any lost business damages), or
- A burning duration or suppression time of 10 minutes or longer.

After the objective criteria are applied, a fire event may still be classified as potentially challenging if there are sufficient indications to determine that the fire was self-sustaining or that it might have affected components or ignited materials outside the fire ignition source. This subjective method may be based on the general tone of the event report or on the observation of specific aspects of a fire event. In general, observations of the following features in an event report can be indicative of a potentially challenging fire.

- It is apparent that active intervention was needed to prevent potential spread.
- There are indications that the heat that was generated had sufficient intensity and duration to affect components outside the fire ignition source, had such been in close proximity to the ignition source.

• There are indications that flames or heat were generated of sufficient intensity and duration to cause the ignition of secondary combustibles outside the fire ignition source, had such been in close proximity to the ignition source.

• Substantial smoke was generated (e.g., a room was reported to be smoke-filled when first responders arrived on the scene, or the report includes a description such as "heavy" or "dense" smoke).

The original "potentially challenging" or "not-challenging" assignments were reviewed for each event identified as occurring during plant low power or shutdown conditions, and the assignment was modified

where deemed necessary. The assignments for events occurring during power operations were left as per the original NUREG/CR-6850 assessment (they were not revised).

A.1.3 Plant Operating Mode

Each event was also examined for the plant operating mode. Most event descriptions had a clear statement about the operating mode often included plant power level for events assigned to the "power" operating mode. Since the database was filtered excluding "power" operating mode, all the events that were analyzed either clearly stated that the plant (or one of the units) was in one of several possible shutdown modes or no information was provided. In the latter cases, the operating mode was assigned as "undetermined". In one case, the POS assignment of an event was modified to "at-power" based on the information available. In another case, the event had occurred during the de-commissioning phase of the plant and this event was excluded.

A.2 Event Counting Method

To estimate the fire occurrence frequency for each bin, the total number of events associated with the bin and years of plant experience are needed. The calculation method described in Section C.4 of reference A-1 applies in the case of shutdown frequency calculations. That is, the following equation is applicable to shutdown fire frequency computations (see Section C.4.1 of reference A-1 for a description):

$$F_{plant,i} = K_i + C_i \cdot q + B_i \cdot p + BC_i \cdot p \cdot q + A_i/N + (AC_i/N) \cdot q + (AB_i/N) \cdot p + (ABC_i/N) \cdot p \cdot q$$

All the parameters of this equation have the same definition as for the at-power case with the exception of "p". The parameter "p" in the case of shutdown is the fraction of the events of known operating mode that had occurred during shutdown. In effect $p_{shutdown} = 1 - p_{at-power}$.

Note that there was no attempt made to further classify the events that occurred during shutdown based on the specific shutdown POS of the plant when these events occurred. That is, there is an implicit assumption that each shutdown event applied, for ignition frequency purposes, equally throughout shutdown (i.e., equally to all potential POSs).

A.3 Uncertainty Analysis

Uncertainty distributions of bin frequencies were established using the non-homogeneous Bayesian analysis method option of the R-DAT computer program (reference A-2). Similar to the two-stage Bayesian approach, fire event statistics of each plant are entered into the uncertainty estimation process separately to allow plant-to-plant variability influencing the uncertainty distributions. The results of this process are shown in Table A-3 in terms of the mean, 5th, 50th and 95th percentiles of the each distribution. The mean values can be used as point estimates for each ignition frequency bin.

A.4 Event Counts and Generic Frequencies

As noted above, the 431 events were reviewed and screened for challenging category and operating mode assignment. For a large number of cases, the challenging category was modified from the original study (i.e., reference A-1). Also, several of these events were concluded to be not applicable to LPSD Fire PRA. In a few cases the bin assignment had to be modified. Seven events were removed from analysis. Table A-2 provides the number of events by bins, power level (i.e., shutdown or not) and "challenging" assignment.

The total number of events that should be used for frequency calculation was estimated using the equation presented in Section A.2 above using 0.5 for q and p parameters. The results are presented in Table A-3. The corresponding total number of plant years is also presented in Table A-3 for each bin. The number of reactor years for shutdown operating mode is calculated in exactly the same way as that described in reference A-1 for the at-power operating mode.

The frequencies presented in Table A-3 are simple division of the number of fire events and the number of plant years noted.

A.5 Fire Type Split Fraction

As it is discussed in reference A-1, different fire types can be postulated for most of the ignition sources. For example, the bin "Containment (PWR) / Reactor Coolant Pumps" can refer to both electric and oil fires. The same six fire types, postulated in reference [1], are used here. Table A-4 provides the split fraction for each fire type for the shutdown specific bins. The split fractions are based on interpretations of the FEDB events.

A.6 Fire Event Classification

As it is discussed above, EPRI's FEDB events, filtered for non at-power operating mode, were reviewed to verify the appropriate ignition source bin, the status relative to potentially challenging determination, and the operating mode assignments. For a large number of cases, the challenging category was modified. Also, a few events were concluded to be not applicable to LPSD Fire PRA. In a few cases the bin assignment had to be modified. Table A-5 provides a complete list of the events that were reviewed. Corresponding bin assignment, operating mode and challenging category are also shown. Notes are provided to indicate changes in event assessment (e.g., if "challenging" assignment was altered from the original study). Also, it is noted if the event is not included in the frequency estimation.

A.7 References

- A-1 "Fire PRA Methodology for Nuclear Power Facilities; Volume 2: Detailed Methodology", U.S. NRC and EPRI. NUREG/CR-6850 and EPRI 1011989, September 2005.
- A-2 "R-DAT and R-DAT Plus 1.5 User's Manual", Prediction Technologies, College Park, MD, 2002.

	I AUN	А-2: ЕVЕПІ СОШІІЅ DY DIII, СПАПЕНВІЛВ САЦ	egory anu Ope	crauing muue		
Bin #	t Location	Ignition Source	Power Level	Not Challenging	Potentially Challenging	Undetermined
Ċ			SD	1	3	1
7	Containment (PWK)	Reactor Coolant Pump	Undetermined	1	0	0
Π¢			SD	32	10	11
ЭĽ	Containment (FWK)	Iransient mes caused by weiging and cuting	Undetermined	L	2	0
3 D	Containment (DWD)	Tronciout firms amond humand ding and mitting	SD	45	10	11
ac			Undetermined	1	0	0
ų	Control () /B D114:	\mathcal{O}	SD	0	0	0
c	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Cable lifes caused by weiging and cuting	Undetermined	0	0	1
9	Control / A /D contor D.iildin c	Trouciout firms control burnelding and muting	SD	32	4	5
0	COLLUDI/AUX/REACTOR DUILING		Undetermined	17	0	2
٢	Control / A /D control Duilding	Trons aloneta	SD	8	1	2
-	COLLUDI/AUX/REACTOR BUILDING	11 difsicilits	Undetermined	4	2	2
1	Dout Wide Comments	مستقيمه مستواميت بما المصيمة والطم	SD	0	0	0
11	Flant-wide Components	Cadie lites caused by weiging and cuting	Undetermined	0	0	1
	Dout Wide Comments	Off and III. of an and Doccombinion (DUD)	SD	0	3	0
70	Fiaint-wide Components	ULI-Bas/ITJULOBEIL NECOLIDILEI (DWN)	Undetermined	0	0	0
ç	Dout Wide Comments		SD	5	1	4
77		NED MU SEIS	Undetermined	0	0	1
ç	Dout Wide Comments	There is a function of the second	SD	6	6	3
74	Fiant-wide Components	ITARSIERT THES CAUSED BY WEIGING AND CUUING	Undetermined	12	1	0
30		T	SD	11	1	1
C7	Fiant-wide Components	ITARSICRUS	Undetermined	12	1	7
L C	Tronoformor Vord	Transformar Patration	SD	0	5	0
1			Undetermined	0	0	0
õ	Transformer Vard	Transformar Non Ostastrahia	SD	1	1	4
07		птаныонны - пол сагазнорние	Undetermined	1	0	0
°,	Turnerformers Voud	مسللينه متما المتحصية المتصميط المحمد فللمحاط	SD	1	1	0
77			Undetermined	0	0	0
5	Turbing Duilding	Main foodwater mune	SD	0	1	0
70		mani recuwater pumps	Undetermined	0	0	1
24	Turbing Duilding		SD	0	2	0
с 4			Undetermined	0	0	0
35	Turbine Building	T/G Oil	SD	2	1	0

erating Mode	
l Op	
anc	
tegory	
Ca	
allenging	
Ch	
Bin,	
; by	
ounts	
nt C	
Evei	
A-2:	
Table	

Г							
	Undetermined	0	8	4	4	3	92
	Potentially Challenging	0	8	1	3	2	$70^{(1)}$
	Not Challenging	0	38	17	11	8	278
	Power Level	Undetermined	SD	Undetermined	SD	Undetermined	Totals
	Ignition Source			I ransient fires caused by weiging and cutting		Transienus	
	Location		Durations Duril dives	l urbine Building	Durations Duril dives	l urbine Building	
-	3in # I		L 76	00		10	

 Table A-2: Event Counts by Bin, Challenging Category and Operating Mode (continued)

(1) One fire event that was deemed as potentially challenging involved a gas-turbine. The event is not shown in this table.

ver Plants.
r Pov
uclea
Z
D
l for
Jode
N
Frequenc
Ignition
Fire
reneric
ن
ole A-3
Tab

Ignution Source Events Reactor Mean S^{th} S_{0}^{th}		, ,	# of	Total		Frequency (R-	DAT Results)	
Reactor Coolant Pump 3.5 $519.9^{(1)}$ $6.6E.03$ $2.6E.04$ $3.3E.03$ Transients and Howork 16.5 5199 $3.1E.02$ $2.1E.02$ $2.1E.02$ Transients and Howork 15.5 $298.5^{(2)}$ $3.5E.02$ $2.3E.04$ $7.3E.03$ Transients and Howork 15.5 $298.5^{(2)}$ $3.5E.02$ $2.3E.04$ $7.3E.03$ Transient fires caused by welding and 0.25 822.5 $9.3E.04$ $7.3E.03$ $2.9E.03$ Transient fires caused by welding and 0.25 822.5 $9.3E.04$ $2.5E.03$ $2.9E.03$ Transient fires caused by welding and 0.25 822.5 $8.7E.04$ $2.5E.03$ $2.9E.04$ Off-gas/Hydrogen $7.822.5$ $8.22.5$ $8.2E.04$ $2.8E.03$ $3.1E.03$ Off-gas/Hydrogen $7.5E.04$ 0.25 $8.22.5$ $3.2E.03$ $3.1E.03$ Off-gas/Hydrogen $7.5E.04$ $2.5E.03$ $3.2E.03$ $3.1E.03$ $3.1E.03$ Off-gas/Hydrogen $7.5E.03$ $8.22.5$ <		Ignition Source	Events	Reactor Years	Mean	$\mathcal{S}^{\mathrm{th}}$	50^{th}	95^{th}
Transients and Hotwork 16.5 519.9 3.1E-02 2.1E-02 2.1E-02 Transients and Hotwork 15.5 298.5 ⁽³⁾ 3.5E-02 2.3E-04 7.3E-03 2.1E-02 Transients and Hotwork 15.5 298.5 ⁽³⁾ 3.5E-03 2.3E-04 5.0E-04 5.0E-03 Transient fires caused by welding and cutting 0.25 822.5 ⁽³⁾ 1.2E-03 2.3E-04 5.0E-03 Transient fires caused by welding and cutting 0.25 822.5 9.3E-04 1.3E-03 2.9E-04 Transients 3.5 822.5 1.2E-03 2.3E-04 5.0E-04 5.0E-03 Transient fires caused by welding and cutting 0.25 822.5 8.8E-04 1.8E-05 2.9E-04 RPS MG sets 3.25 2.3E-03 3.1E-04 2.7E-03 3.1E-04 2.7E-03 RPS MG sets 3.25 3.2E-03 8.9E-04 1.8E-05 3.1E-04 5.7E-03 RPS MG sets 3.25 3.2E-03 8.9E-04 1.7E-03 1.7E-03 1.7E-03 RPS MG sets 3.25 5.8E-03 8.9E-04 1.7E-03 1.6E-04 2.9E-03		Reactor Coolant Pump	3.5	$519.9^{(1)}$	6.6E-03	2.6E-04	3.3E-03	1.8E-02
Transients and Hotwork 15.5 $298.5^{(3)}$ $3.5E.02$ $2.3E.04$ $7.3E.03$ r Cable fires caused by welding and unting 0.25 $822.5^{(3)}$ $1.2E.03$ $3.8E.04$ $7.3E.03$ r Tansients fires caused by welding 7 822.5 $9.3E.04$ $5.0E.03$ $3.8E.04$ $5.0E.03$ r Transients 3.5 822.5 $9.3E.04$ $5.0E.03$ $5.0E.03$ r Transient fires caused by welding and outting 0.25 822.5 $8.7E.03$ $2.9E.04$ $5.0E.03$ r Transient fires caused by welding and outting 0.25 822.5 $2.0E.02$ $8.5E.03$ $3.1E.03$ r RPSMG sets 3.25 822.5 $1.1E.02$ $4.0E.04$ $5.8E.03$ r Transient fires caused by welding and outting 3.75 822.5 $5.8E.03$ $2.1E.04$ $1.7E.03$ r Transformer - catastrophic 3.75 822.5 $5.8E.03$ $2.1E.04$ $1.7E.03$ r Transformer - catastrophic		Transients and Hotwork	16.5	519.9	3.1E-02	2.9E-03	2.1E-02	8.2E-02
r Cable fires caused by welding and outing 0.25 $822.5^{0.0}$ $1.2E-03$ $3.8E-04$ $5.0E-03$ r artansient fires caused by welding 7 822.5 $9.3E-03$ $3.6E-04$ $5.0E-03$ $5.0E-03$ r artansient fires caused by welding and cutting 3.5 822.5 $4.7E-03$ $2.5E-03$ $5.9E-04$ $5.0E-04$ $5.5E-03$ r Transient fires caused by welding and 0.25 $8.22.5$ $8.22.5$ $8.8E-04$ $1.8E-05$ $3.1E-03$ r Cutting 3.55 822.5 $3.25-03$ $1.7E-03$ $2.9E-03$ $3.1E-03$ r BWR) 3.25 822.5 $3.2E-03$ $1.7E-03$ $3.1E-03$ $3.1E-03$ r BWR) ransient fires caused by welding and 0.25 822.5 $3.2E-03$ $3.1E-03$ $3.1E-03$ r RPS MG sets 3.75 822.5 $3.2E-03$ $3.1E-03$ $3.1E-03$ r RPS MG sets 3.75 $8.22.5$ $3.2E-03$ $3.1E-03$ $3.1E-03$		Transients and Hotwork	15.5	$298.5^{(2)}$	3.5E-02	2.3E-04	7.3E-03	1.2E-01
Transient fires caused by welding7822.59.3E-035.0E-035.0E-03and cutting 3.5 $8.22.5$ $4.7E-03$ $2.5E-03$ $2.5E-03$ Transients 3.5 $8.22.5$ $8.22.5$ $8.8E-04$ $2.5E-03$ $2.9E-04$ Cable fires caused by welding and 0.25 822.5 $8.22.5$ $8.8E-04$ $1.8E-05$ $2.9E-04$ Cable fires caused by welding and 0.25 822.5 $8.22.5$ $8.8E-04$ $1.8E-05$ $2.9E-04$ Off-gas/Hydrogen 7.25 3.25 $8.22.5$ $3.2E-03$ $1.7E-03$ $1.7E-03$ Off-gas/Hydrogen 3.25 822.5 $1.1E-02$ $4.0E-04$ $5.8E-03$ Dransient fires caused by welding 8 822.5 $1.1E-02$ $2.9E-03$ $1.7E-03$ Transients 3.75 822.5 $5.8E-03$ $2.1E-04$ $2.9E-03$ $1.7E-03$ Transient fires caused by welding 8 822.5 $3.2E-03$ $2.1E-04$ $2.9E-03$ Transformer - catastrophic 3.75 822.5 $3.8E-03$ $1.6E-04$ $1.9E-03$ Transformer - noncatastrophic 3 822.5 $3.8E-03$ $2.1E-04$ $1.9E-03$ Transformer - noncatastrophic 3 822.5 <td>L.</td> <td>Cable fires caused by welding and cutting</td> <td>0.25</td> <td>822.5⁽³⁾</td> <td>1.2E-03</td> <td>2.3E-05</td> <td>3.8E-04</td> <td>3.5E-03</td>	L.	Cable fires caused by welding and cutting	0.25	822.5 ⁽³⁾	1.2E-03	2.3E-05	3.8E-04	3.5E-03
Transients 3.5 822.5 $4.7E-03$ $2.5E-03$ Cable fires caused by welding and cutting 0.25 822.5 $8.8E-04$ $2.5E-05$ $2.9E-04$ Deff factor 0.25 822.5 $8.8E-05$ $3.1E-03$ $2.9E-04$ $1.7E-03$ Deff gas/Hydrogen 3.25 822.5 $3.2E-03$ $1.5E-04$ $1.7E-03$ Deff gas/Hydrogen 3.25 822.5 $3.2E-03$ $1.5E-04$ $1.7E-03$ Deff gas/Hydrogen 3.75 822.5 $3.2E-03$ $1.5E-04$ $1.7E-03$ Transient fires caused by welding 8 822.5 $3.2E-03$ $2.1E-04$ $2.9E-03$ Transients 3.75 822.5 $5.8E-03$ $2.1E-04$ $2.9E-03$ $2.1E-04$ Transients 3.75 822.5 $5.8E-03$ $2.1E-04$ $2.9E-03$ $2.1E-04$ Transformer - catastrophic 5 822.5 $7.2E-03$ $8.9E-05$ $2.3E-03$ $2.1E-04$ Transformer - noncatastrophic 3 822.5 $3.8E-03$ $2.1E-04$ $1.9E-03$ $2.1E-04$ Transformer - noncatastrophic 3 822.5 $3.8E-03$ $2.1E-04$ $1.9E-03$ $2.1E-04$ Transformer - noncatastrophic 3 822.5 $3.8E-03$ $2.1E-04$ $1.9E-03$ $2.1E-04$ Transformer - noncatastrophic 3 822.5 $2.2E-03$ $2.1E-04$ $1.9E-03$ $2.1E-04$ Transformer - noncatastrophic 3 822.5 $2.0E-03$ $2.1E-04$ $1.9E-03$ Main feedwater pumps 1.2		Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	L	822.5	9.3E-03	3.6E-04	5.0E-03	2.5E-02
Cable fires caused by welding and cutting 0.25 $8.22.5$ $8.8E-04$ $1.8E-05$ $2.9E-04$ $2.9E-04$ Off-gas/Hydrogen BWR)Conting 3.25 822.5 $2.0E-02$ $8.5E-05$ $3.1E-03$ $3.1E-03$ Deff-gas/Hydrogen BWR)Transient fires caused by welding and cutting 3.25 822.5 $3.2E-03$ $1.7E-03$ $1.7E-03$ RPS MG sets 3.25 3.25 822.5 $3.2E-03$ $1.5E-04$ $1.7E-03$ Transient fires caused by welding 8 822.5 $5.8E-03$ $2.1E-04$ $5.8E-03$ $2.9E-03$ Transformer - catastrophic 5 822.5 $5.8E-03$ $2.1E-04$ $2.9E-03$ $2.9E-03$ Transformer - catastrophic 5 822.5 $5.8E-03$ $2.1E-04$ $2.9E-03$ $2.9E-03$ Transformer - catastrophic 5 822.5 $3.2E-03$ $2.1E-04$ $2.9E-03$ $2.9E-03$ Transformer - noncatastrophic 3 822.5 $3.8E-03$ $2.1E-04$ $2.9E-03$ $2.9E-03$ Vard Transformer 8 (others) 1 822.5 $3.8E-03$ $2.7E-04$ $5.8E-03$ $2.7E-04$ $5.8E-03$ Vard Transformer 9 welding and cutting 0 822.5 $1.9E-03$ $2.7E-05$ $4.0E-04$ $5.8E-04$ Main feedwater pumps 1.25 822.5 $1.9E-03$ $2.7E-05$ $4.0E-04$ $5.5E-04$ Main feedwater pumps 1.25 822.5 $2.5E-03$ $3.5E-04$ $5.5E-04$ $5.5E-04$ Main feedwater pumps 1.25 $822.$		Transients	3.5	822.5	4.7E-03	2.0E-04	2.5E-03	1.3E-02
Off-gas/Hydrogen recombiner 3 298.5 2.0E-02 8.5E-05 3.1E-03 1 (BWR) (BWR) 3.25 822.5 3.2E-03 1.5E-04 1.7E-03 1 RPS MG sets 3.25 822.5 3.2E-03 1.5E-04 1.7E-03 1 Transient fires caused by welding 8 822.5 1.1E-02 4.0E-04 5.8E-03 1 Transients 3.75 822.5 5.8E-03 2.1E-04 2.9E-03 1 Transformer - catastrophic 5 822.5 5.8E-03 2.1E-04 1.9E-03 1 Transformer - catastrophic 5 822.5 5.8E-03 2.1E-04 1.9E-03 1 Transformer - catastrophic 5 822.5 5.8E-03 2.1E-04 1.9E-03 1 Transformer - catastrophic 5 822.5 5.8E-03 8.9E-05 6.1E-04 1.9E-03 Transformer - catastrophic 3 822.5 1.3E-03 1.9E-03 1.9E-03 1.9E-03 Transformers (ot		Cable fires caused by welding and cutting	0.25	822.5	8.8E-04	1.8E-05	2.9E-04	2.8E-03
RPS MG sets 3.25 822.5 $3.2E-03$ $1.5E-04$ $1.7E-03$ $1.7E-03$ Transient fires caused by welding 8 822.5 $1.1E-02$ $4.0E-04$ $5.8E-03$ $1.7E-03$ TransientsTransformer - catastrophic 5 822.5 $5.8E-03$ $2.1E-04$ $2.9E-03$ $1.7E-03$ Transformer - catastrophic 5 822.5 $5.8E-03$ $2.1E-04$ $2.9E-03$ $1.9E-03$ Transformer - catastrophic 5 822.5 $5.8E-03$ $1.6E-04$ $1.9E-03$ $1.9E-03$ Yard Transformer - noncatastrophic 3 822.5 $3.8E-03$ $1.6E-04$ $1.9E-03$ $1.9E-03$ Vard Transformer - noncatastrophic 3 822.5 $3.8E-03$ $1.6E-04$ $1.9E-03$ $1.9E-03$ Vard Transformer - noncatastrophic 3 822.5 $3.8E-03$ $1.6E-04$ $1.9E-03$ $1.9E-03$ Vard Transformer - noncatastrophic 3 822.5 $1.9E-03$ $2.7E-05$ $4.0E-04$ Main feedwater pumps 1.25 822.5 $1.9E-03$ $2.2E-05$ $4.0E-04$ Main feedwater pumps 1.25 822.5 $3.0E-03$ $3.5E-05$ $7.6E-04$ T/G hydrogen 2 822.5 $3.0E-03$ $3.5E-05$ $7.5E-04$ T/G oil 1.5 822.5 $2.2E-02$ $2.5E-04$ $5.5E-04$ T/G oil 1.5 822.5 $2.5E-03$ $3.5E-05$ $7.5E-04$ Transient fires caused by welding 13.5 $2.2E-02$ $2.5E-04$ $5.5E-04$ Transient		Off-gas/Hydrogen recombiner (BWR)	3	298.5	2.0E-02	8.5E-05	3.1E-03	3.8E-02
Transient fires caused by welding and cutting8 822.5 $1.1E-02$ $4.0E-04$ $5.8E-03$ $5.8E-03$ Transients 3.75 822.5 $5.8E-03$ $2.1E-04$ $2.9E-03$ $2.7E-03$ Transformer - catastrophic 5 822.5 $7.2E-03$ $8.9E-05$ $2.3E-03$ $2.3E-03$ Transformer - noncatastrophic 3 822.5 $3.8E-03$ $1.0E-04$ $1.9E-03$ $2.3E-03$ Yard Transformer - noncatastrophic 3 822.5 $3.8E-03$ $1.0E-04$ $1.9E-03$ $2.3E-03$ Vard Transformer (others) 1 822.5 $3.8E-03$ $1.0E-04$ $1.9E-03$ $2.3E-03$ Vard Transformer (others) 1 822.5 $3.8E-03$ $1.0E-04$ $1.9E-03$ $2.7E-04$ Main feedwater pumps 1.25 822.5 $1.9E-03$ $4.0E-04$ $2.9E-04$ $2.9E-04$ Main feedwater pumps 1.25 822.5 $3.0E-03$ $4.8E-05$ $1.1E-03$ $2.7E-04$ T/G oil 7.6 $3.7E-03$ $3.5E-04$ $5.5E-04$ $5.5E-04$ $5.5E-04$ Transient fires caused by welding 13.5 822.5 $2.2E-02$ $2.5E-04$ $5.5E-04$ Transient fires caused by welding 13.5 822.5 $2.5E-03$ $3.5E-04$ $5.5E-03$ Transient fires caused by welding 13.5 $3.7E-02$ $2.5E-04$ $5.5E-03$ $5.5E-04$ Transient fires caused by welding 13.5 $3.7E-02$ $2.5E-04$ $5.5E-03$ $5.5E-03$ Transient fires 1.55 3.75		RPS MG sets	3.25	822.5	3.2E-03	1.5E-04	1.7E-03	9.0E-03
Transients 3.75 822.5 $5.8E-03$ $2.1E-04$ $2.9E-03$ Transformer - catastrophic 5 822.5 $7.2E-03$ $8.9E-05$ $2.3E-03$ Transformer - noncatastrophic 3 822.5 $3.8E-03$ $1.9E-04$ $1.9E-03$ Transformer - noncatastrophic 3 822.5 $3.8E-03$ $1.6E-04$ $1.9E-03$ Vard Transformers (others) 1 822.5 $3.8E-03$ $2.7E-05$ $6.1E-04$ Vard Transformers (others) 1 822.5 $3.8E-03$ $2.7E-05$ $6.1E-04$ Cable fires caused by welding and cutting 0 822.5 $1.3E-03$ $2.7E-05$ $4.0E-04$ Main feedwater pumps 1.25 822.5 $1.3E-03$ $7.6E-05$ $8.9E-04$ $1.6E-04$ T/G hydrogen 2 822.5 $1.9E-03$ $7.6E-05$ $8.9E-04$ $1.8E-05$ $1.1E-03$ T/G oil 1 822.5 $3.0E-03$ $3.5E-05$ $7.5E-04$ $5.5E-04$ Transient fires caused by welding 13.5 822.5 $2.2E-02$ $2.5E-04$ $5.5E-03$ Transient fires caused by welding 13.5 822.5 $2.2E-02$ $2.5E-04$ $5.5E-03$ Transient fires caused by welding 13.5 822.5 $2.2E-02$ $2.5E-04$ $5.5E-03$ Transient fires caused by welding 13.5 822.5 $2.2E-02$ $2.5E-04$ $5.5E-03$ Transient fires $7.5E-04$ $7.5E-04$ $7.5E-03$ $2.5E-03$ $2.5E-03$ $2.5E-03$		Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	8	822.5	1.1E-02	4.0E-04	5.8E-03	3.0E-02
Transformer - catastrophic5 822.5 $7.2E-03$ $8.9E-05$ $2.3E-03$ $2.7E-03$ Transformer - noncatastrophic3 822.5 $3.8E-03$ $1.6E-04$ $1.9E-03$ $1.9E-03$ Yard Transformers (others)1 822.5 $3.8E-03$ $1.6E-04$ $1.9E-03$ $1.9E-03$ Vard Transformers (others)1 822.5 $2.0E-03$ $2.7E-05$ $6.1E-04$ Cable fires caused by welding and outting0 822.5 $1.3E-03$ $2.7E-05$ $4.0E-04$ Main feedwater pumps 1.25 822.5 $1.3E-03$ $7.6E-05$ $8.9E-04$ T/G hydrogen2 822.5 $3.0E-03$ $7.6E-05$ $8.9E-04$ T/G oil1 822.5 $3.0E-03$ $3.5E-05$ $7.5E-04$ T/G oil1 822.5 $2.2E-02$ $2.5E-04$ $5.5E-03$ Transient fires caused by welding 13.5 822.5 $2.2E-02$ $2.5E-04$ $5.5E-03$ Transient fires caused by welding 13.5 822.5 $2.2E-02$ $2.5E-04$ $5.5E-03$		Transients	3.75	822.5	5.8E-03	2.1E-04	2.9E-03	1.5E-02
Transformer noncatastrophic 3 822.5 $3.8E-03$ $1.6E-04$ $1.9E-03$ $1.9E-03$ Yard Transformers (others) 1 822.5 $2.0E-03$ $2.7E-05$ $6.1E-04$ 1 Cable fires caused by welding and cutting 0 822.5 $1.3E-03$ $2.2E-05$ $4.0E-04$ 1 Main feedwater pumps 1.25 822.5 $1.3E-03$ $7.6E-05$ $8.9E-04$ 1 T/G hydrogen 2 822.5 $1.9E-03$ $7.6E-05$ $8.9E-04$ 1 T/G oil 1.25 822.5 $3.0E-03$ $3.5E-05$ $1.1E-03$ 1 T/G oil 1 822.5 $2.5E-03$ $3.5E-05$ $7.5E-04$ 1 Transient fires caused by welding 13.5 822.5 $2.2E-02$ $2.5E-04$ $5.5E-03$ $5.5E-03$ Transient fires caused by welding 13.5 822.5 $2.2E-02$ $2.5E-04$ $5.5E-03$ $5.5E-03$ Transient fires caused by welding 13.5 822.5 $2.2E-02$ $2.5E-04$ $5.5E-03$ $5.5E-03$ Transient fires caused by welding 13.5 822.5 $2.2E-02$ $2.5E-04$ $5.5E-03$ Transient fires caused by welding 13.5 822.5 $2.2E-02$ $2.5E-04$ $5.5E-03$ Transient fires $7.5E-04$ $7.5E-04$ $7.5E-03$ $7.5E-03$ $7.5E-03$ Transient fires $7.5E-04$ $7.5E-04$ $7.5E-03$ $7.5E-03$ $7.5E-03$ TransienteTransient fires $7.5E-04$ $7.5E-03$ $7.5E-03$ $7.5E-03$ <td></td> <td>Transformer - catastrophic</td> <td>5</td> <td>822.5</td> <td>7.2E-03</td> <td>8.9E-05</td> <td>2.3E-03</td> <td>2.1E-02</td>		Transformer - catastrophic	5	822.5	7.2E-03	8.9E-05	2.3E-03	2.1E-02
Yard Transformers (others) 1 822.5 2.0E-03 2.7E-05 6.1E-04 Cable fires caused by welding and cutting 0 822.5 1.3E-03 2.2E-05 4.0E-04 Main feedwater pumps 1.25 822.5 1.3E-03 7.6E-05 8.9E-04 T/G hydrogen 2 822.5 1.9E-03 7.6E-05 8.9E-04 T/G oil 2 822.5 3.0E-03 4.8E-05 1.1E-03 T/G oil 1 822.5 2.5E-03 3.5E-04 5.5E-04 T/G oil 13.5 822.5 2.5E-03 3.5E-03 7.5E-04 Transient fires caused by welding 13.5 822.5 2.2E-02 2.5E-04 5.5E-03 7.5E-04 Transient fires caused by welding 13.5 822.5 2.2E-02 2.5E-04 5.5E-03 7.5E-04 Transient fires caused by welding 13.5 822.5 2.2E-02 2.5E-04 5.5E-03 7.5E-03 7.5E-03 7.5E-03 7.5E-03 7.5E-03 7.5E-03 7.5E-03 <		Transformer - noncatastrophic	3	822.5	3.8E-03	1.6E-04	1.9E-03	1.1E-02
Cable fires caused by welding and cutting 0 822.5 1.3E-03 2.2E-05 4.0E-04 Main feedwater pumps 1.25 822.5 1.9E-03 7.6E-05 8.9E-04 T/G hydrogen 2 822.5 3.0E-03 4.8E-05 1.1E-03 T/G oil 1 822.5 3.0E-03 4.8E-05 1.1E-03 T/G oil 1 822.5 3.0E-03 4.8E-05 1.1E-03 T/G oil 1 822.5 2.5E-03 3.5E-05 7.5E-04 Transient fires caused by welding 13.5 822.5 2.2E-02 2.5E-04 5.5E-03 Transient fires caused by welding 13.5 822.5 2.2E-02 2.5E-04 5.5E-03		Yard Transformers (others)	1	822.5	2.0E-03	2.7E-05	6.1E-04	5.7E-03
Main feedwater pumps 1.25 822.5 1.9E-03 7.6E-05 8.9E-04 8 T/G hydrogen 2 822.5 3.0E-03 4.8E-05 1.1E-03 1.1E-03 T/G oil 1 822.5 3.0E-03 4.8E-05 1.1E-03 1.1E-03 T/G oil 1 822.5 2.5E-03 3.5E-05 7.5E-04 1.1E-03 Transient fires caused by welding 13.5 822.5 2.2E-02 2.5E-04 5.5E-03 and cutting 13.5 822.5 1.0E-07 2.5E-04 5.5E-03		Cable fires caused by welding and cutting	0	822.5	1.3E-03	2.2E-05	4.0E-04	3.7E-03
T/G hydrogen 2 822.5 3.0E-03 4.8E-05 1.1E-03 T/G oil 1 822.5 2.5E-03 3.5E-05 7.5E-04 Transient fires caused by welding 13.5 822.5 2.2E-02 2.5E-04 5.5E-03 and cutting 13.5 822.5 2.2E-02 2.5E-04 5.5E-03		Main feedwater pumps	1.25	822.5	1.9E-03	7.6E-05	8.9E-04	5.6E-03
T/G oil 1 822.5 2.5E-03 3.5E-05 7.5E-04 Transient fires caused by welding 13.5 822.5 2.2E-02 2.5E-04 5.5E-03 and cutting 13.5 822.5 2.2E-02 2.5E-04 5.5E-03 Transients 675 827.5 1.0E-07 7.7E-04 4.3E-03		T/G hydrogen	2	822.5	3.0E-03	4.8E-05	1.1E-03	8.7E-03
Transient fires caused by welding 13.5 822.5 2.2E-02 2.5E-04 5.5E-03 and cutting Transiants 6.75 827.5 1.0E-07 2.7E-04 4.3E-03		T/G oil	1	822.5	2.5E-03	3.5E-05	7.5E-04	6.9E-03
Transiants 6.75 8.2.7.5 1.0.F.0.7 2.7.F.0.4 4.3.F.0.3		Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	13.5	822.5	2.2E-02	2.5E-04	5.5E-03	7.1E-02
		Transients	6.75	822.5	1.0E-02	2.2E-04	4.3E-03	3.0E-02

Total number of years PWRs were in a SD POS up to December 31, 2000.
 Total number of years BWRs were in a SD POS up to December 31, 2000.
 Total number of years all NPPs were in a SD POS up to December 31, 2000.

Table A-4: Fire Type Split Fractions.

Bin #	Location	Ignition Source	Electrical	Oil	Transient	Hotwork	Hydrogen	HEAF
2	Containment (PWR)	Reactor Coolant Pump	0.25	0.75	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
3P	Containment (PWR)	Transients and Hotwork	0.00	0.00	68.0	0.61	0.00	0.00
3B	Containment (BWR)	Transients and Hotwork	0.05	0.00	0.24	0.71	0.00	0.00
5	Control/Auxiliary/Reactor Building	Cable fires caused by welding and cutting	0.00	0.00	00.0	1.00	0.00	0.00
9	Control/Auxiliary/Reactor Building	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	0.00	0.00	60'0	0.91	0.00	0.00
L	Control/Auxiliary/Reactor Building	Transients	0.00	0.00	1.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
11	Plant-Wide Components	Cable fires caused by welding and cutting	0.00	0.00	0.0	1.00	0.00	0.00
20	Plant-Wide Components	Off-gas/Hydrogen recombiner (BWR)	0.33	0.00	0.33	0.00	0.33	0.00
22	Plant-Wide Components	RPS MG sets	1.00	0.00	00'0	0.00	0.00	0.00
24	Plant-Wide Components	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	0.00	0.00	0.0	1.00	0.00	0.00
25	Plant-Wide Components	Transients	0.10	0.00	06.0	0.00	0.00	0.00
27	Transformer Yard	Transformer - catastrophic	0.70	0.30	00.0	0.00	0.00	0.00
28	Transformer Yard	Transformer - noncatastrophic	0.80	0.00	00.0	0.20	0.00	0.00
29	Transformer Yard	Yard Transformers (others)	1.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
31	Turbine Building	Cable fires caused by welding and cutting	$0.00^{(1)}$	0.00	0.00	1.00	0.00	0.00
32	Turbine Building	Main feedwater pumps	0.00	1.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
34	Turbine Building	T/G hydrogen	0.25	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.75	0.00
35	Turbine Building	T/G oil	0.00	1.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
36	Turbine Building	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	0.00	0.07	0.29	0.64	0.00	0.00
37	Turbine Building	Transients	0.00	0.04	0.96	0.00	0.00	0.00

(1) Since no events were recorded during SD, the split fraction of the at-power analysis (i.e., reference [1]) is used.

							-		1			
Comments		This event assessment was changed	This event assessment was changed	This event assessment was changed					This event assessment was changed			
Undetermined	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE
Buignallenging	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE
gnignəlladƏ	TRUE	FALSE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE
High Energy Arcing Fault	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE
Power Level	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown
Ignition Source	Off-gas/Hydrogen Recombiner (BWR)	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Gas Turbines	Transformer - Catastrophic	Transient and Hotwork	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Off-gas/Hydrogen Recombiner (BWR)	Transients	Main feedwater pumps	Transient and Hotwork	Transient and Hotwork
Location	Plant-Wide Components	Turbine Building	Turbine Building	Plant-Wide Components	Transformer Yard	Containment (PWR)	Turbine Building	Plant-Wide Components	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Turbine Building	Containment (BWR)	Containment (PWR)
# ui8	20	36	36	ė	27	3	36	20	7	32	3	3
Incident No.	6	11	16	18	25	26	30	33	56	09	80	88

Table A-5: Fire Event Classification.

	Comments				This event assessment was changed		This event assessment was changed								This event assessment was changed	The plant was decommissioned at the time of the event.
	DanimıətəbnU	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE
	gnignəllanging	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE
	gnignəlladƏ	FALSE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE
	High Energy Arcing Fault	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE
	Power Level	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Undetermined	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown
	Ignition Source	Transient and Hotwork	Reactor Coolant Pump	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Reactor Coolant Pump	Transients	Transient and Hotwork	T/G Hydrogen	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transformer - Non Catastrophic	Reactor Coolant Pump	Transients	Transients	RPS MG sets	Transient and Hotwork	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting
	Location	Containment (PWR)	Containment (PWR)	Turbine Building	Containment (PWR)	Turbine Building	Containment (PWR)	Turbine Building	Turbine Building	Transformer Yard	Containment (PWR)	Plant-Wide Components	Plant-Wide Components	Plant-Wide Components	Containment (PWR)	Plant-Wide Components
	# ui8	3	2	36	2	37	3	34	36	28	2	25	25	22	3	24
	Incident No.	95	96	107	112	123	148	149	152	153	167	179	187	196	203	206
1																

Comments				This event assessment was changed						This event assessment was changed					This event assessment was changed
Undetermined	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE
gnignallenging	TRUE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE
gnignəlladƏ	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE
High Energy Arcing Fault	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE
Power Level	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Undetermined	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown
Ignition Source	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transient and Hotwork	Transient and Hotwork	Transient and Hotwork	Transient and Hotwork	Transient and Hotwork	Transient and Hotwork	Transient and Hotwork	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transient and Hotwork	Transient and Hotwork	Transient and Hotwork	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transients	Transient and Hotwork
Location	Turbine Building	Containment (BWR)	Containment (PWR)	Containment (BWR)	Containment (PWR)	Containment (BWR)	Containment (PWR)	Containment (PWR)	Plant-Wide Components	Containment (PWR)	Containment (BWR)	Containment (BWR)	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Turbine Building	Containment (BWR)
# uiß	36	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	24	3	3	3	9	37	3
Incident No.	210	225	226	227	232	245	247	248	253	265	272	274	276	277	278

		nent was	nent was	nent was			nent was	nent was						
Comments		This event assessr changed	This event assessr changed	This event assessr changed			This event assessr changed	This event assessr changed						
Undetermined	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE
gnignallsdD-toN	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE
gnignəlladƏ	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE
High Energy Arcing Fault	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE
Power Level	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Undetermined	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown
Ignition Source	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transient and Hotwork	Transient and Hotwork	Transient and Hotwork	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transient and Hotwork	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transient and Hotwork	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transient and Hotwork	Transient and Hotwork	Transient and Hotwork	Transient and Hotwork
Location	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Containment (BWR)	Containment (BWR)	Containment (BWR)	Turbine Building	Containment (BWR)	Plant-Wide Components	Containment (PWR)	Turbine Building	Plant-Wide Components	Containment (BWR)	Containment (BWR)	Containment (BWR)	Containment (BWR)
# uiß	6	3	3	3	36	3	24	3	36	24	3	3	3	3
Incident No.	281	283	284	287	290	293	294	297	303	309	311	313	314	315

Comments			This event assessment was changed		This event assessment was changed	This event assessment was changed	This event assessment was changed		This event assessment was changed			
Undetermined	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE
gnignalleng.voV	FALSE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	FALSE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	FALSE
gnignəlladƏ	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE
High Energy Arcing Fault	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE
Power Level	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown
Ignition Source	Transient and Hotwork	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transient and Hotwork	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transient and Hotwork	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting			
Location	Containment (BWR)	Plant-Wide Components	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Turbine Building	Containment (BWR)	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Containment (BWR)	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Turbine Building
# ui8	3	24	6	36	3	6	6	3	6	6	6	36
Incident No.	316	325	334	335	336	337	339	342	343	344	345	348

Comments			This event assessment was changed		This event was identified as Containment (PWR), Transient Fires Caused by Cutting and Welding. It was reworded it to Transient and Hotwork.		This event assessment was changed		This event assessment was changed				
Undetermined	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE
gnignallenging	TRUE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE
gnignəlladƏ	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE
High Energy Arcing Fault	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE
Power Level	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown
Ignition Source	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transient and Hotwork	Transient and Hotwork	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transient and Hotwork	Transients	Transient and Hotwork	Transient and Hotwork	Transient and Hotwork	Transient and Hotwork	Transient and Hotwork	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transient and Hotwork
Location	Plant-Wide Components	Containment (BWR)	Containment (PWR)	Turbine Building	Containment (PWR)	Turbine Building	Containment (PWR)	Containment (BWR)	Containment (PWR)	Containment (BWR)	Containment (BWR)	Turbine Building	Containment (BWR)
# uiß	24	3	3	36	c,	37	3	3	3	3	3	36	3
Incident No.	350	355	356	359	360	362	371	373	375	377	378	379	380

Incident No.	# uiß	Location	Ignition Source	Power Level	High Energy Arcing Fault	gnignəlladƏ	gnignallenging	DanimıətəbnU	Comments
382	3	Containment (BWR)	Transient and Hotwork	Shutdown	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	
383	3	Containment (BWR)	Transient and Hotwork	Shutdown	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	
386	3	Containment (BWR)	Transient and Hotwork	Shutdown	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	
387	3	Containment (BWR)	Transient and Hotwork	Shutdown	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	
392	36	Turbine Building	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Shutdown	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	
393	3	Containment (BWR)	Transient and Hotwork	Shutdown	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	This event assessment was changed
394	3	Containment (BWR)	Transient and Hotwork	Shutdown	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	
408	3	Containment (BWR)	Transient and Hotwork	Shutdown	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	
409	9	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Shutdown	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	
411	9	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Shutdown	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	
412	9	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Shutdown	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	
424	9	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Shutdown	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	
426	3	Containment (BWR)	Transient and Hotwork	Shutdown	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	
429	3	Containment (BWR)	Transient and Hotwork	Shutdown	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	This event assessment was changed

lents			vent assessment was ed		vent assessment was ed			vent assessment was ed	vent assessment was ed			vent was removed he LPSD analysis se the Mode of tion is "Power"		
Comn			This e chang		This e chang			This e chang	This e chang			This e from t becau		
DanimətəbnU	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE
gnignallend-toN	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE
gnignəlladƏ	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE
High Energy Arcing Fault	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE
Power Level	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Undetermined	Shutdown	Undetermined	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown
Ignition Source	Transient and Hotwork	Transient and Hotwork	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transients	Transients	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transients	Transient and Hotwork	Transient and Hotwork	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transient and Hotwork	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transients	Transient and Hotwork
Location	Containment (BWR)	Containment (BWR)	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Plant-Wide Components	Turbine Building	Containment (PWR)	Containment (BWR)	Turbine Building	Containment (BWR)	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Containment (PWR)
# ui8	3	3	6	7	7	24	37	3	3	36	3	9	7	3
Incident No.	430	443	447	450	464	466	470	471	473	496	502	506	517	525

Comments												This event assessment was changed		This event assessment was changed	
Undetermined	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE
gnignəlland-toV	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	TRUE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	TRUE	TRUE
gnignəlladƏ	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE
High Energy Arcing Fault	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE
Power Level	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown
Ignition Source	Off-gas/Hydrogen Recombiner (BWR)	RPS MG sets	RPS MG sets	Transient and Hotwork	Transients	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transient and Hotwork	RPS MG sets	Transients	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transient and Hotwork	Transients	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting
Location	Plant-Wide Components	Plant-Wide Components	Plant-Wide Components	Containment (PWR)	Turbine Building	Plant-Wide Components	Plant-Wide Components	Containment (BWR)	Plant-Wide Components	Turbine Building	Turbine Building	Containment (PWR)	Turbine Building	Turbine Building	Turbine Building
# uiß	20	22	22	3	37	24	24	3	22	37	36	3	37	36	36
Incident No.	528	530	532	539	540	545	552	556	557	568	580	581	582	583	586

Comments		This event assessment was changed		This event assessment was changed								This event assessment was changed
Undetermined	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE
gnignallenging	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	FALSE	TRUE	TRUE	FALSE
gnignəlladƏ	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE						
High Energy Arcing Fault	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE						
Power Level	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown						
Ignition Source	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transients	T/G Oil	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	RPS MG sets						
Location	Turbine Building	Plant-Wide Components	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Turbine Building	Turbine Building	Turbine Building	Plant-Wide Components					
# uiß	36	36	36	36	36	36	24	7	35	36	36	22
Incident No.	588	589	590	591	592	594	599	600	601	604	605	611

	SE		chang
FALS FALS FALS TRUE TRUE TRUE TRUE TRUE TRUE FALS FALS FALS FALS FALS FALS FALS FALS	FALS	FALSE	FALSE
FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	TRUE
FALSETRUEFALSEFALSEFALSEFALSEFALSEFALSEFALSEFALSEFALSEFALSEFALSEFALSEFALSE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE
FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE
Power Level Shutdown Shutdown Shutdown Shutdown Shutdown Shutdown Shutdown Shutdown Shutdown Shutdown Shutdown Shutdown Shutdown Shutdown Shutdown Shutdown	Shutdown	Undetermined	Shutdown
Ignition Source Ignition Source Transient fires caused by welding and cutting T/G Oil Transients T/G Oil Transient and Hotwork Transient and Hotwork	Transient and Hotwork	Transients Transient and	Hotwork
Location Turbine Building Turbine Building Turbine Building Turbine Building Turbine Building Turbine Building Containment (PWR) Containment (PWR) Containment (PWR) Containment (BWR) Containment (BWR) Turbine Building Containment (BWR) Containment (BWR)	Containment (PWR)	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Containment (BWR)
# ni8 3 3 3 3 3 3 4 1 <th1< th=""> <th1< th=""> <th1< th=""> <th1< th=""></th1<></th1<></th1<></th1<>	3	L 0	З
643 633 630 616 613 Incident No. 644 641 640 638 633 641 641	682	686	687

				essment was								essment was	ssment was	
Comments				This event asse changed								This event asse changed	This event asse changed	
Undetermined	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	TRUE	FALSE
gnignallenging	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE
gnignəlladƏ	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE
High Energy Arcing Fault	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE
Power Level	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown
Ignition Source	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transient and Hotwork	Transient and Hotwork	Transient and Hotwork	Transient and Hotwork	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transients	Transient and Hotwork	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transformer - Non Catastrophic	RPS MG sets	Transient and Hotwork
Location	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Containment (BWR)	Containment (BWR)	Containment (BWR)	Containment (BWR)	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Containment (BWR)	Plant-Wide Components	Plant-Wide Components	Plant-Wide Components	Transformer Yard	Plant-Wide Components	Containment (BWR)
# ui8	9	3	3	3	3	9	7	3	24	24	24	28	22	3
Incident No.	692	693	694	697	698	703	705	712	713	717	718	719	720	722

Comments					This event assessment was changed									This event assessment was changed
Undetermined	TRUE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE
gnignalleng.voV	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	TRUE	TRUE
gnignəlladƏ	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE
High Energy Arcing Fault	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE
Power Level	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Undetermined	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown
Ignition Source	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transients	Transformer - Non Catastrophic	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transient and Hotwork	Transient and Hotwork	Transients	Transient and Hotwork	RPS MG sets	Transformer - Non Catastrophic	RPS MG sets	RPS MG sets
Location	Plant-Wide Components	Turbine Building	Transformer Yard	Plant-Wide Components	Turbine Building	Turbine Building	Containment (BWR)	Containment (BWR)	Plant-Wide Components	Containment (BWR)	Plant-Wide Components	Transformer yard	Plant-Wide Components	Plant-Wide Components
# uiß	24	37	28	24	36	36	3	3	25	3	22	28	22	22
Incident ^N o.	724	730	738	740	751	754	761	772	773	677	782	788	800	801

Comments	This event assessment was changed										This event assessment was changed)		
Undetermined	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE
gnignəlland-toV	TRUE	FALSE	TRUE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE
gnignəlladƏ	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE
High Energy Arcing Fault	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE
Power Level	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Undetermined	Undetermined	Undetermined	Undetermined
Ignition Source	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transformer - Non Catastrophic	Pumps	Transformer - Catastrophic	Transient and Hotwork	Transients	Transients	Cable fires caused by welding and cutting	Transformer - Catastrophic	Transient and Hotwork	Transients	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transients
Location	Plant-Wide Components	Plant-Wide Components	Transformer Yard	Plant-Wide Components	Transformer Yard	Containment (PWR)	Plant-Wide Components	Plant-Wide Components	Transformer Yard	Transformer Yard	Containment (PWR)	Plant-Wide Components	Plant-Wide Components	Plant-Wide Components
# uiß	24	24	28	21	27	3	25	25	29	27	3	25	24	25
Incident No.	835	838	839	840	845	849	858	862	919	941	963	964	965	996

omments	his event assessment was hanged	his event assessment was hanged				his event assessment was hanged	his event assessment was hanged				his event assessment was hanged			
Undetermined	FALSE C	FALSE C	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE C	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE C.	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE
Not-Challenging	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	FALSE	TRUE	TRUE	FALSE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	FALSE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE
gnignəlladƏ	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE
High Energy Arcing Fault	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE
Power Level	Undetermined	Undetermined	Undetermined	Undetermined	Undetermined	Undetermined	Undetermined	Undetermined	Shutdown	Shutdown	Undetermined	Shutdown	Shutdown	Undetermined
Ignition Source	Transients	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transient and Hotwork	Transients	Transients	Transients	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transients	Transients	Cable fires caused by welding and cutting	Transients	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting
Location	Plant-Wide Components	Turbine Building	Containment (BWR)	Turbine Building	Plant-Wide Components	Plant-Wide Components	Turbine Building	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Transformer Yard	Plant-Wide Components	Turbine Building	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Control/Aux/Reactor Building
# ui8	25	36	3	37	25	25	36	7	7	29	25	36	9	9
Incident No.	968	696	026	972	974	981	983	066	992	995	766	1004	1007	1009

F			-							-						
	Comments				This event assessment was changed						This event assessment was changed			Decommissioned plant. Removed from LPDS analysis.		
	Undetermined	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	TRUE	TRUE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE
	gnignəllad-toV	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE
	gnignəlladƏ	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE
	High Energy Arcing Fault	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE
	Power Level	Undetermined	Undetermined	Undetermined	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown
	Ignition Source	Transients	Transients	Transients	Transient and Hotwork	Reactor Coolant Pump	Transformer - Catastrophic	Transient and Hotwork	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transients	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transient and Hotwork	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transients	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting
	Location	Plant-Wide Components	Turbine Building	Turbine Building	Containment (PWR)	Containment (PWR)	Transformer Yard	Containment (BWR)	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Turbine Building	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Containment (PWR)	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Plant-Wide Components	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Control/Aux/Reactor Building
	# uiß	25	37	37	3	2	27	3	9	37	9	3	9	25	9	9
	Incident No.	1010	1011	1012	1025	1031	1032	1040	1044	1051	1054	1060	1094	1106	1109	1111
-			_	_						_						

Comments	This event assessment was changed	This event assessment was changed	This event assessment was changed			This event assessment was changed		This event assessment was changed					This event assessment was changed	This event assessment was changed
Undetermined	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	TRUE	FALSE	TRUE
gnignallenging	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	FALSE	TRUE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE
gnignəlladƏ	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE
High Energy Arcing Fault	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE
Power Level	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Undetermined	Undetermined	Undetermined	Undetermined	Undetermined	Shutdown	Undetermined	Shutdown	Shutdown
Ignition Source	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transient and Hotwork	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transients	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transients	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transients	Transients	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transient and Hotwork
Location	Plant-Wide Components	Containment (BWR)	Plant-Wide Components	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Turbine Building	Plant-Wide Components	Turbine Building	Turbine Building	Plant-Wide Components	Turbine Building	Turbine Building	Turbine Building	Turbine Building	Containment (PWR)
# ui8	24	3	24	6	37	24	37	36	24	37	37	36	36	3
Incident No.	1117	1120	1121	1136	1138	1143	1144	1145	1146	1149	1153	1154	1157	1158

Comments	This event assessment was changed						This event assessment was changed		Changed the location to Control/Rx/Aux Bldg	This event assessment was changed		This event assessment was changed	This event assessment was changed	This event assessment was changed	
Undetermined	TRUE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	TRUE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE
gnignallsdO-toN	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE
gnignəlladƏ	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE
High Energy Arcing Fault	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE
Power Level	Undetermined	Undetermined	Shutdown	Shutdown	Undetermined	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Undetermined
Ignition Source	Transients	Transients	Transients	Transients	Transients	Transient and Hotwork	Transient and Hotwork	Transient and Hotwork	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transient and Hotwork	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transients	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transient and Hotwork	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting
Location	Turbine Building	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Turbine Building	Plant-Wide Components	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Containment (BWR)	Containment (BWR)	Containment (BWR)	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Containment (BWR)	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Turbine Building	Containment (PWR)	Plant-Wide Components
# ui8	37	7	37	25	7	3	3	3	9	3	9	7	36	3	24
Incident No.	1161	1164	1165	1166	1172	1177	1180	1192	1198	1199	1202	1203	1221	1222	1228

omments	his event assessment was nanged	his event assessment was nanged	his event assessment was nanged	his event assessment was nanged	his event assessment was nanged	his event assessment was nanged		his event assessment was nanged		his event assessment was nanged			
Undetermined	FALSE c	FALSE C	FALSE C	FALSE c	FALSE c	FALSE C	TRUE	FALSE T	TRUE	FALSE C	TRUE	FALSE	
gnignəllenging	TRUE	FALSE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	TRUE	
gnignəlladƏ	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	
High Energy Arcing Fault	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	
Power Level	Shutdown	Shutdown	Undetermined	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	
Ignition Source	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transients	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transient and Hotwork	Transient and Hotwork	Transient and Hotwork	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting				
Location	Turbine Building	Plant-Wide Components	Plant-Wide Components	Turbine Building	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Containment (BWR)	Containment (BWR)	Containment (BWR)	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Turbine Building	Turbine Building	
# ui8	36	25	24	36	9	9	3	3	3	9	36	36	
Incident No.	1229	1230	1231	1233	1204	1206	1208	1209	1210	1214	1216	1219	
Comments	This event assessment was changed	This event assessment was changed	This event assessment was changed	This event assessment was changed	This event assessment was changed		This event assessment was changed	This event assessment was changed	This event assessment was changed	This event assessment was changed	This event assessment was changed	This event assessment was changed	This event assessment was changed
-----------------------------	---	--------------------------------------	--------------------------------------	---	---	--------------------------	--------------------------------------	---	--------------------------------------	--------------------------------------	---	--------------------------------------	---
Undetermined	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE
gnignallenging	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	TRUE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE
gnignəlladƏ	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE
High Energy Arcing Fault	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE
Power Level	Undetermined	Shutdown	Undetermined	Shutdown	Undetermined	Undetermined	Shutdown	Undetermined	Shutdown	Shutdown	Undetermined	Shutdown	Shutdown
Ignition Source	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transient and Hotwork	Transients	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transients	Transient and Hotwork	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transients	Transients	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transients	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting
Location	Turbine Building	Containment (BWR)	Plant-Wide Components	Turbine Building	Plant-Wide Components	Plant-Wide Components	Containment (BWR)	Plant-Wide Components	Turbine Building	Plant-Wide Components	Turbine Building	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Control/Aux/Reactor Building
# uiß	36	3	25	36	24	25	3	24	37	25	36	7	9
Incident No.	1234	1235	1237	1242	1243	1247	1249	1252	1272	1273	1275	1278	1291

						2		
	Location	Ignition Source	Power Level	High Energy Arcing Fault	gnignəlladƏ	gnignəlland-10V	bənimrəfəbnU	Comments
5	Plant-Wide Components	Transients	Undetermined	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	
<i>.</i> 0	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Undetermined	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	This event assessment was changed
9	Turbine Building	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Undetermined	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	This event assessment was changed
9	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Undetermined	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	
33	Containment (PWR)	Transient and Hotwork	Undetermined	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	This event assessment was changed
3	Containment (PWR)	Transient and Hotwork	Undetermined	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	
36	Turbine Building	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Undetermined	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	This event assessment was changed
36	Turbine Building	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Undetermined	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	This event assessment was changed
36	Turbine Building	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Undetermined	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	This event assessment was changed
9	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Shutdown	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	This event assessment was changed
9	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Shutdown	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	
7	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Transients	Undetermined	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	This event assessment was changed

Comments				This event assessment was changed		This event assessment was changed	This event assessment was changed				This event assessment was changed			
Undetermined	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE
Not-Challenging	TRUE	TRUE	FALSE	TRUE	TRUE	FALSE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE
gnignəlladƏ	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE
High Energy Arcing Fault	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE
Power Level	Shutdown	Shutdown	Undetermined	Shutdown	Undetermined	Undetermined	Undetermined	Undetermined	Shutdown	Undetermined	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Undetermined
Ignition Source	Transients	Transients	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transient and Hotwork	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transients	Transient and Hotwork	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transients	Transient and Hotwork	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transients	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting
Location	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Turbine Building	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Containment (PWR)	Plant-Wide Components	Plant-Wide Components	Containment (PWR)	Plant-Wide Components	Turbine Building	Plant-Wide Components	Containment (PWR)	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Plant-Wide Components	Control/Aux/Reactor Building
# uiß	7	37	6	3	24	25	3	24	36	25	3	6	25	6
Incident No.	1316	1324	1325	1329	1341	1345	1347	1352	1354	1360	1361	1388	1389	1398

Comments			This event assessment was changed	This event was moved to Bin 16 (HEAF) and was not considered for LPSD analysis.							This event assessment was changed			
Undetermined	FALSE	TRUE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE
gnignallenging	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	TRUE	FALSE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	FALSE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE
gnignəlladƏ	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE
High Energy Arcing Fault	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE
Power Level	Shutdown	Undetermined	Undetermined	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Undetermined	Shutdown	Undetermined	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown
Ignition Source	Transients	Transients	Transients	Transformer - Non Catastrophic	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transients	Transient and Hotwork	Transient and Hotwork	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transient and Hotwork	Cable fires caused by welding and cutting	Transient and Hotwork	Transient and Hotwork	Transient and Hotwork
Location	Plant-Wide Components	Plant-Wide Components	Plant-Wide Components	Transformer Y ard	Turbine Building	Turbine Building	Containment (PWR)	Containment (PWR)	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Containment (PWR)	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Containment (PWR)	Containment (PWR)	Containment (PWR)
# ui8	25	25	25	28	36	37	3	3	6	3	5	3	3	3
Incident No.	1401	1424	1427	1505	2100	2102	2106	2108	2110	2111	2113	2115	2116	2117

omments		his event assessment was hanged		his event assessment was hanged						his event assessment was hanged		his event assessment was hanged
Undetermined	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE C	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE C	FALSE	FALSE C
gnignallenging	TRUE	FALSE	TRUE	TRUE	FALSE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	FALSE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE
gnignalleng	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE
High Energy Arcing Fault	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE
Power Level	Shutdown	Undetermined	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Undetermined	Undetermined	Undetermined	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown
Ignition Source	Transient and Hotwork	Cable fires caused by welding and cutting	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transformer - Non Catastrophic	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transients	Transient and Hotwork	Transient and Hotwork			
Location	Containment (PWR)	Plant-Wide Components	Turbine Building	Turbine Building	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Turbine Building	Transformer Yard	Turbine Building	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Containment (BWR)	Containment (BWR)
# uiß	3	11	36	36	6	36	28	36	6	7	3	3
Incident No.	2118	2126	2129	2131	2132	2134	2137	2138	2143	2145	2146	2147

Comments		This event assessment was changed					This event assessment was changed	This event assessment was changed	This event was reassigned to Bin #27.			
Undetermined	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	HALSE	TRUE	FALSE
gnignəllad-toV	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	FALSE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	TRUE
gnignəlladƏ	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE
High Energy Arcing Fault	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE
Power Level	Shutdown	Shutdown	Undetermined	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Undetermined	Shutdown	Undetermined	Undetermined	Undetermined
Ignition Source	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transient and Hotwork	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transient and Hotwork	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transients	Transformer - Catastrophic	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Main feedwater pumps	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting
Location	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Containment (BWR)	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Containment (BWR)	Plant-Wide Components	Turbine Building	Turbine Building	Turbine Building	Transformer Yard	Turbine Building	Turbine Building	Control/Aux/Reactor Building
# ui8	9	3	9	3	24	36	36	37	27	36	32	9
Incident No.	2148	2149	2150	2154	2162	2166	2169	2173	2177	2182	2183	2184

Comments	This event assessment was changed			This event assessment was changed			This event assessment was changed					
Undetermined	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE
gnignallsnD-toN	TRUE	FALSE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE
gnignəlladƏ	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE
High Energy Arcing Fault	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE
Power Level	Undetermined	Undetermined	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Undetermined	Shutdown	Undetermined	Undetermined	Undetermined
Ignition Source	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	RPS MG sets	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transient and Hotwork	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transient and Hotwork	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting
Location	Turbine Building	Plant-Wide Components	Turbine Building	Turbine Building	Containment (PWR)	Turbine Building	Turbine Building	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Containment (PWR)	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Plant-Wide Components	Turbine Building
# ui8	36	22	36	36	3	36	36	6	3	6	24	36
Incident No.	2188	2190	2192	2193	2196	2198	2199	2201	2203	2215	2216	2220

# End Location Ignition Source Power Level Tele End																	
# Location Ignition Source Power Level B	Comments								This event was moved to Bin 12, which is not included in LPSD PRA								
# # # # # # # # # # 	Dadetermined	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE
# # # iiiLocationIgnition Source Ignition SourcePower LevelNutle End <b< td=""><td>gnignəllad-toV</td><td>FALSE</td><td>FALSE</td><td>TRUE</td><td>FALSE</td><td>TRUE</td><td>TRUE</td><td>TRUE</td><td>FALSE</td><td>FALSE</td><td>TRUE</td><td>FALSE</td><td>TRUE</td><td>TRUE</td><td>TRUE</td><td>FALSE</td><td>TRUE</td></b<>	gnignəllad-toV	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	FALSE	TRUE
# Location Ignition Source Power Level Energiat 2 Containment (PWR) Reactor Coolant Shutdown FALSE 22 Containment (PWR) Reactor Coolant Shutdown FALSE 3 Containment (PWR) Reactor Coolant Shutdown FALSE 3 Containment (PWR) Transient and Shutdown FALSE 3 Containment (PWR) Transient and Shutdown FALSE 35 Turbine Building Transient fires Shutdown FALSE 37 Turbine Building Transient fires Undetermined FALSE 37 Turbine Building Transients Undetermined FALSE 37 Turbine Building Transients Undetermined FALSE 37 Turbine Building Transient fires Undetermined FALSE 37 Turbine Building Transient fires Undetermined FALSE 37 Turbine Building Transient fires Undetermined FALSE <td< td=""><td>gnignəlladƏ</td><td>TRUE</td><td>FALSE</td><td>FALSE</td><td>TRUE</td><td>FALSE</td><td>FALSE</td><td>FALSE</td><td>FALSE</td><td>TRUE</td><td>FALSE</td><td>TRUE</td><td>FALSE</td><td>FALSE</td><td>FALSE</td><td>TRUE</td><td>FALSE</td></td<>	gnignəlladƏ	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE
Interface Ignition Source Power Level # Exection Ignition Source Power Level 2 Containment (PWR) Reactor Coolant Shutdown 22 Components RPS MG sets Shutdown 33 Containment (PWR) Hotwork Shutdown 34 Turbine Building Reactor Coolant Shutdown 37 Turbine Building Reactor Coolant Undetermined 37 Turbine Building Transient fires Undetermined 37 Turbine Building Transients Undetermined 37 Turbine Building Transients Undetermined 37 Turbine Building Transient fires Undetermined 37 Turbine Building Transients Undetermined 37 Turbine Building Transients Undetermined 37 Turbine Building Transient fires Undetermined 37 Turbine Building Transient fires Undetermined 38 Control/Aux/Reactor Transient fires </td <td>High Energy Arcing Fault</td> <td>FALSE</td>	High Energy Arcing Fault	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE
## Isonition ## Location ## Exaction 2 Containment (PWR) 2 Plant-Wide 2 Components 3 Containment (PWR) 3 Turbine Building 3 Control/Aux/Reactor 3 Turbine Building 34 Turbine Building 34 Turbine Building 34 Turbine Building 35 Plant-Wide 25 Components 36 Turbine Building 37 Turbine Building 38 Turbine Building 39 Turbine Building 30 Turbine Building 35 Plant-Wide 36 Turbine Building 37 Turbin	Power Level	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Undetermined	Undetermined	Undetermined	Undetermined	Undetermined	Shutdown	Shutdown	Undetermined	Undetermined	Undetermined	Shutdown	Shutdown
# Location # Endation 2 Containment (PWR) 2 Plant-Wide 22 Components 3 Containment (PWR) 36 Turbine Building 37 Turbine Building 38 Control/Aux/Reactor 9 Control/Aux/Reactor 25 Plant-Wide 26 Plant-Wide 27 Plant-Wide 28 Turbine Building 39 Turbine Building 36 Turbine Building 37 Turbine Building	Ignition Source	Reactor Coolant Pump	RPS MG sets	Transient and Hotwork	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Reactor Coolant Pump	Transients	Transients	Transient and Hotwork	Transients	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	T/G Hydrogen	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transients	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transient and Hotwork	Transients
36 25 6 34 2 7 33 37 2 2 2 1 <td< td=""><td>Location</td><td>Containment (PWR)</td><td>Plant-Wide Components</td><td>Containment (PWR)</td><td>Turbine Building</td><td>Containment (PWR)</td><td>Turbine Building</td><td>Turbine Building</td><td>Containment (PWR)</td><td>Control/Aux/Reactor Building</td><td>Plant-Wide Components</td><td>Turbine Building</td><td>Control/Aux/Reactor Building</td><td>Plant-Wide Components</td><td>Turbine Building</td><td>Containment (PWR)</td><td>Turbine Building</td></td<>	Location	Containment (PWR)	Plant-Wide Components	Containment (PWR)	Turbine Building	Containment (PWR)	Turbine Building	Turbine Building	Containment (PWR)	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Plant-Wide Components	Turbine Building	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Plant-Wide Components	Turbine Building	Containment (PWR)	Turbine Building
	# ui8	2	22	3	36	2	37	37	ю	7	24	34	6	25	36	3	37
2270 2251 2244 2233 2233 2233 2233 2233 23333 2333 2333 <t< td=""><td>Incident No.</td><td>2223</td><td>2232</td><td>2238</td><td>2241</td><td>2244</td><td>2245</td><td>2247</td><td>2248</td><td>2257</td><td>2258</td><td>2259</td><td>2260</td><td>2270</td><td>2271</td><td>2279</td><td>2286</td></t<>	Incident No.	2223	2232	2238	2241	2244	2245	2247	2248	2257	2258	2259	2260	2270	2271	2279	2286

Comments	This event assessment was changed									This event assessment was changed
Undetermined	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE
gnignallend-toN	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	FALSE	TRUE
gnignəlladƏ	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE
High Energy Arcing Fault	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE
Power Level	Undetermined	Undetermined	Undetermined	Undetermined	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Undetermined	Shutdown	Shutdown
Ignition Source	Transients	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transients	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transformer - Non Catastrophic	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting			
Location	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Turbine Building	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Turbine Building	Turbine Building	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Transformer Yard	Turbine Building
# ui8	7	36	9	9	36	37	9	9	28	36
Incident No.	2291	2293	2296	2298	2299	2300	2306	2307	2320	2321

	Comments	"Outside the engineering office" most likely means that the location of this fire was at a place that normally gets screened out in a Fire PRA. This event was removed from the LPSD analysis.				This event assessment was changed		This event assessment was changed				
	DanimrətəbnU	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE
	gnignəlland-toV	FALSE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE
	gnignəlladƏ	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE
	High Energy Arcing Fault	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE
	Power Level	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown
	Ignition Source	Transients	Transients	Transients	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transient and Hotwork	Transients	Transient and Hotwork	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transients	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting
	Location	Plant-Wide Components	Plant-Wide Components	Plant-Wide Components	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Turbine Building	Containment (BWR)	Plant-Wide Components	Containment (PWR)	Turbine Building	Plant-Wide Components	Turbine Building
	# uiß	25	25	25	9	36	3	25	3	36	25	36
	Incident No.	2324	2327	2330	2340	2347	2363	2376	2379	2384	2385	2398
- 1		*	•								•	

ments															
Com															
DanimıətəbnU	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE
gnignallend-toN	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE
gnignəlladƏ	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE
High Energy Aring Fault	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE
Power Level	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Undetermined	Undetermined	Undetermined	Undetermined	Undetermined	Undetermined	Undetermined	Undetermined	Shutdown	Shutdown
Ignition Source	Transient and Hotwork	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Pumps	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transients	Transients	Transients	Transients	Transient and Hotwork	Transients	Transient and Hotwork	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transient and Hotwork	Transient and Hotwork
Location	Containment (PWR)	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Plant-Wide Components	Turbine Building	Plant-Wide Components	Turbine Building	Plant-Wide Components	Plant-Wide Components	Containment (PWR)	Turbine Building	Containment (PWR)	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Containment (PWR)	Containment (PWR)
# uiß	3	9	9	21	36	25	37	25	25	3	37	3	6	3	3
Incident No.	2403	2414	2415	2421	2423	2444	2446	2448	2450	2455	2458	2459	2460	2461	2462

Comments	This event assessment was changed		This event assessment was changed	This event assessment was changed	This event assessment was changed								
bənimrətəbnU	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE
gnignəllad-toN	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	FALSE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE
gnignəlladƏ	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE
High Energy Arcing Fault	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE
Power Level	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Shutdown	Undetermined	Shutdown	Undetermined	Undetermined	Undetermined	Undetermined	Undetermined	Undetermined
Ignition Source	Transient and Hotwork	Transient and Hotwork	Transient and Hotwork	Transient and Hotwork	Transient and Hotwork	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transient and Hotwork	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transients	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting
Location	Containment (PWR)	Containment (PWR)	Containment (PWR)	Containment (PWR)	Containment (PWR)	Plant-Wide Components	Containment (PWR)	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Turbine Building	Turbine Building	Turbine Building	Turbine Building
# uiß	3	3	3	3	3	24	3	6	9	37	36	36	36
Incident No.	2463	2464	2465	2466	2467	2469	2470	2472	2473	2477	2480	2482	2483

						c,		
	Location	Ignition Source	Power Level	High Energy Arcing Fault	gnignəlladƏ	gnignəlland-toN	bənimrətəbnU	Comments
9	Turbine Building	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Undetermined	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	
5	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Undetermined	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	
36	Turbine Building	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Undetermined	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	
3	Containment (PWR)	Transient and Hotwork	Undetermined	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	
3	Containment (PWR)	Transient and Hotwork	Undetermined	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	This event assessment was changed
25	Plant-Wide Components	Transients	Undetermined	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	
3	Containment (PWR)	Transient and Hotwork	Undetermined	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	
9	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Shutdown	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	
9	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Shutdown	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	
3	Containment (PWR)	Transient and Hotwork	Shutdown	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	This event assessment was changed
3	Containment (PWR)	Transient and Hotwork	Shutdown	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	
~	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Transients	Shutdown	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	This event assessment was changed
9	Control/Aux/Reactor Building	Transient fires caused by welding and cutting	Shutdown	FALSE	FALSE	TRUE	FALSE	

NRC FORM 335 (12-2010) NRCMD 3.7	1. REPORT NUMBER (Assigned by NRC, Add Vol., Supp., Rev., and Addendum Numbers. if any.)				
BIBI IOGRAPHIC DATA SHEFT	and Addendum Numbers, if any.)				
(See instructions on the reverse)	NUREG/CR-7114				
	FINAL				
A Framework for Low Power/Shutdown Fire PRA	3. DATE REPORT PUBLISHED				
	Sontombor	2012			
	September	2013			
	4. FIN OR GRANT NU	IMBER			
	N6592				
5. AUTHOR(S)	6. TYPE OF REPORT				
Steven P. Nowlen,	Technical Report				
Jeff LaChance					
	7. PERIOD COVERED (Inclusive Dates)				
	Aug/2008 to Apr/2013				
8. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION - NAME AND ADDRESS (If NRC, provide Division, Office or Region, U. S. Nuclear Regula	tory Commission, and r	mailing address; if			
contractor, provide name and mailing address.) Sandia National Laboratories					
Risk and Reliability Analysis Department					
P.O. Box 5800					
Albuquerque, NM 87185					
9. SPONSORING ORGANIZATION - NAME AND ADDRESS (If NRC, type "Same as above", if contractor, provide NRC Division	n, Office or Region, U. S	S. Nuclear Regulatory			
Commission, and mailing address.)					
Office of Nuclear Regulatory Research					
U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission					
Washington, DC 20555-0001					
10. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES					
NRC Project Manager: F. Gonzalez					
11. ABSTRACT (200 words or less)					
This document presents a probabilistic risk assessment (PRA) framework for quantitatively analyz	ing fire risk in cor	nmercial nuclear			
power plants during low power and shutdown (LPSD) conditions, including the determination of c	ore damage freque	ency (CDF) and			
large early release frequency (LERF). It is expected that future updates will be made to this docum	nent as experience	is gained with			
Ersb quantitative risk analyses of both internal events and fires.					
This LPSD fire PRA framework is intended to be used in combination with an at-power fire PRA	performed using the	ne method			
documented in Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) Office of Nuclear Regulatory Research (R	ES) publication N	UREG/CR-6850			
and Electric Power Research Institute (EPRI) publication TR-1011989, "EPRI/NRC-RES Fire PRA	A Methodology fo	r Nuclear Power			
Facilities." This LPSD fire PRA framework directly parallels that at-power fire PRA method with	respect to the stru	icture and			
objectives of its technical analysis tasks, addressing those aspects of the at-power fire PRA that require unique treatment in the					
context of low-power or shutdown conditions. This LPSD fire framework also requires a LPSD internal events PRA; that is, both the					
at-power fire PKA and the LPSD internal events PKA are needed as starting points for conducting a LPSD fire PRA using the framework described in this document.					
12 KEY WORDS/DESCRIPTORS (List words or phrases that will assist researchers in locating the report)	13 AVAII ARI				
Low Power Fire PRA	unlimited				
own Fire PRA 14. SECURITY CLASSIFICAT		Y CLASSIFICATION			
Fire Protection Probabilistic Risk Assessment	(This Page)				
	ur	nclassified			
	(This Report,				
		R OF PAGES			
	IS. NUMBE	N OF FAGES			
	16. PRICE				
NRC FORM 335 (12-2010)					





UNITED STATES NUCLEAR REGULATORY COMMISSION WASHINGTON, DC 20555-0001

OFFICIAL BUSINESS

NUREG/CR-7114 Final

A Framework for Low Power/Shutdown Fire PRA

September 2013